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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of Mechel PAO

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of financial position of Mechel PAQ,
a public joint stock company, and subsidiaries (hereinafter referred to as the “Group”) as of
December 31, 2016 and 2015, and the related consolidated statements of profit (loss) and
other comprehensive income (loss), changes in equity, and cash flows for each of the three years
in the period ended December 31, 2016. These financial statements are the responsibility of

the Group's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles
used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the consolidated financial position of the Group as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, and

the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in

the period ended December 31, 2016, in conformity with International Financial Reporting
Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming that

the Group will continue as a going concern. As discussed in Note 4 to the financial statements,
the Group has significant debt that it does not have the ability to repay without its refinancing or
restructuring, and has not complied with certain covenants of its major loan agreements with
banks. These conditions raise substantial doubt about the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. Management's plans in regard to these matters are also described in Note 4.

The consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result from

the outcome of this uncertainty.

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited


http://www.ey.com/russia
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We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States), the Group's internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2016, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission

(2013 framework) and our report dated April 26, 2017 expressed an adverse opinion thereon.

M&M LLC

April 26, 2017

Moscow, Russia

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited



for the year ended December 31, 2016

MECHEL PAO
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT (LOSS) AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

(All amounts are in millions of Russian rubles, unless stated otherwise)

Continuing operations

REVENUE ...
Cost of goodS SOI ......c.eiveieeieiiieere e
GroSS Profit ..o

Selling and distribution eXpenses ..........ccccevvevvereeiiesecreeienns
Loss on write-off of property, plant and equipment .............
Impairment of goodwill and other non-current assets...........
Allowance for doubtful accounts............cocooeiiiiininiiienne
Taxes other than INCOME taXeS........cccvverereereienire e
Administrative and other operating eXpenses............c.cccceev...
Other operating iNCOME ......cccoveveeiiiicee e
Total selling, distribution and operating income and
(EXPENSES), NEL....cviiviiviiieieier ettt
Operating Profit..........c.cooceiiiiiieiiee e

FINANCe INCOME.......ccoiiiiii e
Finance costs including fines and penalties on overdue
loans and borrowings and finance leases payments of
RUB 6,013 million, RUB 19,167 million and
RUB 1,829 million for the periods ended December 31,
2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively.......ccccocevveoveieneienennnne
Foreign exchange gain (10SS), Net.........cccoereieiencneneneens
Share of (loss) profit of associates, net of provision.............
Other INCOME ..o e
OLher EXPENSES .....cueeiiiiiite et
Total other income and (expense), net
Income (loss) before tax from continuing operations ......

Income tax (expense) benefit.........cccoiiiiiiiniiciie e
Income (loss) for the year from continuing operations....

Discontinued operations
(Loss) profit after tax for the year from discontinued
OPEratioNS, NEL.......cociviiieieiee e

Profit (loss) for the year ..........ccccoovvvveveievececce e
Attributable to:

Equity shareholders of Mechel PAO ...,
NON-CoNtrolling iNtErestS .......oceveveieiiiisee e

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Year ended Year ended Year ended

December 31, December 31, December 31,
Notes 2016 2015 2014

27 276,009 253,141 243,992
(146,322) (151,334) (153,057)

27 129,687 101,807 90,935
(56,233) (51,117) (55,661)

(1,953) (691) (661)

18 (5,202) (1,460) (7,996)
12 (758) (1,507) (3,797)
(5,913) (5,853) (6,469)

26.1 (18,791) (17,300) (16,315)

26.3 1,853 373 871
(86,997) (77,555) (90,028)

42,690 24,252 907

26.4 1,176 183 107
265 (54,240) (60,452) (28,110)
25,947 (71,106) (103,176)

8 (17) - 7

26.6 598 342 664
26.6 (2,003) (347) (1,486)
(28,539) (131,380) (131,994)

14,151 (107,128) (131,087)

20 (4,893) (8,322) 8,822
9,258 (115,450) (122,265)

16 (426) 822 (11,702)
8,832 (114,628) (133,967)

7,126 (115,163) (132,704)

1,706 535 (1,263)



MECHEL PAO
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT (LOSS) AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) (continued)

for the year ended December 31, 2016

(All amounts are in millions of Russian rubles, unless stated otherwise)

Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,
Notes 2016 2015 2014
Other comprehensive income
Other comprehensive income to be reclassified to profit
or loss in subsequent periods, net of income tax:............... 430 295 1,170
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations... 431 287 1,168
Net (loss) gain on available for sale financial assets ............ 1) 8 2
Other comprehensive loss not to be reclassified to profit
or loss in subsequent periods, net of income tax:............... (23) (194) (127)
Re-measurement losses on defined benefit plans ................. 23 (23) (194) (127)
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax...... 407 101 1,043
Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year,
NEE OF TAX ..o 9,239 (114,527) (132,924)
Attributable to:
Equity shareholders of Mechel PAO ... 7,529 (115,064) (131,675)
NoN-controlling INterestS.........ooeveieereieree e 1,710 537 (1,249)
Earnings (loss) per share
Weighted average number of common shares...........c.......... 25 416,270,745 416,270,745 416,270,745
Basic and diluted, profit (loss) for the year attributable to
ordinary equity holders of the parent ............ccccoooevienens 25 17.12 (276.65) (318.79)
Earnings (loss) per share from continuing operations
(Russian rubles per share), basic and diluted ..................... 25 17.99 (278.44) (289.96)
(Loss) earnings per share from discontinued operations
(Russian rubles per share) .........cococeoevenencinieerecse e 25 (0.87) 1.79 (28.83)

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.



MECHEL PAO

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

as of December 31, 2016

(All amounts are in millions of Russian rubles)

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash eqUIVAIENTS ..........ccvcviiiiiicccc s
Trade and other receivables
INVENLOTIES....ccvvivveieciecre e,

Income tax receivables.............

Other current fINANCIAL ASSELS ........eccveiiieeeiiece ettt
OhEI CUMTENT ASSELS ..v..vvevecveieteieiecteeree e eie et ste st e sb e s e et esbessreeseesbe et e sbe e e s sbeareesreses
L0 e= o ] =T 0 =TT =] £

Non-current assets

Property, plant and eQUIPMENT.........cc.coviiiiiiiiice e
MINETAI TICEBNSES. .....eveeeiecete ettt ettt ettt e te e sae e sbe e ereeeaeeenbeeres
Non-current financial assets
Investments in associates..........

Deferred tax assets.............

Goodwill........c..cooeveerinene

Other non-current assets.......

TOtal NON-CUITENT @SSELS.....viiviiiiiteiieite ettt et ste et sbe e s sbe e sbesaeesresreens

TOLAI ASSEES uvvitiiieite ettt ettt et b e e re e s be et e s be e b e s beebesbe et e beenbe et e nreereens

Equity and liabilities

Current liabilities

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings, including interest payable, fines and
penalties on overdue amounts of RUB 38,594 million and RUB 47,475 million as
of December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively

Trade and other payables...........ccooviieneieieiicee e

AdVaNCeS reCEIVEM........coiviieriiieie e se e

PrOVISIONS....cuviiiiic et

Pension obligations...........ccccoeeeeiiiene s

Finance lease liabilities...........c.ccoovevvievviieciicic e,

INCOME taX PAYADIE..... .o

Taxes and similar charges payable other than iNnCOmMe taX.........cccocvvvvveverieicieciennn,

Other current liabilities...........cooviinieiniiee e

Total current labilities.........ccvoiiiiii e

Non-current liabilities

Interest-bearing 10ans and DOITOWINGS........c.ccvieiiiieieiicire e
PrOVISIONS ...ttt ettt ettt b e st be e s b e et e sb e ere et e e ab e st e ebeebe s b e sbeereeebeenes
Pension obligations
Finance 16ase labilities. .........c.cvviiiiiiiiiciccrece e
Deferred tax HabilitiES .....cviiviiiciiceececre e sre e
Other non-current liabilities............cocoeeveiviicec e

Other non-current financial liabilities
Income tax payables.................
Total non-current liabilities...
Total lADIIITIES ..o et

Equity

COMMON SNAIES .....eeiece et sb e e e reenaenree s
Preferred SNArES.......ccoviiiiie e
Additional paid-in CapItal..........cccoeiiiiriie e
Accumulated other cOmprehensive INCOME ........ccvcviiiiriericiieieee e
AccumUIAEd AEfiCIE .....viviiciee e
Equity attributable to equity shareholders of Mechel PAO...........cccccccevvevvirnene.

Non-controlling interests
Lo - =T (U OSSR

Total equity and labIlIties ............coooiiiiii e

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.

December 31,

December 31,

Notes 2016 2015
11 1,689 3,079
12 19,054 16,013
14 35,227 35,189

686 603

167 45

15 6,942 8,191
63,765 63,120

17,18 204,353 215,844

19 36,099 38,517

235 194
8 265 284
20 1,502 1,492

18,19 18,355 21,378

15 891 1,243
261,700 278,952

325,465 342,072

10.1 434,165 491,674
21 40,985 54,602
3,815 3,492

22 3,496 2,532
23 944 1,120
28 10,175 13,507
2,552 5,549

24 9,195 8,034
19 26

505,346 580,536

10.1 11,644 4,308
22 3,420 3,439
23 3,501 3,746
28 421 481
20 16,282 11,090
159 189

6 36,740 -
540 137

72,707 23,390

578,053 603,926

25 4,163 4,163
25 833 833
25 28,326 28,322
848 445

(294,444) (301,565)

(260,274) (267,802)

6,7 7,686 5,948
(252,588) (261,854)

325,465 342,072




MECHEL PAO
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
for the year ended December 31, 2016

(All amounts are in millions of Russian rubles, unless shares numbers)

Attributable to equity holders of the parent

Equity

Accumulated attributable to

other shareholders Non-
Common shares Preferred shares Additional  Accumulated comprehensive  of Mechel controlling Total
Notes Shares Amount Shares Amount paid-in capital deficit (loss) income PAO interest equity
Quantity Quantity

As of January 1, 2014 .........ooccoverveunn. 416,270,745 4,163 83,254,149 833 25,591 (53,564) (11) (22,988) 9,500 (13,488)
Loss for the period..........ccccoveevvvrienanne - - - - - (132,704) - (132,704) (1,263) (133,967)
Other comprehensive income (loss)
Net gain on available for sale

financial assets........c..ccovvvviveivreriennn, - - - - - - 2 2 - 2
Re-measurement losses on defined

benefit plans........ccocoveviniiiiiin, 23 - - - - - - (141) (141) 14 (127)
Exchange differences on translation

of foreign operations..............ccceveu.. - - - - - - 1,168 1,168 - 1,168
Total comprehensive (loss) income..... - - - - - (132,704) 1,029 (131,675) (1,249) (132,924)
Dividends declared to shareholders

of Mechel PAO ..., 25 - - - - - (@) - (@) - 4)
Dividends declared to

non-controlling interest...........c.cccoc..... 25 - - - - - - - - ) 2
Disposal of non-controlling interest ...... 6 - - - - 1 - - 1 4 5
As of December 31, 2014 .....ooooooooo..... 416,270,745 4,163 83,254,149 833 25,592 (186,272) 1,018 (154,666) 8,253 (146,413)

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.



MECHEL PAO
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (continued)
for the year ended December 31, 2016

(All amounts are in millions of Russian rubles, unless shares numbers)

Attributable to equity holders of the parent

Equity
Accumulated attributable to
other shareholders Non-
Common shares Preferred shares Additional ~ Accumulated comprehensive  of Mechel controlling Total
Notes Shares Amount Shares Amount paid-in capital deficit income (loss) PAO interest equity
Quantity Quantity

As of January 1, 2015 .........ccoocomvvrnnnes 416,270,745 4,163 83,254,149 833 25,592 (186,272) 1,018 (154,666) 8,253 (146,413)
(Loss) profit for the period ................... - - - - - (115,163) - (115,163) 535 (114,628)
Other comprehensive income (loss)
Net gain on available for sale financial

ASSEES .. - - - - - - 8 8 - 8
Re-measurement losses on defined

benefit plans.........ccocooeeiiiiiiiinn 23 - - - - - - (196) (196) 2 (194)
Exchange differences on translation of

foreign Operations .........c..ccccvveveenen, - - - - - - 287 287 - 287
Total comprehensive (loss) income

for the VAN oot - - - - - (115,163) 99 (115,064) 537 (114,527)
Transfer of cumulative translation

adjustment due to disposal of

discontinued operations ..................... 16 - - - - - - (798) (798) - (798)
Transfer of actuarial gains (losses) due

to disposal of discontinued operations 16 - - - - - (126) 126 - - -
Dividends declared to shareholders

of Mechel PAO .........ccoovvviiiinenn, 25 - - - - - 4) - 4) - 4
Dividends declared to

non-controlling interest..................... 25 - - - - - - - - - -
Acquisition of non-controlling interest. 6, 25 - - - - 2,730 - - 2,730 (2,842) (112)
As of December 31, 2015 ........oooovo.... 416,270,745 4,163 83,254,149 833 28,322 (301,565) 445 (267,802) 5,948 (261,854)

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.



MECHEL PAO

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (continued)

for the year ended December 31, 2016

(All amounts are in millions of Russian rubles, unless shares numbers)

Attributable to equity holders of the parent

Equity
Accumulated attributable to

shareholders Non-
Common shares Preferred shares Accumulated comprehensive  of Mechel controlling Total
Notes Shares Amount paid-in capital income (loss) PAO interest equity
Quantity

As of January 1, 2016........c..ccevveeunnn. 416,270,745 4,163 83,254,149 445 (267,802) 5,948 (261,854)
Profit for the period............ccocvvrvinnnnne - - - - 7,126 1,706 8,832
Other comprehensive income (loss)
Net loss on available for sale

financial assets........c.ccovvieriierinnnn - - - () @) - @)
Re-measurement losses on defined

benefit plans..........ccocvvvvviiininiiinnns 23 - - - (23) (23) - (23)
Exchange differences on translation

of foreign operations..............c..coo..... - - - 427 427 4 431
Total comprehensive income

for theyear ..o, - - - 403 7,529 1,710 9,239
Reversal of unclaimed declared

dividends to non-controlling interest

upon expiration of limitation period .. - - - - - 35 35
Dividends declared to shareholders

of Mechel PAO ..., 25 - - - - (5) - (5)
Dividends declared to non-controlling

INEErEST ..o 25 - - - - - ?3) 3)
Acquisition of non-controlling

TNEETESE oo 6,25 - - - - 4 (4) 0
As of December 31, 2016.................... 416,270,745 4,163 83,254,149 848 (260,274) 7,686 (252,588)

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.



MECHEL PAO

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
for the year ended December 31, 2016

(All amounts are in millions of Russian rubles, unless stated otherwise)

Cash flows from operating activities
Net Profit (I0SS) ....coveveiiiiiiceic e
Loss (profit) from discontinuing operations,

NEt OF INCOME TaX.....evviiirieiricr e
Net profit (loss) from continuing operations ..............cc.ce.v...

Adjustments to reconcile net profit (loss) from continuing
operations to net cash provided by operating activities:
DePreCiation .......cc.coveiieiiie e
Depletion and amortization ............ccceevreverierieierieinseieniens
Foreign exchange (gain) 10SS........ccccovvvviivenieiieieiieeceseiene
Deferred income taxes
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Write-off of accounts receivable ...
Write-off of taxes receivable ...
Write-off of inventories to net realisable value ....................
Revision in estimated cash flows of rehabilitation provision
Loss on write-off of property, plant and equipment .............
Impairment of goodwill and non-current assets....................
Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment .....................
Gain on sale of INVESTMENES.........ccovveirieieeee e

Gain on write-off of accounts payable with expired

1egal tBIM ..o
Curtailment and remeasurement of pension obligations.......
Pension service cost and actuarial loss, other related

BXPEINISES ...ttt sttt sttt ettt
Finance income
Finance costs including fines and penalties on overdue

loans and borrowings and finance leases payments of

RUB 6,013 million, RUB 19,167 million and

RUB 1,829 million for the periods ended December 31,

2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively.........cccoceveeiiienvienennne
VEB commissions Write-0ff ..o
Provision for non-recoverable advances to pension funds....

Changes in working capital items:

Trade and other receivables............coveviiinieniicee
INVENLOFIES. ...

Trade and other payables
AAVANCES FECRIVEM......euieiiiieeieiere e
Taxes payable and other current liabilities .............ccccooeeee.
Other current assets
INCOME taXES PAId.......evevririiiirieieeec s
Net operating cash flows of discontinued operations ...........
Net cash provided by operating activities.............c.cc.ce...

Year ended December 31,

Notes 2016 2015 2014
8,832 (114,628) (133,967)
426 (822) 11,702
9,258 (115,450) (122,265)
11,813 12,397 12,639
1,901 1,688 1,790
(25,947) 71,106 103,176
20 5,104 7,946 (15,525)
12 758 1,507 3,797
26.1 113 247 185
- = 1,605
14 364 1,003 394
26.3 (375) (47) (236)
26.1 1,953 691 661
18 5,202 1,460 7,996
57 102 85
26.6 (186) - (483)
26.6 (115) (222) (37)
26.3 (325) (142) (58)
23 154 192 52
26.4 (1,176) (183) (107)
265 54,240 60,452 28,110
15 1,411 - -
26.6 408 - -
(70) 480 1,492
(5,542) 4,597 2,130
(1,070) 1,873 14,565
(4,259) (8,125) (1,710)
588 (664) 62
2,368 (1,465) 8,771
(883) 997 (822)
(2,101) (1,437) (2,509)
(436) (136) (745)
53,207 38,867 43,013




MECHEL PAO

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
for the year ended December 31, 2016

(All amounts are in millions of Russian rubles, unless stated otherwise)

Cash flows from investing activities

Proceeds from disposal of SECUTiti€S..........cceevvevveieiiiiiriennne
Loans issued and other inVestments ..........c.ccoverveecrieennnen
INtErest rECRIVEA ......covviviiiieiriiie e
Royalty payments associated with disposal of Bluestone.....
Proceeds from disposal of other subsidiaries............c.ccccc.....
Purchases of available for sale securities...........cc.ccocererunnene.
Proceeds from 10anS iSSUE...........ccveeriiereeeeceeee e
Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and equipment ..
Purchases of property, plant and equipment............c..ccccev..
Purchases of mineral licenses and other related payments ...
Interest paid, capitalized..........ccccovvevveiiiiiine s
Net investing cash flows of discontinued operations............
Net cash used in investing activities ..........cccccceonviennnnnne

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from BOrrowings..........ccevevieiiveneieineieeseseiens
Repayment of BOrrowings ........ccovevevieiiveieiceeeeee e
Dividends Paid..........cceiviiiiriinieicieses e
Dividends paid to non-controlling interest ..........cccccoevvenen.
INEEreSt PAIH ... cveeeeieeieie e
Acquisition of non-controlling interest in subsidiaries.........
Proceeds from sale of 49% share in Elga coal complex,
with put-option granted...........cccooevoeieniinieneee
Repayment of obligations under finance lease .....................
Sale leaseback proceeds ........covvveiviiieveiieriineieece s
Net financing cash flows of discontinued operations ...........
Deferred consideration paid for the acquisition of
subsidiaries in Prior PEriods ........ccocvveeerereieniinenese e
Net cash used in financing activities.............cccccovvviienenne

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash
BAUIVAIENTS ...
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents......

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of period ..........
Cash and cash equivalents net of overdrafts at
the beginning of period...........ccoccoviiiiiiiiee
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of period ....................
Cash and cash equivalents net of overdrafts at the end
OF PEIIOU ...t

Year ended December 31,

Notes 2016 2015 2014
- 143 538

(133) (6) (36)

128 25 22

16, 26.6 103 101 -
145 76 632

4) - (113)

31 15 151

285 405 830

(4,742) (5,076) (11,365)

— (71) —

(782) (830) (5,141)

- - (12)

(4,969) (5,218) (14,494)

4,002 13,875 64,469

(42,322) (11,896) (77,761)

() 4 4

(2) 1) (6)

(33,872) (28,910) (14,963)

- @ (1,425)

6 34,300 - -
(3,238) (2,677) (1,863)

- - 675

- - (105)

6 (4,732) (4,819) (3,223)
(45,369 (34,433) (34,206)

(1,807) 331 901

562 (453) (4,786)

11 3,079 4,074 8,979
11 891 1,344 6,130
11 1,689 3,079 4,074
11 1,453 891 1,344




MECHEL PAO
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended December 31, 2016

(All amounts are in millions of Russian rubles, unless stated otherwise)

1. Corporate information

(@) Information

Mechel PAO (“Mechel”, formerly — Mechel OAO and Mechel Steel Group OAO) was incorporated on March 19, 2003,
under the laws of the Russian Federation in connection with a reorganization to serve as a holding company for various steel and
mining companies owned by two individual shareholders (the “Controlling Shareholders”). The Controlling Shareholders,
directly or through their associates, either acquired existing companies or established new companies, at varying dates from 1995
through March 19, 2003, which were contributed to Mechel after its formation. The formation of Mechel and contribution of the
subsidiaries’ shares into Mechel’s capital represents a reorganization of entities under common control, and accordingly, has been
accounted for in a manner similar to a pooling for the periods presented. During 2006, one of the Controlling Shareholders sold
all his Mechel’s stock to the other Controlling Shareholder, Igor Zyuzin, the ultimate controlling party. In accordance with the
changes in the Civil Code of the Russian Federation Mechel has registered changes in its Charter on March 17, 2016 and changed
its corporate name from Mechel OAO to Mechel PAO. The registered office is located at Krasnoarmeyskaya St. 1, Moscow
125167, Russian Federation. Mechel and its subsidiaries are collectively referred to herein as the “Group”. Set forth below is a
summary of the Group’s primary subsidiaries:

Interest in
voting stock
held by the
Date control Group at
acquired / date of December 31,

Name of subsidiary Registered in Core business incorporation (*) 2016
Southern Kuzbass Coal Company (SKCC) .... Russia Coal mining January 1999 96.6%
Chelyabinsk Metallurgical Plant (CMP)......... Russia Steel products December 2001 94.2%
Vyartsilya Metal Products Plant (VMPP)....... Russia Steel products May 2002 93.3%
Beloretsk Metallurgical Plant (BMP) ............. Russia Steel products June 2002 94.8%
Urals Stampings Plant (USP) ........c.cccccvevenee. Russia Steel products April 2003 93.8%
Korshunov Mining Plant (KMP) .................... Russia Iron ore mining October 2003 90.0%
Mechel Nemunas (MN) .......ccccooerieniencienenn Lithuania Steel products October 2003 100.0%
Mechel ENergo .......ccooovvveienciciicccece Russia Power generation and sale February 2004 100.0%
POrt POSIEL ... Russia Transshipment February 2004 97.6%
1ZhStal ... Russia Steel products May 2004 90.0%
Port Kambarka...........ccooeverenennenicnenc e Russia Transshipment April 2005 90.4%
Mechel SErvice........ccoovvviviiieneicicice e Russia Trading May 2005 100.0%
Mechel COKE ......ooveviieiiiicceeeec e Russia Coke production June 2006 100.0%
Moscow Coke and Gas Plant (Moskoks)........ Russia Coke production October 2006 99.5%
Southern Kuzbass Power Plant (SKPP).......... Russia Power generation April 2007 98.3%
Kuzbass Power Sales Company (KPSC)........ Russia Electricity distribution June 2007 72.1%
Bratsk Ferroalloy Plant (BFP) ...........c.cccce..... Russia Ferrosilicon production August 2007 100.0%
Yakutugol Russia Coal mining October 2007 100.0%
Port TemryukK......cccooveiiininecceceecee e Russia Transshipment March 2008 100.0%
Mechel Carbon AG ........ccccoeveveviiiiece Switzerland Trading April 2008 100.0%
HBL Holding GmbH (HBL).........ccccvevvvennne. Germany Trading September 2008 100.0%
Mechel Service Stahlhandel Austria GmbH

and its subsidiaries Austria Trading September 2012 100.0%
Elgaugol .........ccccc.e.e. Russia Coal mining August 2013 51.0%**
Elga-road........ccocooeeiineniiecseeeee e Russia Railroad transportation January 2016 51.0%**

*  Date, when a control interest was acquired or a new company established.

** |n 2016, the Group sold 49% stakes in Elgaugol and Elga-road to Gazprombank. Simultaneously with this transaction, the Group granted to Gazprombank a
put option to sell 49% stakes in these companies to the Group. The transaction in fact represents a financial liability, and these entities are consolidated based
on 100% ownership (Note 6, 10.4).




MECHEL PAO
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year ended December 31, 2016

(All amounts are in millions of Russian rubles, unless stated otherwise)

(b) Business

The Group operates in three business segments: steel (comprising steel and steel products), mining (comprising coal, iron
ore and coke) and power (comprising electricity (generation and transportation) and heat power generation), and conducts
operations in Russia, Kazakhstan and Europe. The Group sells its products within Russia and foreign markets. Through
acquisitions, the Group has added various businesses to explore new opportunities and build an integrated Group of steel, mining,
ferroalloy and power companies. The Group operates in a highly competitive and cyclical industry; any local or global downturn
in the industries may have an adverse effect on the Group’s results of operations and financial condition. While the Group will
utilize funds from operations, it expects to continue to rely on operating cash flow and long term debt to finance major investment
projects, focus on restructuring of the loan portfolio and other financing sources for its capital needs. As discussed in Notes 4 and 5,
management believes that the Group will secure adequate financing.

2. Basis of preparation of the consolidated financial statements
(a) Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for specific financial assets and
liabilities that have been measured at fair value.

Russian associates and subsidiaries of the Group maintain their books and records in Russian rubles and prepare accounting
reports in accordance with the accounting principles and practices mandated by Russian Accounting Standards (RAS). Foreign
subsidiaries and associates maintain their books and records in different foreign functional currencies and prepare accounting
reports in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) in various jurisdictions. The financial statements
and accounting reports for the Group and its subsidiaries and associates for the purposes of preparation of the consolidated
financial statements in accordance with IFRS have been translated and adjusted on the basis of the respective standalone RAS or
other GAAP financial statements.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements differ from the financial statements issued for the RAS and other
GAAP purposes in that they reflect certain adjustments, not recorded in the statutory books, which are appropriate to present the
financial position, results of operations and cash flows in accordance with IFRS. The principal adjustments relate to: (1) purchase
accounting; (2) recognition of interest expense and certain operating expenses; (3) valuation and depreciation of property, plant
and equipment and mineral licenses; (4) defined benefit plans and other long-term benefits; (5) foreign currency translation;
(6) deferred income taxes; (7) accounting for tax penalties, uncertainties and contingencies, (8) revenue recognition; (9) valuation
allowances for unrecoverable assets, and (10) recording investments at fair value.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group comply with the Russian Federal Law No. 208 On Consolidated
Financial Statements (Law “208-FZ”), which was adopted on July 27, 2010. The Law 208-FZ provides the legal basis for certain
entities to prepare the financial statements in accordance with IFRS as issued by the IASB and subsequently endorsed for use in
the Russian Federation. As of December 31, 2016, all currently effective standards and interpretations issued by the IASB have
been endorsed for use in Russia. The consolidated financial statements are presented in millions of Russian rubles, except when
otherwise indicated.

(b) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Group and its subsidiaries for the year ended
December 31, 2016. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. Specifically, the Group controls an
investee if, and only if, the Group has:

e  Power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee);
e  Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee;

e  The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.
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Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated financial statements from the date the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to control
the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income (loss) (OCI) are attributed to the equity holders of the
parent of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.
When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with
the Group’s accounting policies. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities,
non-controlling interest and other components of equity, while any resultant gain or loss is recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit (loss) and other comprehensive income (loss). Any investment retained is recognised at fair value.

3. Summary of significant accounting policies

(a) Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, which is measured at acquisition date fair value, and the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling
interests in the acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Acquisition-related
costs are expensed as incurred and included in administrative expenses.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as of the acquisition date.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability that is a financial instrument and within the scope of IAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, is measured at fair value with the changes in fair value recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit (loss) and other comprehensive income (loss).

Goodwill is initially measured at cost (being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests) and any previous interest held over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. If the fair value of the net assets acquired is in excess of the aggregate consideration transferred, the Group re-assesses
whether it has correctly identified all of the assets acquired and all of the liabilities assumed and reviews the procedures used to
measure the amounts to be recognised at the acquisition date. If the reassessment still results in an excess of the fair value of net
assets acquired over the aggregate consideration transferred, then the gain is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
(loss) and other comprehensive income (l0ss).

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of
impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s
cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the
acquiree are assigned to those units.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (CGU) and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of,
the goodwill associated with the disposed operation is included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the
gain or loss on disposal. Goodwill disposed in these circumstances is measured based on the relative values of the disposed
operation and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.
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(b) Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint control over those policies.

The considerations made in determining significant influence are similar to those necessary to determine control over
subsidiaries.

The Group’s investments in its associate are accounted for using the equity method.

Under the equity method, the investment in an associate is initially recognised at cost. The carrying amount of the investment
is adjusted to recognise changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the associate since the acquisition date. Goodwill relating
to the associate is included in the carrying amount of the investment and is not tested for impairment separately.

The consolidated statement of profit (loss) and other comprehensive income (loss) reflects the Group’s share of the results
of operations of the associate. Any change in OCI of those investees is presented as part of the Group’s OCI. In addition, when
there has been a change recognised directly in the equity of the associate, the Group recognises its share of any changes, when
applicable, in the statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and
the associate are eliminated to the extent of the interest in the associate.

The aggregate of the Group’s share of profit or loss of an associate is shown on the face of the consolidated statement of
profit (loss) and other comprehensive income (loss) outside operating profit and represents profit or loss after tax and
non-controlling interests in the subsidiaries of the associate.

The financial statements of the associate are prepared for the same reporting period as the Group. When necessary,
adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Group.

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an impairment loss on its
investment in its associate. At each reporting date, the Group determines whether there is objective evidence that the investment
in the associate is impaired. If there is such evidence, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between
the recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value, and then recognises the loss as ‘Share of profit of an associate’ in
the consolidated statement of profit (loss) and other comprehensive income (loss).

Upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the Group measures and recognises any retained investment at its fair
value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate upon loss of significant influence and the fair value of the
retained investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit (loss) and other
comprehensive income (loss).

(c) Current versus non-current classification

The Group presents assets and liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position based on current/non-current
classification. An asset is current when it is:

e  Expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in the normal operating cycle;
e Held primarily for the purpose of trading;
e  Expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period; or

e  Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least twelve months after
the reporting period.

All other assets are classified as non-current.
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A liability is current when:
e Itis expected to be settled in the normal operating cycle;
e Itisheld primarily for the purpose of trading;
e Itis due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period; or

e  There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the reporting period.

The Group classifies all other liabilities as non-current. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current assets
and liabilities.

(d) Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell
the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:

e Inthe principal market for the asset or liability; or

e Inthe absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.
The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing
the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole:

e Level 1 —quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

e Level 2 — valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is directly
or indirectly observable;

e Level 3 — valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
unobservable.

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements at fair value on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

(e) Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue can
be reliably measured, regardless of when the payment is received. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable, taking into account contractually defined terms of payment and excluding discounts, rebates, and sales
taxes or duty.

Revenues are inflows from sales of goods that constitute ongoing major operations of the Group and are reported as such in
the consolidated statement of profit (loss) and other comprehensive income (loss). Inflows from incidental and peripheral
operations are considered gains and are included, net of related costs, in other income in the consolidated statement of profit (loss)
and other comprehensive income (loss).




MECHEL PAO
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year ended December 31, 2016

(All amounts are in millions of Russian rubles, unless stated otherwise)

The following criteria are also applicable to other specific revenue transactions:
Sales of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have passed
to the buyer. Revenue from the sale of goods is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, net of
returns and allowances, trade discounts, associated sales taxes (VAT) and export duties.

Principal vs agent arrangements

The Group is involved in re-selling goods and services produced or rendered by other entities. Revenues are reported based
on the gross amount billed to the customer when the Group has earned revenue as a principal from the sale of goods or services,
or the net amount retained (that is, the amount billed to the customer reduced by the amount billed by the supplier) when the
Group has earned a commission or fee as an agent.

Shipping and handling costs

The Group classifies all amounts billed to customers in a sale transaction and related to shipping and handling as part of
sales revenue and all related shipping and handling costs as selling and distribution expenses when the Group is acting as a
principal in accordance with the requirements of IAS 18 Revenue.

Sales of power

In the Power segment (Note 27), revenue is recognised based on unit of power measure (kilowatts) delivered to customers,
since at that point revenue recognition criteria are met. The billings are usually done on a monthly basis, several days after each
month end.

Interest income

For all financial instruments measured at amortised cost interest income is recorded using the effective interest rate (EIR).
The EIR is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument or a
shorter period, where appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset. Interest income is included in finance income
in the consolidated statement of profit (loss) and other comprehensive income (loss).

(f) Taxes
Current income tax

Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted
or substantively enacted at the reporting date in the countries where the Group operates and generates taxable income.

Uncertain tax positions

The Group’s policy is to comply fully with the applicable tax regulations in the jurisdictions in which its operations are
subject to income taxes. The Group’s estimates of current income tax expense and liabilities are calculated assuming that all tax
computations filed by the Group’s subsidiaries will be subject to a review or audit by the relevant tax authorities. The Group and
the relevant tax authorities may have different interpretations of how regulations should be applied to actual transactions. Such
uncertain tax positions are accounted for in accordance with IAS 12 Income Taxes and IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities
and Contingent Assets. The Group applies single most likely outcome method of uncertain tax positions estimation.
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Deferred tax

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes at the reporting date.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

e  When the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is
not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss.

e In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint
arrangements, when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carry forward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised,
except:

e  When the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss.

e Inrespect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint
arrangements, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will
reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilized.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised
deferred tax assets are re-assessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future
taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the asset is realised
or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction
either in OCI or directly in equity.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

Tax benefits acquired as part of a business combination, but not satisfying the criteria for separate recognition at that date,
are recognised subsequently if new information about facts and circumstances change. The adjustment is either treated as a
reduction in goodwill (as long as it does not exceed goodwill) if it was incurred during the measurement period or recognised in
profit or loss.

(g) Foreign currencies

The Group’s consolidated financial statements are presented in Russian rubles to comply with the Law 208-FZ. Russian
rubles is also the parent company’s functional currency.

For each entity, the Group determines the functional currency and items included in the financial statements of each entity
are measured using that functional currency. The functional currencies of the main Russian and European subsidiaries of the
Group are the Russian ruble and euro, respectively. The U.S. dollar is the functional currency of the other main international
operations of the Group. The Group uses the direct method of consolidation and on disposal of a foreign operation, the gain or
loss that is reclassified to profit or loss reflects the amount that arises from using this method.
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(i) Transactions and balances

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded by the Group’s entities at their respective functional currency spot
rates at the date the transaction first qualifies for recognition. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the functional currency spot rates of exchange at the reporting date. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the date when the fair value is determined.

The following table presents the exchange rates for the functional and operating currencies at various subsidiaries, other
than the presentation currency:
Average exchange rates*

Rates at for the years ended
December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,
Currency 2016 2015 2014 2016 2015 2014
u.S.dollar .....ccovevvennnene 60.66 72.88 56.26 67.03 60.96 38.42
U0 J 63.81 79.70 68.34 74.23 67.78 50.82

(*)  Exchange rates shown in Russian rubles for one local currency unit.

The majority of the balances and operations not already denominated in the presentation currency were denominated in
the U.S. dollar and euro. The Russian ruble is not a convertible currency outside the territory of Russia. Official exchange rates
are determined daily by the Central Bank of Russia (“CBR™) and are generally considered to be a reasonable approximation of
market rates.

(if) Group companies

On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into rubles at the rate of exchange prevailing
at the reporting date and their statements of profit (loss) and other comprehensive income (loss) are translated at the weighted
average exchange rate for the period. The exchange differences arising on translation for consolidation are recognised in OCI.
On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of OCI relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in profit or
loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities arising on the acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the
spot rate of exchange at the reporting date.

(h) Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations

The Group classifies non-current assets (or disposal group) as held for sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered
principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. Such non-current assets (or disposal group) classified
as held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.

The criteria for held for sale classification is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and the asset (or disposal
group) is available for immediate sale in its present condition subject only to terms that are usual and customary for sales of such
assets (or disposal groups). For the sale to be highly probable, the appropriate level of management must be committed to a plan
to sell the asset (or disposal group), and an active program to locate a buyer and complete the plan must have been initiated.

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are not depreciated or amortised once classified as held for sale.Assets
and liabilities classified as held for sale are presented separately as current items in the statement of financial position.

A disposal group qualifies as discontinued operation if it is a component of an entity that either has been disposed of, or is
classified as held for sale, and:

e  Represents a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations;
e s part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations; or

e Isasubsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale.
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Discontinued operations are excluded from the results of continuing operations and are presented as a single amount as
profit or loss after tax from discontinued operations in the consolidated statement of profit (loss) and other comprehensive income
(loss).

Additional disclosures are provided in Note 16. All other notes to the financial statements include amounts for continuing
operations, unless otherwise mentioned.

(i) Mineral licenses

Mineral licenses acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of mineral licenses acquired in a
business combination is their fair value at the date of acquisition. Mineral licenses are amortized under a unit of production basis
over proved and probable reserves of the relevant area.

In order to calculate proved and probable reserves, estimates and assumptions are used about a range of geological, technical
and economic factors, including but not limited to quantities, grades, production techniques, recovery rates, production costs,
transport costs, commodity demand, commodity prices and exchange rates. There are numerous uncertainties inherent in
estimating proved and probable reserves, and assumptions that are valid at the time of estimation may change significantly when
new information becomes available.

The Group established a policy, according to which internal mining engineers review proved and probable reserves annually.
This policy does not change the Group’s approach to the measurement of proved and probable reserves as of their acquisition
dates as part of business combinations that involve independent mining engineers. The Group’s proved and probable reserve
estimates as of the reporting date were made by internal mining engineers and the majority of the assumptions underlying these
estimates had been previously reviewed and verified by independent mining engineers.

(i) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment and construction in progress are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses, if any. The initial cost of an asset comprises its purchase price or construction cost, any costs
directly attributable to bringing the asset into operation, the initial estimate of the rehabilitation provision, and, for qualifying
assets (where relevant), borrowing costs and other costs incurred in connection with the borrowings. The purchase price or
construction cost is the aggregate amount paid and the fair value of any other consideration given to acquire the asset.

When significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group depreciates them
separately based on their specific useful lives. Likewise, when a major inspection is performed, its cost is recognised in the
carrying amount of the property, plant and equipment as a replacement if the recognition criteria are satisfied. Where a separately
depreciated asset, or part of an asset, is replaced, the expenditure is capitalised. Where part of the asset was not separately
considered as a component and therefore not depreciated separately, the replacement value is used to estimate the carrying amount
of the replaced asset(s) which is immediately written off. All other repair and maintenance costs are recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit (loss) and other comprehensive income (loss) as incurred.

The capitalised value of a finance lease is also included in property, plant and equipment. The present value of the expected
cost for the rehabilitation of an asset after its use is included in the cost of the respective asset if the recognition criteria for a
provision are met.

Inventories planned to be used for construction and spare parts with useful lives over one year are recorded within property,
plant and equipment.

Mining assets and processing plant and equipment

Mining assets and processing plant and equipment are those assets, including construction in progress, which are intended
to be used only for the needs of a certain mine or field, and upon full extraction exhausting of the reserves of such mine or the
field, these assets cannot be further used for any other purpose without a capital reconstruction.

Items of production mines are stated at cost, less accumulated depletion and accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Costs of developing new underground mines are capitalized. Underground development costs, which are costs incurred to
make the mineral physically accessible, include costs to prepare property for shafts, driving main entries for ventilation, haulage,
personnel, construction of airshafts, roof protection and other facilities. Additionally, interest expense subject to allocation to the
cost of developing mining properties and to constructing new facilities is capitalized until assets are ready for their intended use.

9
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Exploration and evaluation activity involves the search for mineral resources, the determination of technical feasibility and
the assessment of commercial viability of identified proved and probable reserves. Once the legal right to explore has been
acquired, exploration and evaluation expenditure is charged to profit or loss as incurred, unless the Group concludes that a future
economic benefit is more likely than not to be realized.

Stripping costs incurred in the development phase of a mine, before the production phase commences, are capitalized as
part of cost of constructing the mine. The capitalization of development stripping costs ceases when the mine is commissioned
and ready for use as intended by management. Stripping cots undertaken during the production phase of mine are charged to
profit and loss as cost of goods sold as incurred.

When mining assets and processing plant and equipment are placed in production, the applicable capitalized costs, including
mine development costs, are depleted using the unit-of-production method at the ratio of tonnes of mineral mined or processed
to the estimated proved and probable mineral reserves that are expected to be mined during the estimated lives of the mines.
The unit-of-production method is used for the underground mine development structure costs as their useful lives coincide with
the estimated lives of mines, provided that all repairs and maintenance are timely carried out.

A decision to abandon, reduce or expand activity on a specific mine is based upon many factors, including general and
specific assessments of mineral reserves, anticipated future mineral prices, anticipated costs of developing and operating
a producing mine, the expiration date of mineral licenses, and the likelihood that the Group will continue exploration on the mine.
Based on the results at the conclusion of each phase of an exploration program, properties that are not economically feasible for
production are re-evaluated to determine if future exploration is warranted and that carrying values are appropriate. The ultimate
recovery of these costs depends on the discovery and development of economic ore reserves or the sale of the companies owning
such mineral rights.

Other property, plant and equipment

Capitalized production costs for internally developed assets include material, direct labor costs, and allocated material and
manufacturing overhead costs. When construction activities are performed over an extended period, borrowing costs incurred in
connection with the borrowing of funds are capitalized. Construction-in-progress and equipment held for installation are not
depreciated until the constructed or installed asset is substantially ready for its intended use.

Property, plant and equipment (apart from railway of the Elga coal deposit) are depreciated using the straight-line method.
Upon sale or retirement, the acquisition or production cost and related accumulated depreciation are removed from the
consolidated statement of financial position and any gain or loss is included in the consolidated statement of profit (loss) and
other comprehensive income (l0ss).

The following useful lives are used as a basis for calculating depreciation:

Useful economic
lives estimates,

Category of asset years
Buildings and CONSLIUCLIONS.........c.covciieririeieecriee e 5-85
Operating machinery and equUIipmMeNt..........ccccvovviviievenereeseiennns 2-30
Transportation VEhIiCIeS...........ccooiiiiiiie e, 2-25
Other EQUIPMENT ..ot 2-15

(k) Leases

The determination of whether an arrangement is (or contains) a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement at
the inception of the lease. The arrangement is, or contains, a lease if fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of
a specific asset or assets and the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset or assets, even if that right is not explicitly specified
in an arrangement.

A lease is classified at the inception date as a finance lease or an operating lease. A lease that transfers substantially all
the risks and rewards incidental to ownership to the Group is classified as a finance lease.

Finance leases are capitalised at the commencement of the lease at the inception date fair value of the leased property or, if
lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and
reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges
are recognised in finance costs in the consolidated statement of profit (loss) and other comprehensive income (loss).

10



MECHEL PAO
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year ended December 31, 2016

(All amounts are in millions of Russian rubles, unless stated otherwise)

A leased asset is depreciated over the useful life of the asset. However, if there is no reasonable certainty that the Group will
obtain ownership by the end of the lease term, the asset is depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset and
the lease term.

An operating lease is a lease other than a finance lease. Operating lease payments are recognised as an operating expense in
the consolidated statement of profit (loss) and other comprehensive income (loss) on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

() Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that necessarily takes a
substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale (a qualifying asset) are capitalised as part of the cost of the
respective asset. Borrowing costs consist of interest including exchange differences arising from foreign currency borrowings
and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Where funds are borrowed specifically to finance a project, the amount capitalised represents the actual borrowing costs
incurred. Where the funds used to finance a project form part of general borrowings, the amount capitalised is calculated using a
weighted average of rates applicable to relevant general borrowings of the Group during the period.

According to IAS 23 Borrowing Costs, borrowing costs may include exchange differences arising from foreign currency
borrowings to the extent that they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs. Foreign exchange differences on borrowings
directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are considered by the Group to be eligible
for capitalization in the amount of difference between actual amount of interest costs and potential amount of interest costs
calculated using a weighted average of rates applicable to ruble-nominated borrowings of the Group during the period. All other
borrowing costs are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit (loss) and other comprehensive income (loss) in the period
in which they are incurred.

(m) Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a
business combination is their fair value at the date of acquisition. Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at
cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

Intangible assets with determinable useful lives are amortized using the straight-line method over their estimated period of
benefit, ranging from two to sixteen years.

(n) Financial instruments — initial recognition and subsequent measurement

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity
instrument of another entity.

(i) Financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
receivables, held-to-maturity investments, available-for-sale (AFS) financial assets, or as derivatives. All financial assets are
recognised initially at fair value plus, in the case of financial assets not recorded at fair value through profit or loss, transaction
costs that are attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame established by regulation or
convention in the market place (regular way trades) are recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date that the Group commits to
purchase or sell the asset.
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Subsequent measurement

For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in four categories:
e  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss;
e  Loans and receivables;
e  Held-to-maturity investments;

e  AFS financial assets.
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading and financial assets designated
upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired
for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the
statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in fair value presented as finance costs (negative net changes in fair
value) or finance income (positive net changes in fair value) in the consolidated statement of profit (loss) and other comprehensive
income (loss).

Loans and receivables

This category is the most relevant to the Group. Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. After initial measurement, such financial assets are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate (EIR) method, less impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking
into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation
is included in finance income in the consolidated statement of profit (loss) and other comprehensive income (loss). The losses
arising from impairment are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit (loss) and other comprehensive income (loss) in
finance costs for loans and in other operating expenses for receivables.

This category generally applies to trade and other receivables (Note 12).
AFS financial assets

AFS financial assets include equity investments and debt securities. Equity investments classified as AFS are those that are
neither classified as held for trading nor designated at fair value through profit or loss. Debt securities in this category are those
that are intended to be held for an indefinite period of time and that may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or in response
to changes in the market conditions.

After initial measurement, AFS financial assets are subsequently measured at fair value with unrealised gains or losses
recognised in OCI and credited in the AFS reserve until the investment is derecognised, at which time, the cumulative gain or
loss is recognised in other operating income, or the investment is determined to be impaired, when the cumulative loss is
reclassified from the AFS reserve to the consolidated statement of profit (loss) and other comprehensive income (loss) in finance
costs. Interest earned whilst holding AFS financial assets is reported as interest income using the EIR method.

Derecognition

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position) when:

e  Therights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

e  The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received
cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.
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Impairment of financial assets

Further disclosures relating to impairment of financial assets are also provided in the following notes:
. Financial assets — Note 10.

. Trade and other receivables — Note 12.

The Group assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial
assets is impaired. An impairment exists if one or more events that has occurred since the initial recognition of the asset
(an incurred “loss event™), has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial assets
that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include indications that the debtors or a group of debtors is
experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that they will
enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the
estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first assesses whether impairment exists individually for financial
assets that are individually significant, or collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant. If the Group
determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not,
it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for
impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or continues to be,
recognised are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.

(if) Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
borrowings, payables, or as derivatives.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of
directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables, loans and borrowings including bank overdrafts, financial
guarantee contracts and derivative financial instruments.

Subsequent measurement
The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification, as described below:
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are incurred for the purpose of repurchasing in the near term.
Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit (loss) and other comprehensive
income (loss).

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss are designated at the initial date
of recognition, and only if the criteria in IAS 39 Financial Instruments Recognition and Measurement are satisfied.

Loans and borrowings

This is the category most relevant to the Group. After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the EIR method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the
liabilities are derecognised as well as through the EIR amortisation process. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account
any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as
finance costs in the consolidated statement of profit (loss) and other comprehensive income (loss). This category generally applies
to interest-bearing loans and borrowings (Note 10).
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Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse
the holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails to make a payment when due in accordance with the terms of
a debt instrument. Financial guarantee contracts are recognised initially as a liability at fair value, adjusted for transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequently, the liability is measured at the higher of the best
estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the reporting date and the amount recognised less cumulative
amortisation.

Put Options Written on Non-controlling Interests

The Group initially measures a financial liability at the present value of the redemption amount in the parent’s consolidated
financial statements for written puts on non-controlling interest, therefore when the Group grants non-controlling interests a put
option to sell part or all of their interests in a subsidiary during a certain period, on the date of grant, the non-controlling interests
are classified as a financial liability. The Group remeasures the financial liability at the end of each reporting period based on the
estimated present value of the consideration to be transferred upon the exercise of the put option. The respective finance cost is
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit (loss) and other comprehensive income (loss) within finance costs.

Derecognition

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. When
an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the derecognition of the original
liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit (loss) and other comprehensive income (10ss).

(o) Derivative financial instruments

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as cross currency swap and cross currency option. Such derivative
financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into and are
subsequently remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as financial assets when the fair value is positive and as financial
liabilities when the fair value is negative.

For the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, the Group did not have any derivatives designated as hedging
instruments.

(p) Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost or net realisable value. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and selling expenses.

The cost of inventories is determined under the weighted average cost method, and includes all costs in bringing
the inventory to its present location and condition. The elements of costs include direct material, labor and allocable material and
manufacturing overhead.

Costs of production in process and finished goods include the purchase costs of raw materials and conversion costs such as
direct labor and allocation of fixed and variable production overheads. Raw materials are valued at a purchase cost inclusive of
freight and other shipping costs.

Coal and iron ore inventory costs include direct labor, supplies, depreciation of equipment, depletion of mining assets and
amortization of licenses to use mineral reserves, mine operating overheads and other related costs. Operating overheads are
charged to expenses in the periods when the production is temporarily paused or abnormally low.
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(q) Impairment of non-current assets
Further disclosures relating to impairment of non-current assets are also provided in the following notes:

e Intangible assets — Note 19.

e  Impairment of goodwill and other non-current assets — Note 18.

The Group assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any indication
exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or CGU’s fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The recoverable
amount is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets. When the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is
considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. The Group’s CGUs represent single entities with one
component of business in each case. As of December 31, 2016, the Group performed the impairment testing for the following
number of CGUs by segments: Steel — 8, Mining — 7 and Power — 2.

In assessing value in use, the Group uses assumptions that include estimates regarding the discount rates, growth rates and
expected changes in selling prices, sales volumes and operating costs, as well as capital expenditures and working capital
requirements during the forecasted period. The estimated future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset, when the quoted
market prices are not available, are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. The growth rates are based on the Group’s growth
forecasts, which are largely in line with industry trends. Changes in selling prices and direct costs are based on historical
experience and expectations of future changes in the market. In determining fair value less costs of disposal, recent market
transactions are taken into account.

The Group bases its impairment calculation on detailed budgets and forecast calculations, which are prepared separately for
each of the Group’s CGUs to which the individual assets are allocated. These budgets and forecast calculations generally cover
a period of five years. A long-term growth rate is calculated and applied to project future cash flows after the fifth year.

For CGUs involved in mining activity future cash flows include estimates of recoverable minerals that will be obtained from
proved and probable reserves, mineral prices (considering current and historical prices, price trends and other related factors),
production levels, capital and reclamation costs, all based on the life of mine models prepared by the Groups engineers.

Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit (loss) and other
comprehensive income (loss) in expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date to determine whether there is an indication that
previously recognised impairment losses no longer exist or have decreased. If such indication exists, the Group estimates the
asset’s or CGU’s recoverable amount. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the
assumptions used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. The reversal is
limited so that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its recoverable amount, nor exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. Such
reversal is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit (loss) and other comprehensive income (loss) unless the asset is
carried at a revalued amount, in which case, the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase.

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually as of December 31, and when circumstances indicate that the carrying value
may be impaired.

Impairment is determined for goodwill by assessing the recoverable amount of each CGU to which the goodwill relates.
When the recoverable amount of the CGU is less than its carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. Impairment losses
relating to goodwill cannot be reversed in future periods.
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(r) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position comprise cash at banks and on hand and short-term deposits
with a maturity of three months or less, which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and short-term
deposits, as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts as they are considered an integral part of the Group’s cash
management.

(s) Provisions
General

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is
probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation including legal or tax
proceedings’ obligations and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. The expense relating to a provision
is presented in the consolidated statement of profit (loss) and other comprehensive income (loss).

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects, when
appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. When discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time
is recognised as a finance cost.

Rehabilitation provision

Mine rehabilitation costs will be incurred by the Group either while operating, or at the end of the operating life of the
Group’s facilities and mine properties. The Group assesses its mine rehabilitation provision at each reporting date. The Group
recognises a rehabilitation provision where it has a legal and constructive obligation as a result of past events, and it is probable
that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount of obligation can be
made. The nature of these restoration activities includes: dismantling and removing structures; rehabilitating mines and tailings
dams; dismantling operating facilities; closing plant and waste sites; and restoring, reclaiming and revegetating affected areas.

The obligation generally arises when the asset is installed or the ground/environment is disturbed at the mining operation’s
location. When the liability is initially recognised, the present value of the estimated costs is capitalised by increasing the carrying
amount of the related mining assets to the extent that it was incurred as a result of the development/construction of the mine.

Changes in the estimated timing of rehabilitation or changes to the estimated future costs are dealt with prospectively by
recognising an adjustment to the rehabilitation provision and a corresponding adjustment to the asset to which it relates, if the
initial estimate was originally recognised as part of an asset measured in accordance with IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment.

Any reduction in the rehabilitation provision and, therefore, any deduction from the asset to which it relates, may not exceed
the carrying amount of that asset. If it does, any excess over the carrying value is taken immediately to the consolidated statement
of profit (loss) and other comprehensive income (loss).

Over time, the discounted liability is increased for the change in present value based on the discount rates that reflect current
market assessments and the risks specific to the liability. The periodic unwinding of the discount is recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit (loss) and other comprehensive income (loss) as part of finance costs.

For closed sites, changes to estimated costs are recognised immediately in the consolidated statement of profit (loss) and
other comprehensive income (loss).

Environmental expenditures and liabilities

Environmental expenditures that relate to current or future revenues are expensed or capitalised as appropriate. Expenditures
that relate to an existing condition caused by past operations and do not contribute to current or future earnings are expensed.
Liabilities for environmental costs are recognised when a clean-up is probable and the associated costs can be reliably estimated.
Generally, the timing of recognition of these provisions coincides with the commitment to a formal plan of action or, if earlier,
on divestment or on closure of inactive sites. The amount recognised is the best estimate of the expenditure required. Where the
liability will not be settled for a number of years, the amount recognised is the present value of the estimated future expenditure.
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(t) Pensions and other post-employment benefits
Defined benefit pension and other post-retirement plans

The Group has a number of defined benefit pension plans and other long-term benefits that cover the majority of production
employees.

Benefits under these plans are primarily based upon years of service and average earnings. The Group accounts for the cost
of defined benefit plans and other long-term benefits using the projected unit credit method. Under this method, the cost of
providing pensions is charged to the consolidated statement of profit (loss) and other comprehensive income (loss), so as to
attribute the total pension cost over the service lives of employees in accordance with the benefit formula of the plan.

The Group’s obligation in respect of defined retirement benefit plans and other long-term benefits is calculated separately
for each defined benefit plan and other long-term benefit plan by discounting the amounts of future benefits that employees have
already earned through their service in the current and prior periods. The discount rate applied represents the yield at the year end
on highly rated long-term bonds.

Where there is a change in actuarial assumptions, the resulting actuarial gains and losses are recognised directly in the
statement of comprehensive income.

For unfunded plans, the Group recognizes a pension liability, which is equal to the projected benefit obligation. For funded
plans, the Group offsets the fair value of the plan assets with the projected benefit obligations and recognizes the net amount of
pension liability. The market value of plan assets is measured at each reporting date.

State pension fund

The Group’s Russian subsidiaries are legally obligated to make defined contributions to the Russian Pension Fund, managed
by the Russian Federation Social Security (a defined contribution plan financed on a pay-as-you-go basis). The Group’s
contributions to the Russian Pension Fund relating to defined contribution plans are charged to income in the year, to which they
relate.

(u) Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported carrying amounts of assets and liabilities, and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities
as of the date of the financial statements, and the amounts of revenues and expenses recognised during the reporting period.
Estimates and assumptions are continually evaluated and are based on the Group’s experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results could differ from those
estimates. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the
carrying amount of assets or liabilities affected in future periods.

Judgments

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgments, which have the
most significant effect on the amount recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

Abandoned activity

As of January 1, 2014, Southern Urals Nickel Plant (“SUNP”) was recognised as abandoned activity according to a decision
to close SUNP without sale. In July 2013, the Group received an approval from the governmental authorities to abandon the
industrial complex. The closure of SUNP is aligned with the revised strategy aimed at restructuring the Group’s assets and
development of its core businesses. During 2014-2015, the works related to closure of the plant were ongoing. Starting the fourth
quarter of 2016, the Group stopped liquidation activities (Note 16); therefore the Group presents the results of SUNP as
discontinued operations in the consolidated statement of profit (loss) and other comprehensive income (loss) for the nine months
ended September 30, 2016 and prior periods and as continued operations — from the fourth quarter of 2016.
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Capitalization of interest related to the Elga Coal Deposit and Railway Construction

In 2013 and 2014, Elgaugol OOO (“Elgaugol”) and the Russian State Corporation “Bank for Development and Foreign
Economic Affairs” (“VEB”) signed credit agreements for financing of the Elga coal project approved by the VEB’s Supervisory
Board in September 2013. The use of proceeds under these facilities is limited to the development of the Elga coal project.
Borrowing costs under these VEB facilities that are directly attributable to the construction of the Elga coal project are capitalized.
Borrowing costs consist of interest including exchange differences arising from revaluation of foreign currency borrowings and
other costs that the Group incurs in connection with the debt servicing.

Railway depreciation method

In 2015, the Group commences to depreciate the railway of the Elga coal deposit using units of production method. In
applying the units of production method, depreciation is normally calculated based on produced and delivered tonnes in the period
as a percentage of total expected tonnes to be produced and delivered in current and future periods over the Elga coal deposit life
cycle. The Group’s analysis has shown that the consumption of the economic benefits of the asset is linked to production and
delivery of coal. The Group assesses the total or ultimate railway capacity in tonnes at least at each financial year end and, if
expectations differ from previous estimates, the changes will be accounted for as a change in an accounting estimate in accordance
with IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors.

DEMP property complex

On June 25, 2016, by the decree of the Council of Ministers of the self-proclaimed People’s Republic of Donetsk, the State
Enterprise “Yuzovsky metallurgical plant” was established on the basis of the property complex of the Group’s subsidiary
Donetsk Electrometallurgical Plant (“DEMP”). The Group's ability to manage and control the assets of the DEMP property
complex is restricted by this decree. The Group concluded that the assets included in the DEMP’s property complex do not meet
the recognition criteria and derecognized these assets in the consolidated financial statements.

The DEMP’s assets were fully impaired based on the results of impairment tests as of January 1, 2014 and December 31,
2014 due to conservation of production since 2013. The loss of control over the assets of nil carrying value has no impact on the
financial result for the year ended December 31, 2016.

Principal vs agent arrangements

The Group makes significant judgment on gross or net revenue recognition. The Group evaluates the relevant facts and
circumstances and takes into consideration the following factors in determining whether to recognize revenue on a gross basis:

e  The Group has the primary responsibility for providing the goods or services to the customer or for fulfilling the order, for
example by being responsible for the acceptability of the products or services ordered or purchased by the customer;

e  The Group has inventory risk before or after the customer order, during shipping or on return;

e  The Group has latitude in establishing prices, either directly or indirectly, for example by providing additional goods or
services; and

e  The Group bears the customer’s credit risk for the amount receivable from the customer.

Otherwise, revenues are reported net when the Group performs as an agent or a broker without assuming the risks and
rewards of ownership of goods. The evaluations of these factors, which at times can be contradictory, are subject to significant
judgment and subjectivity. In the situation when the Group acts as a supplier and as a buyer with the same counterparty, the Group
analyzes the respective purchase and sales agreements to identify whether these transactions were concluded in contemplation
with each other and, therefore, should be combined for accounting purposes deferring the revenue recognition to the point when
the earnings process has culminated.
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Estimates and assumptions

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year,
are described below or in the related accounting policy note. The Group based its assumptions and estimates on parameters
available when the consolidated financial statements were prepared. Existing circumstances and assumptions about future
developments, however, may change due to market change or circumstances arising beyond the control of the Group.

In particular, the Group has identified a number of areas where significant estimates and assumptions are required. Further
information on each of these areas and how they impact the various accounting policies are described with the associated
accounting policy note within the related qualitative and quantitative note as described below.

Deferred tax assets and uncertain tax positions

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the losses can be utilised. Significant management judgment is required to determine the amount of deferred tax
assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and the level of future taxable profits and the existence of taxable
temporary differences (Note 20). Various factors are considered to assess the probability of the future utilization of deferred tax
assets, including past operating results, operational plans, expiration of tax losses carried forward, and tax planning strategies. If
actual results differ from these estimates or if these estimates must be adjusted in future periods, the financial position, results of
operations and cash flows may be negatively affected. In the event that the assessment of future utilization of deferred tax assets
must be reduced, this reduction will be recognised in the consolidated statement of profit (loss) and other comprehensive income
(loss).

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and other non-current assets

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such
indication exists, the Group makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount. An impairment exists when the carrying value
of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use.
The fair value less costs of disposal calculation is based on available data from binding sales transactions, conducted at arm’s
length for similar assets or observable market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessment of the time value of money and the risks specific to the assets.

Impairment is based on a large number of factors, such as changes in current competitive conditions, expectations of growth
in the industry, increased cost of capital, changes in the future availability of financing, technological obsolescence, and other
changes in circumstances that indicate that impairment exists. The determination of the recoverable amount of a cash-generating
unit involves the use of estimates by management. Methods used to determine the value in use include discounted cash flow-
based methods, which require the Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the cash-generating unit and
also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. These estimates, including the
methodologies used, may have a material impact on the value in use and, ultimately, the amount of any impairment (Note 18).

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an annual basis and when circumstances indicate that the
carrying value may be impaired. This requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash generating units to which the goodwill
is allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the cash-
generating unit and also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. More details
of the assumptions used in estimating the value in use of the cash-generating units to which goodwill is allocated are provided in
Note 18.

Useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment

The Group assesses the remaining useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment at least at each financial year end
and, if expectations differ from previous estimates, the changes are accounted for as a change in an accounting estimate in
accordance with IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors. These estimates may have a material
impact on the amount of the carrying values of property, plant and equipment and on depreciation expense for the period.
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Mineral reserves

Mineral reserves and the associated mine plans are a material factor in the Group’s computation of a depletion charge.
Estimation of reserves involves some degree of uncertainty. The uncertainty depends mainly on the amount of reliable geological
and engineering data available at the time of the estimate and the interpretation of this data, which also requires use of subjective
judgment and development of assumptions. Mine plans are periodically updated which can have a material impact on the depletion
charge for the period. More details are provided in Note 3(i).

Fair value of financial instruments

Where the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the statement of financial position cannot be
derived from active markets, their fair value is determined using valuation techniques, including discounted cash flow models.
The inputs to these models are taken from observable markets where possible, but when this is not feasible, a degree of judgment
is required in establishing fair values. The judgments include considerations of inputs such as liquidity risk, credit risk and
volatility. Changes in assumptions about these factors could affect the reported fair value of financial instruments (Note 9).

Provisions

The Group is subject to various legal proceedings, disputes and claims, including regulatory discussions related to the
Group’s business, licenses, tax positions and the outcomes are subject to significant uncertainty. Management evaluates, among
other factors, the degree of probability of an unfavorable outcome and the ability to make a reasonable estimate of the amount of
loss. Unanticipated events or changes in these factors may require the Group to increase or decrease the amount recorded or to
be recorded for a matter that has not been previously recorded because it was not considered probable (Note 22).

Pensions and other post-employment benefits

The cost of defined benefit pension plans and other post-employment benefits and the present value of the pension obligation
are determined using actuarial valuations. An actuarial valuation involves making various assumptions which may differ from
actual developments in the future. These include the determination of the discount rate, future salary increases, mortality rates
and future pension increases. Due to the complexity of the valuation, the underlying assumptions and its long-term nature, a
defined benefit obligation and other long-term benefit plans are highly sensitive to changes in these assumptions. All assumptions
are reviewed at each reporting date. More details are provided in Note 23.

Rehabilitation provisions

The Group reviews rehabilitation provisions at each reporting date and adjusts them to reflect the current best estimate.
Rehabilitation provisions are recognised in the period in which they arise and are stated at the best estimate of the present value
of estimated future costs. These estimates require extensive judgment about the nature, cost and timing of the work to be
completed, and may change with future changes to costs, environmental laws and regulations and remediation practices. Changes
in the estimated timing of rehabilitation or changes to the estimated future costs are dealt with prospectively by recognizing an
adjustment to the rehabilitation provision and a corresponding adjustment to the asset to which it relates, if the initial estimate
was originally recognised as part of an asset measured in accordance with IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment (Note 17).

Impairment of financial assets

The Group makes allowances for doubtful receivables to account for estimated losses resulting from the inability of
customers to make required payments. When evaluating the adequacy of an allowance for doubtful accounts, management bases
its estimates on the current overall economic conditions, the ageing of accounts receivable balances, historical write-off
experience, customer creditworthiness and changes in payment terms. Changes in the economy, industry or specific customer
conditions may require adjustments to the allowance for doubtful accounts recorded in the consolidated financial statements.

Determining net realizable value of inventories

The Group makes write-downs for obsolete and slow-moving raw materials and spare parts. In addition, finished goods of
the Group are carried at net realizable value (Note 14). Estimates of net realizable value of finished goods are based on the most
reliable evidence available at the time the estimates are made. These estimates take into consideration fluctuations of price or cost
directly relating to events occurring subsequent to the end of the reporting period to the extent that such events confirm conditions
existing at the end of the period.

20



MECHEL PAO
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year ended December 31, 2016

(All amounts are in millions of Russian rubles, unless stated otherwise)

For other judgments, estimates and assumptions and details refer to:
e  Mineral licenses (Note 3(i));
e  Property, plant and equipment (Note 3(j));
e Recovery of deferred tax assets (Note 3(f));
e Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations (Note 3(h));
e Inventories (Note 3(p));
e  Impairment of non-current assets (Note 3(q));
e  Pensions and other post-employment benefits (Note 3(t));
e  Provisions (Note 3(s));

e  Fair value measurement (Note 3(d)).

(v) Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior periods’ consolidated financial statements to conform to the current
year presentation. Such reclassifications affect the presentation of certain items in the consolidated statement of financial position,
consolidated statement of profit (loss) and other comprehensive income (loss) and consolidated statement of cash flows and have
no impact on net income or equity.

(w) New and amended standards and interpretations

The Group applied for the first time certain standards and amendments, which are effective for annual periods beginning on
or after January 1, 2016. The Group has not early adopted any other standard, interpretation or amendment that has been issued
but is not yet effective. The nature and the effect of these changes are described below.

Amendments to IAS 1 Disclosure Initiative

The amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements clarify existing IAS 1 requirements:
e  The materiality requirements in 1AS 1,

e  The requirements that apply when additional subtotals are presented in the statement of financial position and the statements
of profit or loss and OCI;

e  That specific line items in the statements of profit or loss and OCI and the statement of financial position may be
disaggregated;

e  That entities have flexibility as to the order in which they present the notes to financial statements;

e  That the share of OCI of associates and joint ventures accounted for using the equity method must be presented in aggregate
as a single line item, and classified between those items that will or will not be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss.

Amendments to IFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations

The amendments to IFRS 11 require that a joint operator accounting for the acquisition of an interest in a joint operation, in
which the activity of the joint operation constitutes a business, must apply the relevant IFRS 3 principles for business
combinations accounting. The amendments also clarify that a previously held interest in a joint operation is not remeasured on
the acquisition of an additional interest in the same joint operation while joint control is retained. In addition, a scope exclusion
has been added to IFRS 11 to specify that the amendments do not apply when the parties sharing joint control, including the
reporting entity, are under common control of the same ultimate controlling party. The amendments apply to both the acquisition
of the initial interest in a joint operation and the acquisition of any additional interests in the same joint operation and are
prospectively effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016, with early adoption permitted.
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Amendments to 1AS 16 and IAS 38 Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation

The amendments clarify the principle in 1AS 16 and IAS 38 that revenue reflects a pattern of economic benefits that are
generated from operating a business (of which the asset is part) rather than the economic benefits that are consumed through use
of the asset. As a result, a revenue-based method cannot be used to depreciate property, plant and equipment and may only be
used in very limited circumstances to amortise intangible assets.

Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28 Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exemption

The amendments address issues that have arisen in applying the investment entities exception under IFRS 10 Consolidated
Financial Statements. The amendments to IFRS 10 clarify that the exemption from presenting consolidated financial statements
applies to a parent entity that is a subsidiary of an investment entity, when the investment entity measures all of its subsidiaries
at fair value. Furthermore, the amendments to IFRS 10 clarify that only a subsidiary of an investment entity that is not an
investment entity itself and that provides support services to the investment entity is consolidated. All other subsidiaries of an
investment entity are measured at fair value. The amendments to 1AS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures allow the
investor, when applying the equity method, to retain the fair value measurement applied by the investment entity associate or
joint venture to its interests in subsidiaries. These amendments are applied retrospectively. The adoption of the amendments do
not have significant impact on the Group as the Group does not apply the consolidation exception.

Amendments to 1AS 27 Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements

The amendments allow entities to use the equity method to account for investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and
associates in their separate financial statements. Entities already applying IFRS and electing to change to the equity method in its
separate financial statements will have to apply that change retrospectively.

Annual improvements to IFRSs 2010-2012 cycle

The amendments relate to IFRS 2 Share-based Payment, IFRS 3 Business Combinations, IFRS 8 Operating Segments,
IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment and 1AS 38 Intangible Assets, IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures.

Annual improvements to IFRSs 2012-2014 cycle

The amendments relate to IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations, IFRS 7 Financial
Instruments: Disclosures, IAS 19 Employee Benefits, IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting.

The amendments and improvements described above had no significant impact on the financial position and performance
of the Group or the disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.

Standards issued but not effective

The standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective, up to the date of issuance of the Group’s financial
statements are discussed below. The Group intends to adopt these standards, if applicable, when they become effective.

Annual improvements to IFRS 2014-2016 cycle (issued in December 2016)
This annual improvements package amended three standards:

IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards. Short-term exemptions in paragraphs E3-E7 of
IFRS 1 were deleted, because they have now served their intended purpose.

IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures. The amendment clarified that the election to measure at fair value
through profit or loss an investment in an associate or a joint venture that is held by an entity that is a venture capital organisation,
or other qualifying entity, is available for each investment in an associate or joint venture on an investment-by-investment basis,
upon initial recognition.

IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities. The amendment clarified the scope of the standard by specifying that
the disclosure requirements in the standard, except for those in paragraphs B10-B16, apply to an entity’s interests in a subsidiary,
a joint venture or an associate that are classified as held for sale, as held for distribution or as discontinued operations in
accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.
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The amendments described above had no significant impact on the financial position and performance of the Group or the
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The Group has not early adopted any other standard, interpretation or
amendment that has been issued but is not yet effective.

The Group is in the process of assessing of impact of the adoption of the pronouncements listed below on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements:

e  Amendments to IAS 7 Disclosure Initiative — effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2017;

e  Amendments to IAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses — January 1, 2017;

e  Amendments to IAS 40 Transfers of Investment Property — January 1, 2018;

e  Amendments to IFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions — January 1, 2018;

e  Amendments to IFRS 4 Applying IFRS 9 Financial Instruments with IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts — January 1, 2018;
e Annual improvements to IFRSs 2014-2016 cycle — January 1, 2018;

e IFRS 9 Financial Instruments — January 1, 2018;

e IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers — January 1, 2018;

e IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration — January 1, 2018;

e IFRS 16 Leases — January 1, 2019.

In July 2014, the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments. The final version of IFRS 9 replaces IAS 39
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, and all previous versions of IFRS 9. IFRS 9 brings together
the requirements for the classification and measurement, impairment and hedge accounting of financial instruments. In respect
of impairment, IFRS 9 replaces the ‘incurred loss” model used in IAS 39 with a new “‘expected credit loss’ model that will require
a more timely recognition of expected credit losses. The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1,
2018, with earlier application permitted.

In January 2016, the IASB issued IFRS 16 Leases. IFRS 16 eliminates the classification of leases as either operating leases
or finance leases and establishes a single lessee accounting model. The most significant effect of the new requirements for the
lessee will be an increase in lease assets and financial liabilities. The new standard replaces the previous leases standard, IAS 17
Leases, and the related interpretations.

The Group plans to apply IFRS 16 and IFRS 9 starting from the respective effective dates. The Group is currently assessing
the impact of the standards on the consolidated financial statements.

In May 2014, the 1ASB issued IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers. IFRS 15 establishes a single framework
for revenue recognition and contains requirements for related disclosures. The new standard supersede 1AS 18 Revenue, 1AS 11
Construction Contracts, and the related interpretations on revenue recognition. The standard is effective for annual periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with earlier application permitted.

IFRS 15 establishes a five-step model to account revenue arising from contracts with customers. Under IFRS 15, revenue is
recognized at an amount that reflects the consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods
or services to a customer.

IFRS 15 provides presentation and disclosure requirements, which are more detailed than under the current IFRS.
The presentation requirements represent a significant change from current practice and increase the volume and level of details
of disclosures required in the Group’s consolidated financial statements. The Group expects to adopt the new standard from
January 1, 2018 retrospectively. During 2016, the Group performed a preliminary assessment of IFRS 15, which is subject to a
change arising from a more detailed ongoing analysis. In 2017, further review of contracts will be undertaken at all businesses.
Furthermore, the Group is considering the clarification issued by the IASB in an exposure draft in April 2016 and will monitor
any further developments.
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4. Going concern

The current economic environment and economic conditions in the major segments of the Group’s operations create
uncertainty about the level of demand for the Group’s products, the pricing of major products mined or manufactured by the
Group, operation and financial results, the availability of free cash flow for repayment or ability to refinance and restructure
current liabilities.

As of December 31, 2016, the Group’s total liabilities exceeded total assets by RUB 252,588 million.

In 2016, the Group was in the process of debt restructuring, while as of December 31, 2016, this process was not finalized
with respect to the Group’s credit facilities with the foreign banks and lenders other than Gazprombank, Sherbank, VTB,
Gazprombank Leasing, Sherbank Leasing, VTB Leasing, Moscow Commercial Bank and therefore the Group was not in
compliance with the payment schedules under certain credit facilities and a number of financial and non-financial covenants
contained in the Group’s loan agreements totaling to RUB 427,350 million. As of December 31, 2016, the Group’s short-term
debt was RUB 434,165 million, including RUB 260,653 million of long-term debt classified as short-term debt as no debt
restructuring was finalized with respect to the Group’s credit portfolio and cross-default provisions, and RUB 21,678 million of
fines and penalties accrued on overdue debt and overdue interest. As of the date of approval of the consolidated financial
statements, these breaches constitute an event of default and, as a result, the lenders may request accelerated repayment of a
substantial portion of the Group’s debt. The Group does not have the resources to enable it to comply with such accelerated
repayment requests immediately. However, during 2016 and through the date of approval of the consolidated statements, the
restructuring agreements have been signed with the major creditors of the Group, including Gazprombank, Sberbank, VTB,
Gazprombank Leasing, Sberbank Leasing, VTB Leasing, Moscow Commercial Bank and other banks (see Note 29). The Group
successfully restructured the ruble-denominated bonds in 2016. It will pursue to reach the restructuring agreements with other
lenders, including pre-export facility creditors, ECA-covered loans creditors and VVnesheconombank (VEB).

The management has concluded that the existing uncertainty about the Group’s availability of free cash flow for repayment
or ability to refinance and restructure current liabilities described above represents a material uncertainty that casts significant
doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Based on management’s plans and actions undertaken as noted
herein, management believes that the Group will achieve restructuring with all of its lenders and secure adequate financing to
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. The management’s strategy includes enhancement of crude steel
production, increase in sales of the major steel products as well as diversifying products range into specialty products, rails and
beams targeting higher marginal market niches. Together with the further development of the Group’s mining assets providing
additional volumes of high-grade coking coal both to the Russian consumers and to exports markets the Group expects it to result
inincrease in profitability. The Group’s detailed monthly operational plans include further optimization of the costs structure and
on-going control over the production costs and commercial expenses.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Group will continue as a going concern.
Accordingly, the consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments relating to the recoverability and classification
of recorded asset amounts, the amounts and classification of liabilities or any other adjustments that might result in the Group
being unable to continue as a going concern.

5. Capital management

The equity capital of the Group was formed by injecting shares of its operating subsidiaries into Mechel PAO. This together
with obtaining profits allowed the Group to raise debt to finance major investment projects as well as to acquire new companies.
Although it has always been the Group’s priority to create and grow the shareholders’ value, during the past few years, the Group
has become more focused on managing its debt, which has been the major source for expansion and growth.

Metals and mining industry is known for its capital intensive investment cycle requiring secure long-term financing. In
2012-2015, high price volatility on the coal seaborne market and metal market resulted in the decrease in the Group’s operating
profit, impairments of non-current assets. Devaluation of the national currency (Russian ruble) affected the amount of foreign
exchange losses and increase in cost of financing on local and foreign debt markets. These facts became the major reason for
the losses incurred by the Group in the past and resulted in a negative equity. At the meantime the amount of the total Group’s
debt denominated in U.S. dollar decreased from $2,963 million (RUB 96,989 million at exchange rate as of December 31, 2013)
at the end of 2013 to $1,772 million (RUB 107,499 million at exchange rate as of December 31, 2016) at the end of 2016, which
is a result of partial repayment of U.S. dollar-denominated debt, conversion of U.S. dollar-denominated debt into
RUB-denominated loans during the restructuring process.
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Given current economic circumstances and the amount of debt, the Group’s primary objective is to focus on resolving
the debt issues through a long-term restructuring of the loan portfolio and bringing down both cost of financing and actual interest
payments as well as use of all available free cash flow for repayment of debt. The Group’s long-term policy is to maintain a strong
capital base to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain future development of the business. The Group’s
management constantly monitors profitability and leverage ratios. The Group’s capital management has always been based on a
number of covenants, of which “Net Debt to EBITDA” and ‘EBITDA to Net Interest Expense’ are the main indicators the
management uses for control. The level of dividends are monitored by the Board of Directors of the Group.

The Group was required to comply with the following ratios under the most significant loan agreements as of December 31,
2016%

Actual as of

December 31,
Restrictive covenant Requirement 2016
Mechel’s EBITDA to Net Interest EXpense..........c..ccce.... Shall not be less than 1.25:1.0 1.36:1.0
Mechel’s EBITDA to Consolidated Financial Expense...... Shall not be less than 1.25:1.0 1.28:1.0
Mechel’s Net Debt t0 EBITDA .......cccocvrierneenneiece Shall not exceed 9.00:1.0 7.18:1.0
Mechel’s Total Debt to EBITDA .......cccovevevevieeceeee Shall not exceed 7.50:1.0 7.48:1.0

The Group was required to comply with the following ratios under the most significant loan agreements as of December 31,
2015:

Actual as of

December 31,
Restrictive covenant Requirement 2015
Mechel’s EBITDA to Net Interest Expense..........cc.cccoce.... Shall not be less than 1.15:1.0 0.8:1.0
Mechel’s EBITDA to Consolidated Financial Expense...... Shall not be less than 0.9:1.0 0.8:1.0
Mechel’s Net Debt to EBITDA .......ccooviiiiieeceeeceen Not exceed 9.75:1.0 11.2:1.0
Mechel’s Total Debt to EBITDA .......ccoocoiiiiiiieeiecene Not exceed 9.5:1.0 11.2:1.0

In 2012-2015, following a sudden fall of the commodity markets the Group violated most of such covenants and defaulted
on major credit facilities of interest and debt payments. Limited free cash flow available for debt service forced the Group to start
negotiations with creditors about review of schedule of the debt maturity profile. Current restructuring arrangements with major
creditors are aimed at rescheduling repayment of principal, gradual amortization and decrease in interest payments by partial
capitalization.

Cost of debt is also important in the Group’s capital management. Throughout the restructuring process, the Group changed
the floating interest rates dependent on the Russian money market (Mosprime rate) by the key rate of the Central Bank of Russia,
which is less volatile and better represents the cost of funds by the local banks from the Central Bank of Russia in the Russian
economy. The management believes that it will allow the Group to avoid sudden splashes in the cost of debt due to temporary
demand/supply fluctuations. In 2016, under the restructuring agreements, the outstanding balance of U.S. dollar-denominated
long-term loans was partially converted from U.S. dollar into Russian ruble, which will allow to reduce the cost of foreign
currency fluctuations. On the foreign currency indebtedness, the Group’s finance cost is based on the floating LIBOR/EURIBOR,
which remains comparatively low.

The main goal for the Group is to achieve long-term restructuring of the loan portfolio with a grace period for repayment of
debts and gradual amortization, which will permit to restore working capital, improve efficiency of operations and provide ability
to sustain full service of debt in accordance with newly agreed repayment schedules as well as use of all available free cash flow
for repayment of debt through cash sweep mechanism, which stipulates that all available cash flow above agreed minimum level
shall be used for earlier repayment of debts to major creditors.

In June 2016, a 49% stake in the Elga coal complex (OOO Elgaugol, Elga-road OOO and Mecheltrans VVostok OOO) was
sold to Gazprombank by exercising an option held by Gazprombank for a total consideration of RUB 34,300 million. All proceeds
received from the sale of the shares were used for repayment of the Group’s debt assigned from Sherbank to Gazprombank, and
to repay overdue payment to Sberbank. Simultaneously with the sale of a 49% stake, a put option in respect of this stake was
granted to Gazprombank (see Note 6).

The objectives, policies and processes for managing capital during the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 are not
changed.

! Detailed information in respect of restrictive covenant calculations is presented in Note 10.1.
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6. Business combinations and changes in non-controlling interests

There were no new business combinations in the years ended December 31, 2014, 2015 and 2016.

On December 22, 2011, the Group acquired 100% of the shares of Daveze Ltd, which held 100% of ownership interest in
DEMP, a steel plant located in Donetsk, Ukraine, for a consideration of $537,000 thousand (RUB 17,058 million at exchange
rate as of December 22, 2011) to be paid in monthly installments during the period from December 2011 until December 2018.
The Group continues to pay monthly installments and disclosed the respective payments in the consolidated statement of cash
flows within cash outflows from financing activities. The reclassifications of prior periods’ amounts have been made to conform
to the current year presentation.

The following table summarizes changes in non-controlling interests for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and
2014:

Balance at JANUAKNY 1, 2014 ........co ittt ettt a et te e b e s b et e e s e e st e teeb e e be s be st et e st eteebeetesae st eneenbereareas 9,500
Effect from diSpoSal OF SUDSIAIATIES. ........ccevierieeieiieiiii ettt ettt te s tesbesaesbe b eseeseeseebessensenseseeseas 4
Dividends declared to NON-CONTITONIING INEIEST.........eiuiiuirieieieieete ettt ettt sttt sae st s beseeeeneeneas )
LLOSS FOF the PEIIOM. ...ttt sttt ettt b e be s b st e b e e et e st ebe s b et e e e st eneeneebesaeetenbeneeneeseatens (1,263)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) 14
Balance at DECEMDEE 31, 2014 .......ooo ettt ettt ettt e e et e e s ettt e e s et et e e s bt e e s sab e e s sabesesebbaeessabasssbesesssbaesssbbassssbasaeaans 8,253
Change of non-controlling interest in existing subsidiaries by the Group (NOte 25) ........ccceivererierirceniiieeseseeeeene (2,842)
PrOTIt fOr the PEIIOM .....eiciiieiieee ettt ettt et e b e s b e b e b et esseseebe s b e besseseeseeaeeseesestensassensesensens 535
Other comprehensive INCOME/(I0SS) .....uivvirveieieiieieitiitetestet ettt ettt eebesbe st e s b e sae e seete st e s besessesseseeseeseesasbessesseseesessan 2
Balance at DECEMDEE 31, 2015 ... ..eiiiieiii ettt et e sttt e e et e s e b bt e e s ebatessbb e e s sabeeesabeaessbbaeessabesssbesesssbansssbbassssbanasssn 5,948
Acquisition of non-controlling interest in existing subsidiaries by the Group..........ccoeoeorirerene e 4)
Reversal of unclaimed declared dividends to non-controlling interest upon expiration of limitation period................... 35
Dividends declared to non-controlling interest ?3)
PrOTIt fOr the PEIOM .....eiciictiieeeee et ettt et e e b e s b e b e s b e e e sseseebe e b e besseseeseeseeseesestesassensesensens 1,706
Other comprehensive INCOME/(I0SS) .....uicvirieieieieirieitete sttt ettt et e ste st e s b e sae e s e esesbesbesessesseseeseesessasbessensesensessan 4
Balance at DECEMDET 31, 2016 .......cuiueiiriiieieieeeieit sttt ettt b e bbbt b et e bbbt b et b e e bbbkt b et n et nas 7,686

In June 2016, 49% share in the Elga coal complex was sold to Gazprombank by exercising an option held by Gazprombank
for a total consideration of RUB 34,300 million. The Group sold to Gazprombank upon its request a 49% stake in Elgaugol OOOQ,
the owner of the subsoil license for the Elga coal deposit, a 49% stake in Elga-road, the owner of the Ulak-Elga rail line, which
had been contributed to the registered capital of this newly established company in March 2016, a 49% stake in Mecheltrans
Vostok OOO, the rail line’s transportation operator (collectively, the “target companies”).

Simultaneously with the sale of a 49% stake in the target companies a put option with fixed price and annual interest at the
key rate of the Central Bank of Russia + 2% was granted to Gazprombank to sell the stake (in full or in part) in the target
companies to the Group within three years following a five-year grace period or in case of a breach of conditions stipulated by
such agreement. This allowed the Group to retain control over 100% of shares and therefore this transaction in fact represents a
financial liability. Put options are signed by Yakutugol and Mechel-Trans OOO (sellers of the stakes in target companies) and
are guaranteed by Mechel Mining AO and SKCC. If the Group fails to perform under these put options Gazprombank has the
right to buy out (call option) the remaining stakes owned by the Group in the target companies and a 100% stake in Mechel Port
Vanino. A 1.99% stake in each of the target companies is pledged in favor of Gazprombank as a security for the call option.

For accounting of this financial liability see Note 10.4.
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7. Material partly-owned subsidiaries
Financial information of subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interests is provided below.

Proportion of equity interest held by non-controlling interests:
At December 31, At December 31,

Name 2016 2015

SKCC and SUDSIAIAMES™ ......coeviiiiiiiiieici s 3.4% 3.4%
Kuzbass Power Sales Company (KPSC) ..ot 27.9% 27.9%
Chelyabinsk Metallurgical P1ant (CIMP).........ccooiiiiiiiee e 5.9% 5.9%
Southern Urals Nickel P1ant (SUNP)........ccoiiiiii i 15.9% 15.9%
Beloretsk Metallurgical PIant (BIMP) .........couoiiiiiiiieiee e 8.6% 8.6%
Korshunov Mining P1ant (KIMP) ........ccuiiiiiiice et ane s 10.0% 10.0%
Urals Stampings PIant (USP) .......oioiiiiiiiieics sttt st st aneens 6.2% 6.2%
DZNSEAL ... 10.0% 10.0%

*  Hereinafter SKCC and subsidiaries are represented by Southern Kuzbass Coal Company (SKCC), Tomusinsky Open Pit Mine (TOPM),
Tomusinsky Energoupravlenie.

The summarised financial information of these subsidiaries is provided below. This information is based on amounts before
inter-company eliminations. SUNP was recognized as abandoned operations activity according to a decision to close SUNP
without sale (Note 16) for the nine months of 2016, and years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014. Therefore, SUNP’s results
for the nine months period ended September 30, 2016, and for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 are not disclosed in
summarised statements of profit and loss below. The SUNP’s results for the fourth quarter of 2016 are disclosed in summarised
statements of profit or loss below. Profit allocated to SUNP non-controlling interest was RUB 19 million, RUB 80 million and
RUB 301 million for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively. The SUNP’s non-controlling interest is

disclosed in statements of financial position as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 (see below).

Summarised statements of profit and other comprehensive income for 2016:

SKCC and
subsidiaries KPSC CMP SUNP BMP KMP uUsP Izhstal
Revenue..........ccceevevnenee. 27,171 20,695 107,119 16 22,718 8,782 12,471 14,357
Cost of goods sold............ (18,115) (10,518) (84,441) 8) (20,311) (6,064) (9,908) (12,456)
Total selling, distribution
and operating expenses,
41 O (6,284) (9,865) (11,261) 13 (1,746) (3,029) (1,035) (1,254)
Total other income and
(expense), net................ 3,995 274 1,209 530 (640) 2,742 756 (476)
Profit before tax............. 6,767 586 12,626 551 21 2,431 2,284 171
Income tax (expense)
benefit......cccoevrreennn (592) (128) 297 (27) 29 25 (170) 266
Profit for the year from
continuing operations . 6,175 458 12,923 524 50 2,456 2,114 437
Total comprehensive
INCOME oo 6,175 458 12,923 524 50 2,456 2,114 437
Attributable to non-
controlling interests....... 241 128 757 83 4 245 132 44

Dividends paid to non-
controlling interests....... - - — _ _ _
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Summarised statements of profit (loss) and other comprehensive income (loss) for 2015:

SKCC and
subsidiaries KPSC CMP BMP KMP UspP Izhstal
REVENUE.....coeveveriiiiisiieieinns 31,169 20,723 96,126 23,605 7,784 12,591 9,902
Cost of goods sold................. (19,842) (11,268) (78,995) (21,518) (6,400) (9,663) (8,589)
Total selling, distribution and
operating expenses, net ........ (6,281) (8,924) (6,421) (1,991) (3,031) (3,207) 5,097
Total other income and
(eXpense), Net.........cocceve.n. (27,950) 167 (9,078) 1,702 2,768 993 (1,552)
(Loss) profit before tax......... (22,904) 698 1,632 1,798 1,121 714 4,858
Income tax (expense) benefit.. (3.432) (141) 665 37 26 298 (730)
(Loss) profit for the year
from continuing operations (26,336) 557 2,297 1,835 1,147 1,012 4,128
Total comprehensive (loss)
Ncome o (26,336) 557 2,297 1,835 1,147 1,012 4,128
Attributable to non-
controlling interests.............. (565) 155 135 157 114 63 413
Dividends paid to non-
controlling interests.............. 2 - - - - - -
Summarised statements of profit (loss) and other comprehensive income (loss) for 2014:
SKCC and
subsidiaries KPSC CMP BMP KMP UsP Izhstal
Revenue......cccccoevvicveieennnnn 26,584 19,037 87,866 22,253 9,688 12,792 9,131
Cost of sales (18,835) (9,737) (72,198) (20,094) (6,301) (9,997) (8,964)
Total selling, distribution and
operating expenses, net ........ (7,614) (8,920) (6,553) (2,007) (3,256) (1,373) (7,460)
Total other income and
(eXpense), Net........c..cc.evee.e. (37,837) 150 (10,236) 1111 2,562 1,096 (1,745)
(Loss) profit before tax......... (37,702) 530 (1,121) 1,263 2,693 2,518 (9,038)
Income tax (expense) benefit.. 2,921 (114) (1,213) 50 (58) 64 819
(Loss) profit for the year
from continuing operations __ (34,781) 416 (2,334) 1,313 2,635 2,582 (8,219)
Total comprehensive (loss)
income oo (34,781) 416 (2,334) 1,313 2,635 2,582 (8,219)
Attributable to non-
controlling interests.............. (1,263) 116 (137) 112 262 161 (822)
Dividends paid to non-
controlling interests.............. - - - - - - -
Summarised statements of financial position as of December 31, 2016:
SKCC and
subsidiaries KPSC CMP SUNP BMP KMP uUsP Izhstal
Current assets .......ccoouenee. 29,513 3,666 36,533 3,150 7,367 9,905 9,768 3,490
Non-current assets........... 89,689 3,586 83,378 3,841 8,010 22,165 15,197 5,526
Current liabilities............. (138,268) (3,025) (92,371) (230) (6,291) (1,951) (7,700) (8,165)
Non-current liabilities...... (3,778) (104) (5,562) (181) (130) (799) (80) (5,:372)
Total eqUIty ...orreooceee... 22,844 (4,123) (21,978) (6,580) (8,956) (29,320) (17,185) 4,521
Attributable to:
Equity holders of parent .. 22,492 (2,974) (20,690) (5,534) (8,190) (26,401) (16,113) 4,069
Non-controlling interest... 352 (1,149) (1,288) (1,046) (766) (2,919) (1,072) 452
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Summarised statements of financial position as of December 31, 2015:

SKCC and
subsidiaries KPSC CMP SUNP BMP KMP USP Izhstal
Current assets ........cc.ce... 81,248 5,095 46,932 4,646 11,479 18,357 14,611 2,961
Non-current assets............ 61,713 1,235 61,183 2,345 3,449 11,961 7,437 5,972
Current liabilities............. (168,615) (2,559) (96,666) (318) (5,891) (2,622) (6,935) (11,678)
Non-current liabilities...... (3,355) (107) (2,678) (211) (143) (873) (48) (2,209)
Total eqQUItY oooreesesrrr... 29,009 (3,664) (8,771) (6,462) (8,894) (26,823) (15,065) 4,954
Attributable to:
Equity holders of parent .. 28,433 (2,643) (8,257) (5,434) (8,133) (24,153) (14,126) 4,459
Non-controlling interest... 576 (1,021) (514) (1,028) (761) (2,670) (939) 495
Summarised cash flow information for the year ended December 31, 2016:
SKCC and
subsidiaries KPSC CMP SUNP BMP KMP USP Izhstal
Operating.........cccceveeeenene 14,923 707 14,900 806 (491) 86 2,119 987
INVESEING ..o, 25,989 (554) (8,035) (806) 398 310 (1,226) (33)
Financing.......c.coeeeeeeneeen. (41,114) 200 (6,418) - 151 (396) (839) (949)
(Decrease) increase in
cash and
cash equivalents, net ... (202) 353 447 — 58 — o4 °
Summarised cash flow information for the year ended December 31, 2015:
SKCC and
subsidiaries KPSC CMP BMP KMP uUsP Izhstal
Operating.......c.ccoeeererenenieneas 11,513 924 2,586 1,622 (2,123) 1,926 803
INVEStING .o, (7,894) (584) (12,368) 622 2,352 (3,782) (34)
FINanCing.......c.covvevvevenveeniennns (3,464) (21) 9,482 (2,090) (274) 1,557 (756)
Increase (decrease) in cash
and cash equivalents, net... 155 319 (300) 154 (45) (299) 13
Summarised cash flow information for the year ended December 31, 2014:
SKCC and
subsidiaries KPSC CMP BMP KMP uUsP Izhstal
Operating........ccceveveeveeeerenuennes 12,980 (497) 15,544 2,163 6,351 1,569 (12)
INVESEING ..eovvviiiieieieieieceens (12,038) (375) (17,492) (1,581) (6,347) (1,981) (49)
FiNANCING ..o (3,901) 401 2,370 (668) (8) 750 29
Increase (decrease) in cash
and cash equivalents, net... (2,959) (471) 422 (86) (4) 338 (32)
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8. Investments in associates

Investments in associates are comprised of:

Percent of shares held at Investment carrying value at
December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,
Investee 2016 2015 2016 2015
Mechel Somani Carbon (Mining segment)...........cc.cccceee.. 51.0% 51.0% - 45
TPTU (Mining SEgMENL) ....ccveeieeieiiiierieeeeie e 40.0% 40.0% 175 157
TRMZ (Mining SEgMENt) .......covevreereerneeeesseeesseeseriesessenens 25.0% 25.0% 90 82
Total investments in assoCiates.........c.covervreereenecenean 265 284

Mechel Somani Carbon Private Limited shares are owned by Mechel Carbon AG. The core business is distribution of
metallurgical coals on the Indian market. Despite the ownership of 51% of Mechel Somani Carbon shares the Group cannot
exercise control over the company. As of December 31, 2016, the Group recognized a provision of RUB 42 million for this
investment.

TPTU (Tomusinskiy Transportation Management Center) shares are owned by SKCC. The core business is provision of
transportation services both to the Group’s subsidiaries and third parties.

TRMZ (Tomusinskiy Auto Repair Shop) shares are owned by SKCC. TRMZ provides repair services to the Group’s
subsidiaries.

The following table shows movements in the investments in associates:

Mechel Somani BWS
Carbon Private Bewehrungsstahl
Limited TPTU TRMZ GmbH (Austria)
(Mining segment)  (Mining segment)  (Mining segment) (Steel segment) Total
January 1, 2014.........cceuenen. 17 148 79 7 251
Share of profit (10sS)............... 6 7 1 @) 7
Disposal of investments.......... - - - () 1)
Exchange differences ............. 16 - - 1 17
December 31, 2014................ 39 155 80 - 274
Share of (loss) profit............... (5) 2 3 - -
Exchange differences ............. 10 - - - 10
December 31, 2015................ 44 157 83 - 284
Share of (loss) profit............... - 18 7 - 25
Provision for impairment of
INVEStMENtS .......ccccovereriennn (42) - - - (42)
Exchange differences ............. (2 - - - (2
December 31, 2016................ - 175 9 - 265
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9. Fair value measurement

Set out below is a comparison by class of the carrying amounts and fair value of the Group’s financial instruments that are
carried in the consolidated financial statements:

December 31, 2016 December 31, 2015
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
Level amount value amount value
Financial liabilities
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings:
- Floating rate 10ans..........ccccvevvveverieicnciennnn, 3 407,015 357,782 255,931 220,225
S BONAS ..o 1 14,717 12,740 16,684 13,398
- Fixed rate 10ans........cccc.coeeeeeeeveveciciceenn, 3 24,077 23,105 223,367 190,108
Other non-current financial liabilities
(Note 10.4) 3 36,198 25,772 - -
Total 482,007 419,399 495,982 423,731

Management assessed that the fair values of cash and short-term deposits, trade receivables, trade payables, finance lease
liabilities, bank overdrafts and other current liabilities approximate their carrying amounts largely due to the short-term maturities
of these instruments.

The fair value of the financial assets and liabilities is included at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in
a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair values:

Long-term loans and borrowings, other non-current liabilities: the fair values of other non-current liabilities are based on
the present value of the anticipated cash flows and approximate carrying value.

Derivatives: the fair value of derivative financial instruments, including embedded derivatives, is based on quoted market
prices. Where no price information is available from a quoted market source, alternative market mechanisms or recent comparable
transactions, fair value is estimated based on the Group’s views on relevant future prices, net of valuation allowances to
accommodate liquidity, modelling and other risks implicit in such estimates. Option-based derivatives are valued using
Black-Scholes models and Monte-Carlo simulations. The derivative financial instruments are recorded at their fair value at each
reporting date. There are no such financial instruments as of December 31, 2016.

The movement of financial instruments measured at the fair value using unobservable inputs (Level 2 and 3) is presented
below:

Contingent
consideration Swap

Drilling Program transactions Option

Level 3 Level 2 Level 2
JANUANY 1, 2014 .....ooiiiiiiicie e e 907 408 415
Remeasurement recognised in OCH ........ccoeveieiinenenenene e 689 - -
Loss on contingent consideration remeasurement ............cc.cceeeverenene. 85 - -
DiSPOSAIAEIMINALION. ... esee e ee e - (408) (415)
DECEMDBDEr 31, 2014 ... 1,681 - -
DiSPOSAIEIMINGLION. ..........veeveeeeeeeeeeeeeseseeeeeese e se s (1,681) - -

DecemMbBEr 31, 2015......cciiieieiiieee s - -

INitial reCOgNITION ....o.eoiiiiicec s - - -
Remeasurement gain/loSs ..........covoieirerereeieeee e - - -

DECEMDBDEN 31, 2016.....ccciiieiiiieeiie ettt

The contingent consideration resulted from the acquisition of Bluestone and its subsidiaries (the BCG Companies) and
measured at fair value is represented by the Drilling Program contingent consideration, which was calculated using estimated
tonnage of coal in-place determined by the independent appraiser. The present value of this liability was determined using an
8% discount rate, stated in the agreement for actual settlement of contingent obligation, which represents the estimate of the
amount that would have been paid if the Group had settled the liability at the balance sheet date. The contingent consideration
was released on the date of transfer of the BCG Companies’ shares on February 12, 2015.
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10. Financial assets and financial liabilities

10.1 Financial liabilities: interest-bearing loans and borrowings

The Group has the following principal and interest amounts outstanding for interest-bearing loans and bonds:

December 31, 2016

December 31, 2015

Amount of Amount of
Short-term borrowings and current portion of Interest outstanding Interest outstanding
long-term debt rate debt rate debt
In Russian rubles
Banks and financial inStitutions............ccovvvciee e 9.8-14.5 3,458 9.4-16.0 8,239
Corporate IENAErS ......c.ooi i 6.7 64 6.7 65
Weighted average interest rate for the period............ccccceevvennne - 13.9% - 12.9%
In U.S. dollars
Banks and financial inStitutions.............cccovevieiinnneiinen 8.0 154 8.0 310
Weighted average interest rate for the period............cccceevrvennne - 8.0% - 8.0%
In euro
Banks and financial inStitutions.............cccovenieinnneiicen 2.8 114 8.3 3,591
Corporate IENAErS ......ccocviiiiieieie e - - 2.8 182
Weighted average interest rate for the period...........cccceevrvennee - 2.8% - 8.3%
Current portion of long-term debt............ccocoieieiiiiiiniiiiee - 391,781 - 431,812
Interest payable.........coooiiiiiiie - 16,916 - 27,269

Fines and penalties on overdue amounts
Total short-term borrowings and current portion of
long-term debt ..o

- 21,678

434,165

December 31, 2016

- 20,206

491,674

December 31, 2015

Amount of Amount of

Interest outstanding Interest outstanding
Long-term debt rate debt rate debt
In Russian rubles
Banks and financial inStitutionS............ccovvvciee e 5.0-15.0 258,855 10.1-17.0 134,786
BONAS ISSUE......cuiiiiiiiiiiicic et 8.0-15.0 14,365 2.0-15.0 16,551
Corporate IENAErS ......ccocviviiiieieie e 6.7 5 6.7 5
Weighted average interest rate for the period...............cccooco.c. - 12.5% - 12.9%
In U.S. dollars
Banks and financial inStitutions.............coceeiiiniicciiine 2.2-8.2 107,346 1.8-8.0 260,212
Weighted average interest rate for the period...............cccooco.c. - 8.2% - 8.0%
Ineuro
Banks and financial inStitutions.............coceeveeiinincciiine 0.8-7.3 22,854 0.8-5.7 24,566
Weighted average interest rate for the period............cccccevrvenne - 4.5% - 4.5%
Current part of long-term loans and borrowings...................... (391,781) (431,812)
Total long-term debt...........coooiiiiiiii e 11,644 4,308

Aggregate scheduled maturities of the debt outstanding as of December 31, 2016, were as follows:

Payable by
ON demand (CUFTENE POFLION) ......c.eiuiiieiteiee ettt ettt ettt e et tesee e eseese e e eseebeebese e ee e emeebeeaeabeeeeebeseeneaseebeabesbesse e eneeneeneanas 427,400
2017 (current portion) 6,764
2018t h £ £ £ R b E R R £ R R SRR £ £ £ b h e E SRR £ R R R AL e R R b E R £ b bbbt ettt 3,161
2009 LR E bR R R E bbbt 3,572
20201ttt h R R e bR bR Rt bbbt 2,921
202 bR E R bR R R bbb 1,991
LI (Ui (=] SOOI -
TOTAL . E bR R bbbttt 445,809
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The unused portion under all credit facilities as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 was RUB 373 million and RUB 409 million,
respectively.

The outstanding balances of principal amount of short-term and long-term debt by denominated currencies and major banks
as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 were as follows:

December 31, December 31,
Short-term and long-term debt 2016 2015
Russian ruble-denominated
GAZPIOMDANK ...ttt ettt bttt ae et b e e neere e 153,614 33,639
R 1 SRS 71,711 70,415
SBBIDANK. ... et ettt 31,106 32,141
0] 0 T S 14,365 16,551
L0 1] o OSSOSO 3,116 3,331
Eurasian DevelopmENt BanK ...........cciiiiiiiiiiiiiiici st 1,227 1,767
RAITIRISEN BANK ... .cvviviciiiiiiii ettt st et e b e be st e sb e st ereeneenas 490 897
OBNBT et ee et en e e en e en e eeeneees 1,119 905
TOTAL oottt 276,748 159,646
U.S. dollar-denominated
Pre-eXPOIt TACHTITY .....cvveiiiiiiti ettt b et st b e et e neens 60,898 72,881
3] 4T 0T RS 21,811 56,609
R SRS 10,147 12,192
2] LSS 9,251 10,955
1 2 SRS 5,041 6,311
(CF: 74 o] (o] 1110 TSSO - 101,156
(] 1 1Y TP 351 418
L] 72 OO 107,499 260,522
Euro-denominated
BINP L.t b bbb bbb e bbb b 9,460 11,505
VT B ettt bbb bbb bR bbb bbbt 3,214 4,098
BINL ..ttt bbb bbb bbb bRt b s b 2,736 3,364
UniCredit Bank (former Bayerische Hypo-und-Vereinshank) ..........ccccoevviiviiiene e, 2,723 3,345
ING BANK ...ttt sttt e et ne ettt n e et ne e ne et e neenen 1,997 2,461
RAITFEISEN BANK .....c.eiiiicei et et e et e e e b e sne s 381 475
NI ..o vvet ettt s 2,457 3,001
TOTAL oottt 22,968 28,339
Total short-term and 1ong-term debt ..o 407,215 448,507

(a) Pre-export facility agreement

As of December 31, 2016, pre-export facility agreement (represented by the syndicate of banks — CJSC UniCredit Bank,
Caterpillar Financial, ING Bank N.V. and other) bears interest at 1M LIBOR plus 5.5% p.a. (or 7.5% p.a. if payments are
overdue). The outstanding balances as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 were RUB 60,898 million ($1,003,964 thousand at
exchange rate as of December 31, 2016) and RUB 72,881 million ($999,970 thousand at exchange rate as of December 31, 2015),
respectively.

As of December 31, 2016, the Group’s overdue principal amount and overdue interest on pre-export facility agreement
amounted to RUB 60,897 million and RUB 7,123 million, respectively, as of December 31, 2015 — RUB 38,049 million and
RUB 3,857 million, respectively.

As of December 31, 2016, the Group was in the process of negotiation with the syndicate of banks in order to reach the
restructuring agreements for the pre-export credit facility. In February 2017, a number of lenders under pre-export facility
agreements filed 14 requests for arbitration with the LCIA.

The fines and penalties on overdue amounts of RUB 20 million and RUB 28 million were recorded in interest-bearing loans
and borrowings in the consolidated statement of financial position as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively. The amount
of RUB 427 million and RUB 165 million was recorded as finance costs in the consolidated statements of profit (loss) and other
comprehensive income (loss) for the year ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.
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(b) VTB facilities

In December 2016, the Group signed amendments to the restructuring agreements providing with an extension of the
repayment grace period until April 2020 and the final maturity until April 2022 for the credit facilities of Mechel PAO, CMP,
SKCC and Yakutugol in the total amount of RUB 71,711 million. The extension of the grace period was subject to certain
conditions such as guarantees on a full amount from Mechel PAO and CMP which shall be provided till March 31, 2017 and
compliance with covenants set by the agreements (in case of breach of covenants the grace period is moved to April 2017 and the
final maturity — to April 2020). Interest rate under the restructured agreements is set at the level of the key rate of the Central
Bank of Russia plus 1.5% starting from April 2016 (subject to increase to 2.35% through January 6, 2018, and 2.99% afterwards
if certain conditions are not met). In April 2017, the conditions were met resulting in the extended repayment grace period until
2020 and the final maturity until 2022 (see Note 29). Fines and penalties accrued prior to the restructuring date (December 23,
2016) were waived according to the restructured agreements (apart from the most significant amount of penalties accrued on
credit facility of Mechel PAO - see details below).

The outstanding balances of the ruble-denominated facilities as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 were RUB 71,711 million
and RUB 70,415 million, respectively, bearing interest at 11.5% p.a.

During 2010-2015, VTB provided euro-denominated loans to the Group, bearing interest at 5.3%-7.3% p.a. In December
2016, the Group signed the prolongation agreement providing with the final maturity until April 2022 for the euro-denominated
credit facility of MCAG in the amount of RUB 2,812 million. The outstanding balances as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 were
RUB 3,214 million and RUB 4,098 million, respectively.

As of December 31, 2016, there was no overdue principal amount and overdue interest on VTB credit facilities, as of
December 31, 2015, the Group’s overdue principal amount was RUB 45 million. The fines and penalties on overdue amounts of
RUB 10,5972 million and RUB 10,689 million were recorded in interest-bearing loans and borrowings in the consolidated
statement of financial position as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively. The amount of RUB 184 million and
RUB 9,704 million was recorded as finance costs in the consolidated statements of profit (loss) and other comprehensive income
(loss) for the year ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.

(©) Gazprombank facilities

In 2015, the Group signed restructuring agreements (became effective in 2016) providing with an extension of the
repayment grace period until April 2017 and the final maturity until April 2020 for the credit facilities of SKCC, Yakutugol,
CMP, Mechel Service, Mechel-Energo, BMP, Port Posiet, Mechel Coke and USP in the total amount of RUB 150,809 million as
of December 31, 2016. The repayment grace period and final maturity may be extended until April 2020 and April 2022,
respectively, if certain conditions are met. In April 2017, the conditions were met resulting in the extended repayment grace
period until 2020 and the final maturity until 2022 (see Note 29). Interest rate under the restructured agreements is set at the level
of the Central Bank of Russia rate plus 1.5% since the effective date of the restructuring (subject to increase to 3.5% if certain
conditions are not met). The extended grace period, final maturity and interest rate set in April 2017 were subject to similar terms
with Sherbank and VTB. The restructuring under SKCC and Yakutugol U.S. dollar-denominated credit facilities became effective
in January-March 2016. The restructuring under CMP, Mechel Service, Mechel-Energo, BMP, Port Posiet, Mechel Coke, SKCC
and USP ruble-denominated credit facilities became effective in June 2016.

During 2011-2015, Gazprombank provided ruble-denominated long-term and short-term loans to the Group bearing interest
at 9.8%-11.5% p.a. with the outstanding balance of RUB 33,639 million as of December 31, 2015. During 2009-2013,
Gazprombank provided dollar-denominated long-term loans to the Group bearing interest at 5.9%-7.5% p.a. The outstanding
balance of U.S. dollar-denominated debt as of December 31, 2015 was RUB 101,156 million ($1,387,930 thousand at exchange
rate as of December 31, 2015) and it was converted from U.S. dollar into Russian ruble based on market exchange rate at the date
of the conversion during the restructuring in 2016. Upon the conversion, the outstanding loan balance as of December 31, 2016
was RUB 153,614 million.

2 According to the restructuring terms, after the Group pays RUB 895 million by equal quarterly instalments within 36 months after
October 13, 2015, penalties in the amount of RUB 9,761 million are to be cancelled.
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As of December 31, 2016, there was no overdue principal amount and overdue interest on Gazprombank credit facilities.
As of December 31, 2015, the Group’s overdue principal amount and overdue interest amounted to RUB 36,308 million and
RUB 11,362 million, respectively. The fines and penalties on overdue amounts of RUB 7,450 million and RUB 6,026 million
were recorded in interest-bearing loans and borrowings in the consolidated statement of financial position as of December 31,
2016 and 2015, respectively. The amount of RUB 2,031 million and RUB 5,179 million was recorded as finance costs in
the consolidated statements of profit (loss) and other comprehensive income (loss) for the year ended December 31, 2016 and
2015, respectively.

(d) Sberbank facilities

In 2016, the Group signed restructuring agreements and amicable settlements agreement approved by the courts with
Sberbank. Those agreements provided with an extension of the repayment grace period until April 2017 and the final maturity
until April 2020 for credit facilities in the amount of RUB 51,103 million of CMP, SKCC and MTAG. The repayment grace
period and final maturity may be extended until January 2020 and April 2022, respectively, if certain conditions such as cross
pledges between facilities and cross guarantees are met. In April 2017, the conditions were met resulting in the extended
repayment grace period until 2020 and the final maturity until 2022 (see Note 29). For the credit facilities of CMP, Izhstal, BFP,
KMP, Yakutugol and SKCC in the amount of RUB 1,814 million the final maturity was determined to be October 2017. Interest
rate under the restructured agreements is set at the level of the Central Bank of Russia rate plus 1.5% (subject to increase to 3.5%
if certain conditions are not met) and in U.S. dollars at a rate 3M LIBOR + 7% starting from April 2016. According to the
restructuring agreements, fines and penalties were fixed at RUB 1.7 billion (at exchange rate as of December 31, 2015).

The outstanding balances of the ruble-denominated facilities as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 were RUB 31,106 million
and RUB 32,141 million, respectively, bearing interest at 11.5% p.a. The outstanding balances of the dollar-denominated facilities
as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 were RUB 21,811 million ($359,587 thousand at exchange rate as of December 31, 2016) and
RUB 56,609 million ($776,715 thousand at exchange rate as of December 31, 2015), respectively, bearing interest at 7.9% p.a.
The outstanding balances decreased due to repayment of credit facilities from cash received from the sale of a 49% stake in the
Elga coal complex to Gazprombank and entering into a put option agreement (see Note 6).

As of December 31, 2016, there were no overdue principal amount and overdue interest on Sbherbank credit facilities. As of
December 31, 2015, the Group’s overdue principal amount and overdue interest amounted to RUB 65,778 million and
RUB 5,770 million, respectively.

The fines and penalties on overdue amounts of RUB 2,311 million and RUB 2,681 million were recorded in interest-bearing
loans and borrowings in the consolidated statement of financial position as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.
The amount of RUB 2,244 million and RUB 2,699 million was recorded as finance costs in the consolidated statements of profit
(loss) and other comprehensive income (loss) for the year ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.

(e) VEB facility

The Elgaugol’s outstanding balances under VEB credit facility as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 were RUB 10,147 million
($167,288 thousand at exchange rate as of December 31, 2016) and RUB 12,192 million ($167,288 thousand at exchange rate as
of December 31, 2015), respectively, bearing interest at 8.0% p.a. As of December 31, 2016, the Group’s overdue principal
amount and overdue interest payable on VEB credit facilities amounted to RUB 8,882 million ($146,438 thousand at exchange
rate as of December 31, 2016) and RUB 374 million ($6,163 thousand at exchange rate as of December 31, 2016), respectively,
as of December 31, 2015 — RUB 10,673 million ($146,438 thousand at exchange rate as of December 31, 2015) and
RUB 246 million ($3,369 thousand at exchange rate as of December 31, 2015). The use of proceeds under the facility is limited
to the development of the Elga coal project.

As of December 31, 2016, the Group was in process of negotiation with VEB in order to reach restructuring agreements for
the VEB facility.

The fines and penalties on overdue amounts of RUB 24 million and RUB 18 million were recorded in interest-bearing loans
and borrowings in the consolidated statement of financial position as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively. The amount
of RUB 10 million and RUB 9 million was recorded as finance costs in the consolidated statements of profit (loss) and other
comprehensive income (loss) for the year ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.
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(f) Bonds

On July 30, 2009, Mechel PAO issued 5,000,000 ruble-denominated bonds in an aggregate principal amount of
RUB 5,000 million. The interest rate for the current coupon period amounted to 13.0% p.a. The maturity date is July 15, 2021.
The balance outstanding as of December 31, 2016 was RUB 1,638 million. In July 2016, bonds were restructured and according
to the restructuring terms RUB 317 million were classified as current debt and RUB 1,321 million were classified as long-term
debt as of December 31, 2016. According to the new payment schedule, the amount of RUB 317 million should be paid in 2017,
RUB 352 million — in 2018-2020 and RUB 265 million — in 2021.

On September 7, 2010, Mechel PAO issued two 5,000,000 ruble-denominated bonds in an aggregate principal amount of
RUB 10,000 million. The interest rate for the current coupon period amounted to 15.0% p.a. The maturity date is February 25,
2020. The balance outstanding as of December 31, 2016 was RUB 3,914 million, including RUB 764 million classified as
short-term debt and RUB 3,150 million classified as long-term debt. According to the new payment schedule, the amount of
RUB 764 million should be paid in 2017, RUB 1,005 million — in 2018, RUB 1,406 million — in 2019, and the final payment in
the amount of RUB 739 million should be made in 2020.

On February 22, 2011, Mechel PAO made two issues of 5,000,000 ruble-denominated bonds each in an aggregate principal
amount of RUB 10,000 million. The interest rate for the current coupon period amounted to 8.0% p.a. The maturity date is
February 9, 2021. The option to demand early redemption of the bonds was replaced with the novation agreement approved at
the general meeting of bondholders on August 4, 2016. The balance outstanding as of December 31, 2016 was RUB 820 million
and is classified as long-term debt that should be paid in 2021.

On June 9, 2011, Mechel PAO made two issues of 5,000,000 ruble-denominated bonds each in an aggregate principal
amount of RUB 10,000 million. The interest rate for the current coupon period amounted to 13.5% p.a. The maturity date is
May 27, 2021. The balance outstanding as of December 31, 2016 was RUB 5,110 million. In June 2016, bonds were restructured
and according to the restructuring terms, RUB 1,066 million were classified as current debt and RUB 4,044 million were classified
as long-term debt as of December 31, 2016. According to the new payment schedule, the amount of RUB 1,066 million should
be paid in 2017, RUB 1,138 million — in 2018, RUB 1,152 million in 2019, RUB 1,168 million — in 2020 and RUB 586 million —in
2021.

On June 14, 2011, Mechel PAO issued 5,000,000 ruble-denominated bonds in an aggregate principal amount of
RUB 5,000 million. The interest rate for the current coupon period amounted to 13.5% p.a. The maturity date is June 1, 2021.
The balance outstanding as of December 31, 2016 was RUB 2,883 million. In July 2016, bonds were restructured and according
to the restructuring terms, RUB 616 million were classified as current debt and RUB 2,267 million were classified as long-term
debt as of December 31, 2016. According to the new payment schedule, the amount of RUB 616 million should be paid in 2017,
RUB 648 million — in 2018-2020 and RUB 323 million — in 2021.

(g) Other loans

Other loans represent Russian ruble, U.S. dollar and euro-denominated long-term and short-term loans bearing interest at 0.8%-
15% p.a. The outstanding balance under other loan agreements amounted to RUB 40,350 million and RUB 48,825 million as of
December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.

As of December 31, 2016, the Group was in process of negotiation with other banks (such as BNP, BNL, ING, Raiffeisen
Bank and other international banks) in order to reach restructuring agreements for the related credit facilities.

As of December 31, 2016, the Group’s overdue principal amount and overdue interest on other loans amounted to
RUB 11,447 million and RUB 1,120 million, respectively, as of December 31, 2015 — RUB 10,436 million and RUB 735 million,
respectively. The fines and penalties on overdue amounts of RUB 1,276 million and RUB 764 million were recorded in
interest-bearing loans and borrowings in the consolidated statement of financial position as of December 31, 2016 and 2015,
respectively. The amount of RUB 642 million and RUB 769 million was recorded as finance costs in the consolidated statements
of profit (loss) and other comprehensive income (loss) for the year ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively. The amount
of RUB 36 million of waived fines and penalties (due to the restructuring of MCB credit facilities) was recorded as finance
income in the consolidated statements of profit (loss) and other comprehensive income (loss) for the year ended December 31,
2016.

In 2010-2016, the Group signed revolving credit agreements for working capital financing up to RUB 3,914 million with
several banks. These revolving credit lines allow the Group to withdraw, repay and re-draw in the agreed amounts, timing and
number of times until the arrangement expires. Borrowings bear interest at 5.3-14.5% p.a.
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(h) Pledges

In order to secure bank financings, the Group pledged shares in certain key subsidiaries, including 100% — 1 share of
Yakutugol, 75% + 4 shares of SKCC, 91.66% of CMP, 50% + 2 shares of common shares of BMP, 80% + 3 shares of KMP,
62.5% of Mechel Mining, 80% — 5 shares of USP, 33.33% + 1 share of common shares of Izhstal, 25% + 1 share of Port Posiet,
50.99% of Elgaugol, 25% of registered capital of Mecheltrans, 100% of registered capital of Fincom-invest OO0, 25% of BFP,
25% of Mechel Temryuk, 1.99% of Mecheltrans Vostok OOO, 1.99% of Elga-road as of December 31, 2016.

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the carrying value of property, plant and equipment pledged under the loan agreements
amounted to RUB 117,047 million and RUB 33,510 million, respectively (Note 18). Carrying value of inventories pledged under
the loan agreements amounted to RUB 3,668 million and RUB 4,037 million as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.
Accounts receivable pledged as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 amounted to RUB 238 million and RUB 273 million,
respectively. Additionally, CMP pledged its rights to receive future payments (revenue) related to the contract with OJSC Russian
Railways in the amount of RUB 6,066 million ($100 million).®

(i) Covenants

The Group’s loan agreements contain a number of covenants and restrictions, which include, but are not limited to, financial
ratios, minimum value of shareholders’ equity and certain cross-default provisions. The covenants also include, among other
restrictions, limitations on: (1) raising of additional borrowings; (2) amount of dividends in common and preferred shares; and
(3) amounts that can be spent for capital expenditures, new investments and acquisitions. Covenant breaches if not waived
generally permit lenders to demand accelerated repayment of principal and interest.

The Group was required to comply with the following ratios under the most significant loan agreements as of December 31,
20164

Actual as of

December 31,
Restrictive covenant Requirement 2016
Mechel’s EBITDA to Net Interest Expense................... Shall not be less than 1.25:1.0 1.36:1.0
Mechel’s EBITDA to Consolidated Financial Expense. Shall not be less than 1.25:1.0 1.28:1.0
Mechel’s Net Debt to EBITDA .......ccooviiiiiiieeeee, Shall not exceed 9.00:1.0 7.18:1.0
Mechel’s Total Debt to EBITDA ........cccooeiiieieeee. Shall not exceed 7.50:1.0 7.48:1.0

As of December 31, 2016, the Group was in compliance with major Group’s restrictive financial covenants under the
restructured loan agreements with the Russian state banks (Gazprombank, Sberbank and VTB). However, the Group was not in
compliance with covenants contained in the loan agreements with foreign banks (such as Net Borrowings to EBITDA ratio,
EBITDA to Net Interest Expense ratio and targeted amount of Adjusted Shareholder’s Equity). There was a default on payments
of principal and interest in the amount of RUB 81,226 million and RUB 8,617 million, respectively, which is represented primarily
by the default of the pre-export facility agreement (Note 10.1(a)) and ECA-covered loans (represented by the credit facilities of
BNP, BNL, ING, Raiffeisen Bank and other international banks — Note 10.1(g)). As a result, the long-term debt of RUB 260,653
million was reclassified to short-term liabilities as of December 31, 2016.

CMP’s accounts receivable from OJSC Russian Railways as of December 31, 2016 amounted to RUB 1,166 million.
4 Net Debt and Total Debt are calculated according to the respective definitions set by the credit agreements. Generally, Total Debt includes
outstanding loans, finance lease, bonds and other financial liability balances; Net Debt is equal to Total Debt less cash and cash equivalents,
and excludes Net Debt of Elgaugol (set by the VEB credit facility).
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10.2 Financial instruments risk management objectives and policies

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. Management reviews and agrees policies for
managing each of these risks, which are summarised below.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that arises when the maturity of assets and liabilities does not match. An unmatched position
potentially enhances profitability, but can also increase the risk of losses. The Company has procedures with the object of
minimizing such losses such as maintaining sufficient cash and other highly liquid current assets to meet its liabilities as and
when they fall due.

As of December 31, 2016, the Group was in breach of a number of financial covenants contained in the Group’s loan
agreements, which led to cross-defaults under other loan and finance lease agreements, permitting the respective lenders under
such other facilities to accelerate the payment of principal and interest under their loans.

The following tables show the remaining contractual maturities at the reporting date of the Group’s non-derivative financial
liabilities, which are based on contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest payment computed using contractual rates,
or if floating, based on rates current at the reporting date) and the earliest the Group can be required to pay.

Maturity

More than More than More than
lyearbut  2yearsbut 3 years but

Within less than less than less than More than
On demand 1 year 2 years 3 years 4 years 4 years Total

At December 31, 2016
Loans and borrowings,

including interest payable .... 428,597 8,496 4,688 4,648 3,593 2,455 452,477
Finance lease liabilities........... 7,857 4,456 280 106 83 61 12,843
Trade and other payables........ 435 37,231 448 181 - - 38,295
Other non-current financial

liabilities ......ooevviiiiiciece - - - - - 60,475 60,475

Maturity

More than More than More than
lyearbut 2yearsbut 3 years but

Within less than less than less than More than
On demand 1 year 2 years 3 years 4 years 4 years Total
At December 31, 2015
Loans and borrowings,
including interest payable .... 472,159 23,385 1,542 1,754 2,187 986 502,013
Finance lease liabilities........... 10,534 6,469 360 169 20 1 17,553
Trade and other payables........ 1,038 50,200 15 - - - 51,253
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Credit risk

Credit risk arises when a failure by counterparties to discharge their obligations could reduce the amount of future cash
inflows from financial assets on hand at the reporting date.

The Group is exposed to credit risk from its operating activities (primarily trade receivables) and from its financing activities,
including deposits with banks and financial institutions, foreign exchange transactions and other financial instruments.

Customer credit risk is managed by each subsidiary subject to the Group’s established policy, procedures and control relating
to customer credit risk management. Credit quality of a customer is assessed and individual credit limits are defined in accordance
with this assessment. Outstanding customer receivables are regularly monitored.

The contractual credit period for sales of goods is varied from 30 to 60 days on average. No interest is charged on trade
receivables.

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date on an individual basis for major clients. In addition, a large
number of minor receivables are grouped into homogenous groups and assessed for impairment collectively. The calculation is
based on actual incurred historical data.

The maximum exposure to credit risk arising from the Group’s financial assets is presented as follows:

December 31, December 31,
2016 2015
Restricted cash (excluding cash 0n hand).........ccccoviviiiiiieii s 24 62
Trade and Other FECEIVADIES ...........eiiieeie et e s sbe e s araee s 19,121 16,033
OLher fINANCIAL ASSELS.......eccveiiiiecriecreeetee ettt ettt e e te e e ete e s e ebe e ereeeteesbeesnbeessteesreeenbeenres 415 303
= PrOMISSOIY NOTES.......iiteiti ettt b e b e et e bt et sbeebesee b e e neere e 208 218
= LOANS ISSUBH......ceveevie ittt ettt ettt et e e et et e et e e e te e e beeeateesbeesabeaaesentesenteenbeeateeesseesneeenres 61 72
S BONAS .ttt b e a b e te e beehe e beera e beaatereebe e beareerbeereens 13 13
S DBPOSIES. ..v.cvoivecee ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt 133 -
L0 =1 OSSOSO SR PROTPRR 19,560 16,398

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes
in foreign exchanges rates. This risk arises when commercial transactions and recognised assets and liabilities are denominated
in a currency different from the Group’s functional currency.

The Group undertakes transactions denominated in foreign currencies and consequently is exposed to foreign currency risk.
Approximately 21% of the Group’s sales are denominated in U.S. dollars and 12% of the Group’s sales are denominated in euro,
27% of the Group’s borrowings are denominated in U.S. dollars and 6% of the Group’s borrowings are denominated in euro.
The Group does not have formal arrangements to mitigate foreign currency risk. However, management of the Group believes
that the foreign currency risk is partly mitigated for the Group by the situation where approximately 33% of total sales of the
Group are denominated in U.S. dollars and euro that reduces negative impact of changes in exchange rates for the Group’s
borrowings and purchases denominated in foreign currencies, mostly in U.S. dollars. The Group does not currently use derivative
instruments to manage exchange rate exposures.
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The Group’s exposure at the reporting date to foreign currency risk arising from recognised assets and liabilities
denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the entity to which they relate to is set out in the table below:

December 31, December 31,

Assets and liabilities denominated in U.S. dollars 2016 2015

(O =T ] =TT E Y 225 2,549
RECEIVADIES. ...ttt et e e st e e ettt e e s bt e e s s b e e e e ssbteessabeessabanesranas 156 1,399
Cash and €ash EQUIVAIENTS .......c..ciiiiiieeeee e et re s 69 1,150
CUFTENT HADTITIES ...ttt st bese e re e (124,281) (301,442)
Short-term 10ans and DOITOWINGS. .......cciiiieriiiee i re e (113,327) (279,905)
ShOrt-tErM PAYADIES.......cviitiiiieic ettt (9,433) (19,405)
Short-term finance 16ase lability..........cccooeiiiiiiiiii e (1,521) (2,132)

December 31, December 31,

Assets and liabilities denominated in euro 2016 2015

(O T =T ] =TT £ 534 3,096
RECEIVADIES. ...t b bbbt 353 1,939
Cash and €ash EQUIVAIENTS .......cvciiiiiieeiece et re e 181 1,157
NON-CUFTENT HADIIITIES ....eviiiicic ettt ens (38) (97)
Long-term 10ans and DOITOWINGS ........cviviriiieieiee ettt s re b enas (38) (64)
Long-term finance [ease Hability .........c..ccocovoiiiiii i - (33)
CUITENT HADIITIES ...vcviiviiiciec et b e s bbb e neere e (23,766) (30,705)
Short-term 10ans and DOITOWINGS. .......cciiiieiiice it (22,817) (28,544)
ShOrt-tErM PAYADIES.......cviitiiiieec ettt (838) (1,936)
Short-term finance 1ease lability..........cccooieriiiiiiiiiic e (111) (225)

December 31,

December 31,

Currency exchange rates 2016 2015
LS. GOIIA 1 60.6569 72.8827
BUTO s 63.8111 79.6972

Sensitivity analysis

The table below demonstrates the Group’s sensitivity to a devaluation of the Russian ruble against U.S. dollar and euro

which management believes is an appropriate measure in the current market conditions and which would impact its operations:

Change in
U.S. dollar to
Russian ruble

Effect on profit

Change in
Euro to
Russian ruble

Effect on profit

exchange rate before tax exchange rate before tax

2014

+30% 68,671 +30% 7,070

-30% (68,671) -30% (7,070)
2015

+40% 119,557 +40% 11,082

-15% (44,834) -15% (4,156)
2016

+20% 24,811 +20% 4,654

-20% (24,811) -20% (4,654)
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Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in floating interest rates will adversely impact the financial results of the Group.
As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the shares of the borrowings with floating rates in the total amount of the borrowings were
91% (incl. Mosprime — 0.1%, key rate of the Central Bank of Russia — 62%, LIBOR, EURIBOR and others — 29%) and
53% (incl. Mosprime — 0.2%, key rate of the Central Bank of Russia — 14%, LIBOR, EURIBOR and others — 39%), respectively.

The table below demonstrates the Group’s sensitivity to change of floating rates.

Increase/
decrease in
MosPrime and Increase/ Increase/decre
Central Bank of  Effect on profit decrease in Effect on profit ase in Effect on profit
Russia rate (%) before tax LIBOR (%) before tax EURIBOR (%) before tax
2014
+9.32% 4,395 +0.02% 12 +0.07% 13
-9.32% (4,395) -0.02% (12) -0.07% (13)
2015
+6% 3,312 +0.5% 662 +0.25% 62
-5% (2,760) -0.12% (159) -0.25% (62)
2016
+2% 4,943 +0.6% 736 +0.12% 28
-4% (9,887) -0.08% (98) -0.08% (19)

10.3 Other current financial assets

In November 2011, the owners of the former Estar metallurgical plants and the Group entered into a loan agreement pursuant
to which a loan of $944,530 thousand (RUB 28,433 million at exchange rate as of November 10, 2011) was granted by the Group.
The loan consists of several tranches which bear interest at the range of 1-8.5% p.a. To secure the loan, shares in the major former
Estar metallurgical plants (or shares in parent companies of such metallurgical plants) were pledged. The proceeds from this loan
were used by the former Estar metallurgical plants to repay most of the accounts receivable owed to the Group. According to
the loan agreement, in the event that the loan is not repaid at maturity (September 30, 2012), the Group was entitled to enforce
the pledge over the pledged former Estar metallurgical plants assets and thereby take control of these assets subject to approval
from the Russian Federal Antimonopoly Service.

In September 2012, the Group extended the term of the loan for additional nine months from October 1, 2012, the pledges
and guarantees remained the same. From September through December 2012, the loan was partially repaid in the amount of
$213,360 thousand (RUB 6,654 million at the average rate for the period from September till December 2012). To make this
repayment, the owners of the former Estar metallurgical plants used the proceeds received by them from the Group for the sale
of Cognor and proceeds under a security deposit, as discussed further below. During the year ended December 31, 2013,
$5,000 thousand (RUB 154 million at exchange rate as of March 19, 2013) were repaid and the owners of the former Estar
metallurgical plants returned the security deposit paid by the Group in the end of 2012 for the acquisition of some assets pledged
under the loan agreement.

The Group evaluates the recoverability of the loan amount based on the fair value of the pledged assets which, as of
December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, was RUB nil. This resulted in a $830,288 thousand (RUB 50,320 million at exchange rate
as of December 31, 2016), $830,421 thousand (RUB 60,620 million at exchange rate as of December 31, 2015) and
$832,013 thousand (RUB 46,742 million at exchange rate as of December 31, 2014) provision for doubtful accounts under this
loan as of December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively. The Group has not taken possession of assets provided as collateral
because these entities are under the bankruptcy procedure and burdened with substantial amount of debt.

10.4 Other non-current financial liabilities

As of December 31, 2016, the Group recognized other non-current financial liabilities under the put option of Gazprombank
(see Note 6) in the amount of RUB 36,198 million (estimated at present value of the consideration to be transferred upon the
exercise of the put option discounted at an interest rate of 12%). The respective finance cost was recognized in the consolidated
statement of profit (loss) and other comprehensive income (loss) (Note 26.5).
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11. Cash and cash equivalents

December 31, December 31,
2016 2015

Cash and cash equivalents from continuing operations:
(OF: T o oL g 1 - T o USSP 8 8
Cash at banks, including
= TN RUSSIAN TUDIES ... ..eiciecieccte et be e te s te et e sne e e e esaesbeeneeseenreens 683 628
-inUS.dollars.....cccccoevvveenneen. 482 1,150
o [ =101 o R 404 1,157
- in other currencies 109 135
Other cash and cash eqUIVAIENTS ...........coiiiiiiiiiec e 3 1
Total cash and cash eqQUIVAIENTS ..o 1,689 3,079

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, bank overdrafts are deducted from cash and cash equivalents in the amount
of RUB 236 million and RUB 2,188 million as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Group did not have any short-term deposits with original maturities of less than
90 days.

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the amount of RUB 24 million and RUB 62 million, respectively, was restricted for
use by regulatory requirements.

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Group had available RUB 373 million and RUB 409 million, respectively, of
undrawn committed borrowing facilities.

12. Trade and other receivables

December 31, December 31,
2016 2015
Trade receivables, including 24,325 26,895
- domestic customers 20,436 22,342
- foreign customers................... 3,889 4,553
OtNET TECRIVADIES™ ...ttt ettt eeeee et e et ee et et et et et eren s neneene 28,670 29,336
Total trade and 0ther reCeIVADIES. .........c..oiiiiie e 52,995 56,231
Less allowance for dOUDTFUL BCCOUNTS™ .........c.oveeieeeeeeeeeeeees et etese et eee et ene s ee s eneneee e ereneees (33,941) (40,218)
Total accounts reCeivable, NEL.........c.ov i e ae s 19,054 16,013
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As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the ageing analysis of trade receivables were as follows:

December 31, December 31,
2016 2015

TOtal FECEIVADIES ..ottt sttt re et 52,995 56,231
Past due but not impaired
B0 TAYS cvvtvereeeieieseset ettt bbbt b et bbbt b bbbt 2,739 2,338
3060 GAYS v.vveveeeerieteierereirese sttt sttt b ettt b bRttt et e b 528 661
BL-90 TAYS ..ttt ettt ettt ettt bRt R e bRt R e Rt R e e et et en e e e Rt Rt be b e et ereene e 201 241
O1-180 TAYS -.venvereemeerestenteseeneese et eteateebeseeste e e ne et e abeebesbeebe e et eR e Rt Re ek e b et e Rt et e Rt Rt e beebe et ereenenre s 476 248
18L-365 TAYS ... veuveueeueeieete ettt ettt ettt ettt b et et b e et b e Rt be st et et e Rt e Rt e Rt be bt ae et ereeneenas 362 327
>1 year 183 615
Total past due, but NOt IMPAITE .........ccoiiiiciiiec e 4,489 4,430

Receivables that were past due but not impaired amounted to RUB 4,489 million and RUB 4,430 million as of December 31,
2016 and 2015, respectively. Based on past experience, management believes that no allowance is necessary in respect of
receivables that were past due but not impaired as there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the balances are
still considered fully recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

The movements in the allowance for doubtful accounts on trade and other receivables were as follows:

Total
F AN AN =TT = Y 2 O OSSOSO (27,362)
(01 aF oo (o] g (LT OSSPSR (3,203)
ULiliSEd/UNUSEA AMOUNTS FEVEISEU .....evieveiiteiie ittt sttt ete et be e sbe e e e sbe e s e sbeesaesbe et e sbeesbesbeesbesbeasseessebesaeesbesbeenbesbeessesteens -
DiSPOSAl OF SUDSIAIAIIES ... ..vivviuvesietieteiteitei ettt ettt st et e st beeb e s b et e s b e se e st eseebe et e st et e s eneeteebesaesbesbeseensareatens 153
Reclassified in assets of disposal group held fOr SAIE ...........ccvciiiiiiiicice e 9
EXCRANGE FALE GIFFEIENCE ......voveceeeeceeecee ettt et s ettt s s st s st es st s s ss et enneas (8,479)
F AN B =Tor=T g o LT R H T O SRRSO (38,882)
(01 aF oo (o] g (LT OO OSSPSR (1,152)
ULilised/UNUSEA @MOUNES TEVEISEA .......vveieveicriietie et e ctee ettt ete e et e ete e et e e teesteeesbeeesteesbeesabeeabessaseesseeabesaseeebeessseanbesaseennreeans 261
DiSPOSAl OF SUDSIAIAIIES ... eeaeietieteete ettt ettt ettt ettt e b e be s e e s e s e e meeheebeebese e b e e emeebeebeseesbeabeseensaseanea 10
Reclassified in assets of disposal group held fOr SAIE ........ ... 25
EXCNANGE FALE GITFEIENCE ..........vvevececececect ettt ettt bbb s st sn st (480)
AL DECEMDET 31, 2015, ... cuteiiitietiiteite ettt sttt e et te st et e be s b e s esseteeheebe s b e b e s e Rt et s eReeReebeebe b e st eReeReeReebebente et e tentereareas (40,218)
Charge for the year (613)
ULiliSEd/UNUSEA AMOUNTS FEVEISEU .....eviiveiireiie ettt ete et te e sbe e e e sbe e s e sbeesaesbeesbesbeesbesbeesbesbeasseersebesasesbesbeenbesbsessesteens 6,637
Reclassified in assets of disposal group held fOr SAIE ........ ... 11
EXCNANGE TALE QIFIEIENCE ....cv.icveceeceeeeeeee et e teete et eet e et est e et est st s st en st en s st ent s et ens s s s enses et s sen et ensensnsensessnsanens 242
/AL DECEIMDET 31, 20L6....ccvvvvoreeeeeseeeeeseeeeesessssseseeesssssseessssssssssessseseessessseeeeessssssseeeessseeeeesseseseesssseseseeees e eeeesssesseseseseees (33.941)

As of December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, receivables from related parties in the amount of RUB 24,539 million,
RUB 24,035 million and RUB 24,254 million, respectively, are included into Other receivables. The amounts are fully covered
by the allowance (Note 13(b)).
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13. Related party disclosures
Note 1 provides information about the Group’s structure, including details of the subsidiaries and the holding company.

The following table provides the total amount of transactions that have been entered into with the related parties in 2016, 2015
and 2014.

2016 2015 2014
Other loss Other loss Other loss
Purchases Sales (income) Purchases Sales (income) Purchases Sales (income)
Associates 200 117 (11) 199 80 28 284 91 2)
Controlling shareholders
and entities under
control of the Group’s
1li
R 278 45 41 261 37 (23) 94 25 133
Total 478 162 30 460 117 5 378 116 131

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Group had the following balances in settlement with related parties:

December 31, 2016 December 31, 2015
Total Total
Receivables Payables outstanding, Receivables Payables outstanding,
from to net from to net

Associates 33 (55) (22) 8 (50) (42)
Controlling shareholders and entities under control

of the Group’s Controlling shareholders................ 70 (37) 33 88 (28) 60
TOUAl oo 103 (92) 11 96 (78) 18

(@) Transactions with the associates

The Group’s associates provide to the Group’s subsidiaries transportation and auto repair services. During the years ended
December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, the Group purchased from its associates transportation services in the amount of
RUB 114 million, RUB 105 million and RUB 166 million, respectively, and repair services in the amount of RUB 86 million,
RUB 94 million and RUB 86 million, respectively.

(b) Controlling shareholders and entities under control of the Group's Controlling shareholders

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the amounts of accounts receivable fully covered by the allowance included amounts
receivable of RUB 24,539 million and RUB 24,035 million, respectively, described below. In December 2013, the Group, related
party (an entity wholly owned by the Controlling Shareholder) and the former Estar metallurgical plants signed an assignment
agreement. Under that agreement, the Group assigned to its related party the right to collect amounts due from the former Estar
metallurgical plants, and the related party is to repay this amount to the Group through November 2017.

The outstanding cash balance in Coalmetbank was RUB 200 million and RUB 1,580 million as of December 31, 2016 and
December 31, 2015, respectively.

(c) Compensation to key management personnel

The total compensation to key management personnel was included in general and administrative expenses in the
consolidated statement of profit (loss) and other comprehensive income (loss) and consisted of the short-term employee benefits
in the amount of RUB 543 million, RUB 481 million and RUB 291 in the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014,
respectively. There are no share-based payments to key management personnel. The Group’s directors and executive officers are
also provided with voluntary medical insurance and the use of wireless services.
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14. Inventories

December 31, December 31,

2016 2015
RAW MALEIIAIS ... ittt ettt ettt e e s st e e s s bt e e e ettt e e s bt e e s sbtasaessbteessabesssabeaesrenas 13,666 11,496
RTAY o QT o (0T (=T3PPSR 5,654 5,769
Finished goods and goods fOr FESAIE............ccccveuiveeieeiieeeeees et enees 15,907 17,924
Total inventories at the lower of cost and net realizable value ............c..coccoeveivieie e, 35,227 35,189

During 2016, RUB 364 million (2015: RUB 1,003 million, 2014: RUB 1,360 million) was recognised as an expense within
cost of goods sold for inventories carried at net realisable value. The amount of inventories recognised as an expense during
the period was RUB 95,019 million for 2016 (2015: RUB 100,577 million, 2014: RUB 99,934 million).

15. Other current and non-current assets

December 31, December 31,
2016 2015
Other current assets
Prepayments and A0VANCES ........cvoieieieierieieee ettt ettt sbesbe st eeseeseebeseesaeseeneeseeneenas 3,873 3,545
Input VAT and other taxes reCOVEIabIe............cviiiiiiiiiiiie et 3,000 2,976
OLhEI CUITENE ASSELS ....v.cvovcveceeieteeseeet et eses ettt ettt et s et en et e sttt eneesetnens 69 1,670
Total prepayments and 0ther CUITENT @SSES.........cccviviieiiiiiieie e 6,942 8,191
December 31, December 31,
2016 2015
Other non-current assets
Deferred assets from sale and 1€ase DaCK............ccceviiieiiiiecii s 306 339
Advance payment to non state pension fund - 462
OLhEr NON-CUITENT @SSELS .......cv.vvvereeseteeeeeesses et ese s et ent st e sttt ene s et en e st en e st sesesanens 585 442
891 1,243

Total OthEr NON-CUITENT GSSELS....viiiiiiiiiiite ettt sttt et sbe s teebe b sbe e e sbe b e sbesraeresnes

The other current assets as of December 31, 2015 reflect the upfront fee in the amount of RUB 1,411 million paid in 2014
to VEB for the opening of the credit line. As of December 31, 2016, the provision for the VEB’s commission was recorded due
to uncertainty in further financing.

Generally in Russia, VAT related to sales is payable to the tax authorities on an accrual basis based upon invoices issued to
the customer. VAT incurred on purchases may be reclaimed, subject to certain restrictions, against VAT related to sales.

As of December 31, 2015, advance payment to non state pension fund (Mechel Fund) of RUB 462 million was made by
Yakutugol based on terms of the agreed pension benefit program. On June 1, 2016, the advance payment in the amount of
RUB 408 million was fully provided for due to revocation of the fund’s license by the Central Bank and existing uncertainty of
its recoverability (Note 23).

Provision for advances issued of RUB 185 million, RUB 355 million and RUB 595 million was included in Allowance for
doubtful accounts in the consolidated statement of profit (loss) and other comprehensive income (loss) for the years ended
December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014.
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16. Discontinued operations

BCG Companies

In December 2014, the Group entered into an agreement with a third party to sell 100% of the shares of the BCG Companies.
The binding agreement was signed on February 12, 2015. The total consideration for the sale of the BCG Companies under
the shares sale agreement consists of: (1) an immediate cash payment of $5,000 thousand (RUB 330 million at exchange rate of
66.0585 RUB/USD as of February 12, 2015); (2) future royalty payments on coal mined and sold in the amount of
3.00 U.S. dollars (RUB 198.2 at exchange rate of 66.0585 RUB/USD as of February 12, 2015) per short ton, capped at
$150,000 thousand (RUB 9,909 million at exchange rate of 66.0585 RUB/USD as of February 12, 2015); (3) a portion of a sale
price in case of any future sale of the BCG Companies and/or its assets, amounting to 12.5% or 10% of the total consideration if
the sale transaction closed within, respectively, five or ten years of the sale to the buyer. The fair value of future royalty payments
and portion of selling price in case of future resale of the BCG Companies was assessed by the Group as RUB nil at the date of
sale.

During 2016, the Group received royalty payments on coal mined and sold in the amount of $1.8 million (RUB 121 million
at the year average exchange rate of 67.04 RUB/USD) (Note 26.6).

The contingent consideration arising upon the acquisition of the BCG Companies of $29,936 thousand (RUB 1,681 million at
exchange rate as of December 31, 2014 and RUB 1,977 million at exchange rate of 66.0585 RUB/USD as of February 12, 2015),
which depends on the results of additional geological researches of reserves (“Drilling Program™), was released on the date of transfer
of shares of February 12, 2015. The Group incurred expenses of $3,415 thousand (RUB 226 million at exchange rate of
66.0585 RUB/USD as of February 12, 2015) related to consulting services from third party banks in connection with the sale.
The disposal of the BCG Companies is aligned with the revised strategy aimed at restructuring the Group’s assets and
development of its core businesses.

The results of operations of BCG Companies are included in the consolidated financial statements as discontinued operations
for the period ended December 31, 2014.

Following the classification of the BCG Companies as held for sale, the fair value less costs to sell of net assets was
determined in accordance with requirements of IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations. As a
result, the impairment loss of RUB 11,653 million was recognised as a loss on discontinued operations for the year ended
December 31, 2014 (including RUB 669 million related to Property, plant and equipment and RUB 10,934 million related to
Mineral licenses and RUB 50 million related to other assets).

The results of the BCG Companies presented as discontinued operations in the consolidated statements of profit (loss) and
other comprehensive income (loss) were as follows:

2015 2014

REVENUE ...ttt bbbt b bbb bbbt b e n e - 389
COSt OF GOOUS SOI .....o.eeeeceeeccee s ettt nensen - (629)
(€1 oISl o] 0] 1 A USSP _ (240)
Selling and diStriDULION EXPENSES .......ccuiiieiieriiieeei ettt ettt be e e ans - (10)
Administrative and other OpPeration EXPENSES ........couirveeiirererierieeie ettt eeresee e - (864)
Other OPErating INCOME ........oiviiiieie ettt ettt e be b et et e e ebesbeeneereeaenean - (207)
FINANCE COSES ...ttt ettt b et b et s e bt ebe s b e e e eee b et ene et e abesbeneeneeneas - (146)
Total other INCOME (EXPENSE), NEL ....eiviriiieieiiiesee ettt sb e ens (34) 64
Impairment loss recognised on the remeasurement to fair value less costs to sell...................... - (11,653)
Loss before tax from discontinued OPerations ............ccocceereieieieiiieise e (34) (13,056)
Tax benefit

Related to current pre-tax profit (I0SS).......ccoeiererieieeriie st - (85)
Transfer of cumulative translation adjustment due to disposal of discontinued operations........ 798 -
Profit (loss) for the year from discontinued 0perations...........cccocvevvvivierenieseneieece e 764 (13,141)
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The major classes of assets and liabilities of the BCG Companies classified as held for sale were as follows:
At February 12, At December 31,

2015 2014

Assets

Cash and Cash EQUIVAIENTS .........ciiiiiieici et b et saenn - 91
Trade and Other reCRIVADIES ...........oii i 139 118
OLNEE CUMTENT @SSELS .....eteteeeaeeteete et ste ettt ettt st et et esae bt et e st e b et es e bt ebesbe et et eneeseeneereabeneenean 251 212
OthEr NON-CUITENT BSSELS ...ttt ettt bbbttt 2,263 1,919
Property, plant and eQUIPMENT...........ooi ittt 428 363
IVHINETAL TICENSES ... ettt et e et tas ettt et e e s e et s et es s et et s e e en e eeteneneaene 7,065 5,993
Assets of disposal group classified as held for Sale.............oco.eeeeeeevecereeeeeeeceeeeee e 10,146 8,696
Liabilities

Trade and Other PAYADIES........c.cii it sbe s 2,297 2,026
PIOVISIONS ...ttt bbbt b bbbt bbbttt et 845 716
PeNSION ODIIGATIONS. ........ouiiiiieie e ettt et st n et e e ean 3,650 3,097
Interest-bearing 10anSs and DOFTOWINGS. .......cviiiiriiie e 727 617
Other NON-CUITENT TIADTHLIES. ........vveieeeeeeeeeeeiet ettt ettt sttt ee st en e 555 470
Liabilities of disposal group classified as held for Sale ..............coccveveevvevieeeiereeeeeeeseis 8,074 6,926
Net assets directly associated with diSPoSal QroUP ........cocooerieieiiiriene e 2,072 1,770

The net cash flows incurred by the BCG Companies were as follows:

For the period

For the year

from January 1 ended
till February 12, December 31,
2015 2014
(@] 4 1S] -1 1] T [OOSR (92) (738)
INVESTING ...ttt sttt a et e bbb e b et st et e be et e e be e be bt e e neeteebenrenrenben - a7
FIMANCING ..o ee e s e eee e s e e ee e s e eeeee s s eeseeeee e e - (105)
NEt CASN OUEFIOW. ... et °1) (860)

SUNP

On 25 May 2013, according to the decision on the closure of the plant the Group approved the plan of staff curtailment.
The number of SUNP’s personnel was reduced to 274 workers as of January 1, 2014. As of December 31, 2014, the number of
personnel increased to 315 workers due to cease of third parties security services and redirection of these functions to SUNP’s
internal employees as part of the Group’s efforts to reduce SUNP’s costs. The impairment of property, plant and equipment and
nickel mineral license of RUB 2,600 million as of January 1, 2014 was recognised to reduce the carrying amount of the assets
and liabilities of SUNP to their realizable value. The impairment of goodwill in the amount of RUB 184 million was recognised
as of January 1, 2014.

Starting the fourth quarter of 2016, the Group stopped liquidation activities on SUNP and the company was involved into
operations other than ferronickel production, its current income and expenses, gains and losses are not significant to the Group.
The Group presents the results of SUNP as discontinued operations in the consolidated statement of profit (loss) and other
comprehensive income (loss) for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and as continued operations — starting the fourth
quarter of 2016.

The results of SUNP presented as discontinued operations in the consolidated statement of profit (loss) and other
comprehensive income (loss) were as follows for the periods ended:

December 31, December 31, December 31,

2016 2015 2014
REVENUE......oeiiiie e 53 69 66
COSt OF GOOUS SOI .......vovveee e (49) (51) (45)
GIrOSS PrOFit..c.voiciciciiicice e 4 18 21
Selling and distribution EXPENSES .......ccccvveveieiiiirierierieee e - - Q)
Administrative and other operating eXpenses...........cccccoeeeerereneene (73) (115) (133)
Other operating (EXPENSES)/INCOME ........c.ecveviieirerierieieeeeee e (102) 31 296
FINANCE COSES ...iuviviiiieiiie et (15) (30) (32)
Other (EXPENSES)INCOME ...........veereereeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeesees e eseeesee e, (240) 154 1,288
(Loss) profit for the year from discontinued operations, net...... (426) 58 1,439
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17. Property, plant and equipment

Operating
machinery Mining plant
Buildings and and Transportation Other Construction- and Railway
Land constructions  equipment vehicles equipment in-progress equipment Ulak-Elga Total

Cost
AtJanuary 1, 2014......... 3,210 64,226 107,481 29,810 1,331 109,730 15,193 - 330,981
AddItions ........ccooevieins - 786 2,467 137 13 19,794 488 - 23,685
Assets of disposal group

held for sale /

discontinued operations (130) (99) (13,496) (254) (33) (93) (1,579) - (15,684)
Change in rehabilitation

provision.... - (225) - - - - (496) - (721)
Transfers... 3 8,249 15,523 1,814 49 (25,627) (11) - -
Disposals (318) (1,205) (3,192) (705) (203) (1,308) (129) - (7,060)
Exchange differences....... 357 1,845 6,159 100 142 42 643 - 9,288
At December 31, 2014.... 3,122 73,577 114,942 30,902 1,299 102,538 14,109 - 340,489
AdItions ........ccooevvieins - 417 1,052 508 29 4,249 719 - 6,974
Change in rehabilitation

provision.... - 49 - - - - 232 - 281
Transfers... 59 4,886 1,607 171 24 (78,565) 14 71,804 -
Disposals (10) (474) (3,196) (1,170) (156) (1,378) (156) - (6,540)
Exchange differences....... 142 (190) (174) (12) 40 (8) - - (202)
At December 31, 2015.... 3,313 78,265 114,231 30,399 1,236 26,836 14,918 71,804 341,002
Additions ..o - 504 1,428 549 25 5,027 542 - 8,075
Change in rehabilitation

provision . - 346 - - - - (212) - 134
Transfers... 1 2,435 2,610 180 (209) (8,393) 389 2,987 -
Disposals . (75) (3,050) (3,266) (1,717) (169) (2,330) (536) - (11,143)
Exchange differences....... (190) (841) (675) (120) (61) (6) 1) - (1,894)
At December 31, 2016.... 3,049 77,659 114,328 29,291 822 21,134 15,100 74,791 336,174
Depreciation and

impairment
At January 1, 2014......... (98) (24,141) (63,885) (11,749) (903) (47 (3,905) - (104,728)
Depreciation charge. . - (4,593) (7,693) (2,718) (170) - (227) - (15,401)
Disposals .............ccouevunne - 395 2,650 565 186 - 126 - 3,922
Assets of disposal group

held for sale.. 109 88 12,756 245 28 81 1,345 - 14,652
Impairment (124) (2,414) (5,345) (82) (15) (16) - - (7,996)
Exchange differences....... 17 (245) (5,605) (69) (105) (35) (563) - (6,639)
At December 31, 2014.... (130) (30,910) (67,122) (13,808) (979) an (3,224) - (116,190)
Depreciation charge.......... - (5,008) (5,627) (2,745) (56) - (218) (334) (13,988)
Disposals ........cccoevirrienne 9 396 2,619 1,092 146 16 54 - 4,332
Reversal of impairment/

(impairment).........c.c.... 67 (485) 1,331 6 (4) (931) - - (16)
Exchange differences....... 5) 430 280 39 (40) - - - 704
At December 31, 2015.... (59) (35,577) (68,519) (15,416) (933) (932) (3,388) (334) (125,158)
Depreciation charge.......... - (3,774) (7,760) (2,613) (50) - (133) (247) (14,577)
Disposals ...... . - 3,160 3,045 1,272 198 238 437 - 8,350
Impairment ... (224) (260) (215) (98) - (887) (16) - (1,700)
Exchange differences....... 32 546 550 86 52 (1) (1) - 1,264
At December 31, 2016.... (251) (35,905) (72,899) (16,769) (733) (1,582) (3,101) (581) (131,821)
Net book value
At January 1, 2014........ 3,112 40,085 43,596 18,061 428 109,683 11,288 - 226,253
At December 31, 2014.... 2,992 42,667 47,820 17,094 320 102,521 10,885 - 224,299
At December 31, 2015.... 3,254 42,688 45,712 14,983 303 25,904 11,530 71,470 215,844
At December 31, 2016.... 2,798 41,754 41,429 12,522 89 19,552 11,999 74,210 204,353

According to the results of the impairment analysis of non-current assets, impairment losses of RUB 1,700 million,
RUB 16 million and RUB 7,996 million were recognized by the Group for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014,
respectively (Note 18).
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Assets under construction

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, construction-in-progress included advances issued for acquisition of property, plant
and equipment in the amounts of RUB 430 million and RUB 544 million, respectively.

In 2015, the Group transferred the railway from the Elga coal deposit to Ulak station from Construction-in-progress in
the amount of RUB 71,804 million, put it into exploitation and commenced its depreciation.

Property pledged to the bank as security

Certain property, plant and equipment have been pledged to secure bank loans and borrowings granted to the Group:

December 31, December 31,
2016 2015
INEEDOOK VAIUE. ......cviiviiii ittt sttt b et ba e et et sbeertesbe et e sbeesbesbeenbesbeenns 117,047 33,510

Finance leases

The Group leases machinery and equipment and transport under a number of finance lease agreements. At the end of the term
of the lease, the Group obtains ownership of the assets or has an option to purchase leased assets at a redemption price.

December 31, December 31,

2016 2015
Net book value — operating machinery and equipment ............ccovveoieinieiernnee s 2,825 4,253
Net book value — transportation VENICIES .........cccvciiviiiiiiciic e 9,265 12,332

Additions of machinery and equipment and transport under finance lease during the year ended December 31, 2016
amounted to RUB 386 million.

Capitalised borrowing costs

The amount of borrowing costs capitalised during the year ended December 31, 2016 was RUB 1,015 million (2015:
RUB 1,954 million, 2014: RUB 9,254 million). The rate used to determine the amount of borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation was 10.28% (2015: 15.02%, 2014: 12.04%), which is the average rate of the borrowings.

18. Impairment of goodwill and other non-current assets

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Group performed an impairment analysis of goodwill and other non-current assets
on the level of cash generating units (CGU). For each CGU the Group considers the relationship between market capitalization
and its book value, among other factors, when reviewing for indicators of impairment. Goodwill acquired through business
combinations has been allocated to CGUs for impairment testing as follows (before impairment write-downs):

Goodwill
Cash generating units Segment December 31,2016  December 31, 2015
YaKUTUGOL ..o Mining 13,399 13,399
Bratsk Ferroalloy Plant............cccooviiiiiiiiisecc e Steel 2,930 2,930
Southern Kuzbass POWer Plant.............ccocovviniciinnnccceeee Power 2,382 3,827
Kuzbass Power Sales COMPANY........cccceierrreieiieienese e Power 1,026 1,026
POIT POSIBL ... Mining 756 756
Chelyabinsk Metallurgical Plant..............ccccooiiiiiiiiiinieen Steel 580 672
Southern Kuzbass Coal Company ........ccoeeeeeinenenenene e Mining 143 143
MECHEL TEMIYUK ...ocvoveeveeeeveeeeeteee ettt ettt Mining 69 69
TOLAL .o 21,285 22,822
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As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the recoverable amount of CGUs was determined based on value in use. The material
assumptions that drive the value in use are represented by projected prices, sales volumes, discount rates. Some of these
assumptions materially deviate from the Group’s historical results primarily due to the market downturns and economic
slowdowns in the recent years in Russia. All these material assumptions are based on the Group’s projections and are subject to
risk and uncertainty.

The forecasted period for non-mining subsidiaries of the Group was assumed to be five years to reach stabilized cash flows.
As of December 31, 2016 the value beyond the forecasted period was based on the terminal growth rates of 2%-4%. For mining
subsidiaries of the Group the forecasted period was based on the remaining life of the mines.

Discount rates used in the impairment test for goodwill and non-current assets were estimated in nominal terms on
the weighted average cost of capital basis. Inflation and discount rates, range of discount rates, estimated for each year for
the forecasted period, were as follows:

Forecast period, years

For the year ended December 31, 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
Inflation rate in RUSSI&........cc.cccevireiiriienns 7.5% 5.6% 5.2% 4.6% 4.3%
Inflation rate in Europeans countries......... 2.6% 2.6% 2.4% 2.3% 2.3%
Discount rate, %0 .......ccvvveeervrerereeerereneenenes 8.5%-18.9% 8.5%-18.9% 8.5%-18.9% 8.5%-18.9% 8.5%-18.9%
For the year ended December 31, 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
Inflation rate in RUSSI&........cc.ccceviieiiiiienne 5.1% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0%
Inflation rate in Europeans countries......... 3.3% 3.1% 3.1% 3.1% 3.0%
Discount rate, %0 .......ccoovervrieireeniieneiens 8.9%-19.0% 8.9%-19.0% 8.9%-19.0% 8.9%-19.0% 8.9%-19.0%

For CGUs which cash flows relate to mineral assets, future cash flows include estimates of recoverable minerals that will
be obtained from proved and probable reserves, mineral prices (considering current and historical prices, price trends and other
related factors), production levels, capital and reclamation costs, all based on the life of mine models prepared by the Group’s
engineers. The Group believes that the values assigned to key assumptions and estimates represent the most realistic assessment
of future trends.

Impairment of goodwill

According to the results of the impairment analysis of goodwill, an impairment loss as of December 31, 2016 was recognized
in the following CGU:

Impairment loss
on goodwill at
December 31,

Cash generating units 2016
Bratsk Ferroalloy Plant (BFP) 2,930
LI L= TSRS TSP 2,930

Impairment of goodwill at BFP was recognized due to the changes in expectations of long-term prices for ferrosilicon and
in forecasted production volumes accompanied by increased forecasted costs..

According to the results of the impairment analysis of goodwill, an impairment loss as of December 31, 2015 was recognised
in the following CGUs:

Impairment loss
on goodwill at
December 31,

Cash generating units 2015
Southern Kuzbass POWET PIANE (SKPP).......cccviviiiiiceeietitetee et ie ettt sttt es sttt ettt ss s s sttt be b st esensnensssesns 1,444
LI L= L OO ST T PP RSOPPRPPRO 1444

Impairment of goodwill at Southern Kuzbass Power Plant (SKPP) was identified due to change in structure of raw materials
and usage of steam coal instead of lean grade coal with low oxidation rate from SKCC. The remaining carrying value of the
goodwill of SKPP was RUB 2,383 million as of December 31, 2015.
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Impairment of non-current assets

According to the results of the impairment analysis, impairment of non-current assets was identified for the following CGUs
as of December 31, 2016:

Impairment loss
on non-current
assets identified as

a result of
impairment tests
at December 31,
Cash generating units 2016
Bratsk FErroalloy PIANT (BFP) .........co ittt ekttt ettt b e bt st e s b e e e me e b e besbeseeneeneeneaneaneas 697
MECHEI SEIVICE ROMANIA. c.......cvecveeicvceeeeseeeeseeteseesseesses et enses et esses s eenses st enses et ensessesessessntenses st enses et ensessesensensnsansessnsanens 203
LIS 7 | OSSPSR 900

The carrying value of individual items of the assets for the respective entities was impaired due to inability to generate
economic benefits:

Impairment loss
on non-current
assets identified
for individual
items of assets at
December 31,

Subsidiaries 2016

LU0 o o SO OPPPRSRSPP 572
POIT TEMIYUK. ..ottt st h e ettt e be e e e e st R e e R e bt eb e ee e b e e e Rt eE e ebe e b e eeembeesemeeRe e bt ebesbenteneeneabesaeas 389
Southern Kuzbass Coal ComMPaNY (SKCC) ...ttt ettt ettt st et et ebesbeseesbesbeseeneesesneenas 277
Maritime Cargo SNIPPING. ...oveoieiiiciiiie ettt ettt et st e b e e st et e e be s b e st e s b e s e eseeseebeebeste st e s eneeteebestentenbeeenseraareas 98
(0770210 OO 36
LI L= LSOO OSSOSO T TSRO POTERPPTRO 1372

According to the results of the impairment analysis, impairment of non-current assets was identified for the following CGUs
as of December 31, 2015:

Impairment loss
on non-current

assets
at December 31,

Cash generating units 2015
IVIECNEL IMBLETTAIS ...ttt ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt e et et et et et et sttt e s e e et et et et et et sttt s s ene st et et et snsnsnsnens 5,982
0] -1 FO OSSO USRS 5,982

The carrying value of property, plant and equipment related to grinding mixing complex at Mechel Materials was written
down to RUB nil as of December 31, 2015 due to unfavorable market conditions including decline in production volume of
construction industry, cut-off of subsidy in related industries and forecasts of slow market recovery in the future.
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According to the results of the impairment analysis, reversal of previously recognised impairment loss of non-current assets
was identified for the following CGUs as of December 31, 2015:

Reversal of
previously
recognised
impairment loss of
non-current assets
at December 31,

Cash generating units 2015
TZRISTAL ..ottt ettt h bbb bbbt bttt 5,966
LI L= L OO ST T PP RSOPPRPPRO 5,966

Based on the comparison of carrying value and recoverable value of 1zhstal, as of December 31, 2015, excess of recoverable
value over its carrying value was identified; therefore reversal of previously recorded impairment loss as of December 31, 2014
was recognised in the amount of RUB 5,966 million due to optimization of product lines in favor of high value added long
products and hardware and devaluation of ruble to U.S. dollar, which positively affected Izhstal’s margin. The carrying value of
property, plant and equipment of Izhstal after reversal of impairment loss was RUB 5,966 million as of December 31, 2015.

Sensitivity analysis

Reasonably possible change in key assumptions used in calculations of value in use could impact recoverable amount which
was most sensitive to the growth of discount rate, cash flows growth rates after the forecasted period and change in operational
profit due to changes in sales and extraction volumes, sales prices and costs.

Based on the sensitivity analysis carried out as of December 31, 2016, a 5% decrease in future planned revenues would
trigger impairment of goodwill of RUB 1,026 million, property, plant and equipment of RUB 644 million at KPSC, additional
impairment of property, plant and equipment at BFP of RUB 1,363 million and impairment of property, plant and equipment of
RUB 1,996 million at Izhstal.

For the cash-generating units, which were not impaired in the reporting period and for which the reasonably possible changes
could lead to impairment, the recoverable amounts would become equal to their carrying amounts if the assumptions used to
measure the recoverable amounts changed by the following percentages: decrease in sales prices by 3.7% at Izhstal, decrease in
sales prices by 1.3% at KPSC.

The recoverable amounts of KPSC and Izhstal based on key assumptions exceed the carrying amounts by RUB 3,403 million
and by RUB 5,405 million, respectively.

Effects of reasonably possible changes in other key assumptions used in recoverable amount of CGUs as of December 31,
2016 do not lead to excess of carrying value over recoverable value.

Based on the sensitivity analysis carried out as of December 31, 2015, a 1% decrease in cash flows growth rate after the
forecasted future and a 1% increase in discount rate would trigger additional impairment of goodwill at SKPP in the amount of
RUB 188 million and RUB 286 million, respectively. A 5% decrease in future planned revenues would trigger additional
impairment of goodwill at SKPP of RUB 1,721 million, impairment of goodwill of RUB 1,026 million, property, plant and
equipment of RUB 630 million at KPSC and property, plant and equipment of RUB 383 million at BFP and would allow to
reverse RUB 5,732 million of previously recoded impairment of Izhstal which is less than the full reversal recorded by the Group
by RUB 235 million.
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19. Intangible assets

Goodwill Mineral licenses
Cost
AT JANUANY 1, 2004ttt ettt sttt et n et ne e ne s 32,781 126,680
Assets of disposal group held for sale / discontinued Operations.............ccceoerevrereneieesciencne. - (122,002)
EXCNANGE QIfTEIENCES. ......vvcvvceveeceeiscee ettt ettt ettt s st es et an s 682 51,034
At DECEMDBDET 31, 2014ttt 33,463 55,712
ATUITIONS ..t - 71
DISPOSAL ...ttt ettt bt et e bt be st e bt ntereaneenn (88) -
EXCRANGE QIFFEIENCES.......cvvocveveeceee e see s es st seas (174) -
At DECEMDET 31, 2015......cieeiieee ettt ettt se et neene e n e e re e ene s 33,201 55,783
Ao [0 L1 o] OSSOSO - -
DISPOSAL ...ttt ettt R bttt R e Rt bt nb e e e neebeeneens - -
EXCRANGE QITFErENCES. . ...cvvvveveeceieveesecee ettt enssnseas (2,286) -
AL DECEMBDET 3L, 2016ttt eee e e ee et et e e e s e e et ee et eee e eeee et et eeeeseseeseeneeseseseneneeeseeaanens 30,915 55,783
Amortisation and impairment
AL JANUANY 1, 2014t b ettt b et bea e reenears (10,261) (74,953)
(DT o] (= o] o OSSOSO - (1,759)
Assets of disposal group held for sale / discontinued Operations.............cccceoeeovrereneieeneienene. - 105,075
EXCRANGE QIFFErENCES. . ...cvvoceerveeceieseesecee et ess s e s sttt (505) (43,953)
AL DECEMDBDET 31, 2014 .ottt b et aenearn (10,766) (15,590)
IMPAITIMNENT ...ttt ettt e e e st et e e b e b e st e b e s b e b e s e ebeebesae b e e ensaraarens (1,444) -
DT o] = To o ST SO TSRS - (1,676)
DISPOSAL. ...ttt bbb et 88 -
EXCNANGE AITFEIENCES. ... cvecveeecvceeee ettt ettt et a ettt n st aneas 299 -
F N Ty T 0 S (11,823) (17,266)
IMPAITIMNENT ...ttt bttt b et e e et e s e et e b e e beebesbe e e e enearenneas (2,930) (572)
DT o] = To o SO TSRS - (1,846)
DISPOSAL ...ttt ettt bt et e bt be st e bt ntereaneenn - -
EXCNANGE QITFEIENCES. ... cvecveeeevceee ettt ettt ettt sttt anens 2,193 -
At DECEMBET 31, 2016........ovoeeeeerereeceeeeeeeeeeeessseseseeess e s esseses s ssses s s aessannssnes (12,560) (19,684)
Net book value
AT JANUAEY 1, 2014, eeeeeeseeeseesesess e s ees e eesesessees e s s s eeesesees s eseseesseseneoes 22,520 51,727
At DECEMDBDEE 31, 2014ttt 22,697 40,122
AL DECEMDET 31, 2015..........ooooeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeseees e eeseseseeee s eeeeesssesssee s 21378 38,517
AL DECEMDET 3L, 20L6.........ooooeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeseeesse e eeseseseeee e eeeesesesseeee s 18,355 36,099

Most of the existing mineral licenses (97%) relate to coal mines and were recorded upon acquisition of mining subsidiaries.
The carrying values of the mineral licenses were reduced proportionate to the depletion of the respective mineral reserves at each
deposit related to mining and production of reserves adjusted for the reserves re-measurement and purchase accounting effects.
Reduction in carrying values of the mineral licenses is included in the depletion charge for the period within the Cost of goods
sold in the consolidated statement of profit (loss) and other comprehensive income (loss). No residual value is assumed in the
mineral license valuation.

To determine the value of the mineral licenses as of December 31, 2016, the Group used quantities of underlying mineral
assets, production data and other factors, including economic viability and any new exploration data.

The Group’s mining segment production activities are located within Russia. The Group’s mineral reserves and deposits are
situated on the land belonging to government and regional authorities. Mining minerals require a subsoil license from the state
authorities with respect to identified mineral deposits. The Group obtains licenses from such authorities and pays certain taxes to
explore and produce from these deposits. These licenses expire up to 2037, with the most significant licenses expiring between
2019 and 2024, and management believes that they may be extended at the initiative of the Group without substantial cost.
Management intends to extend such licenses for deposits expected to remain productive subsequent to their license expiry dates.

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Group performed an impairment analysis of goodwill (Note 18).
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20. Income tax
The major components of income tax (expense) benefit for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014 are:

Recognised in profit or loss 2016 2015 2014

Current income tax
Current iNCOME taxX Charge..........ooveiii i (555) (361) (396)
Adjustments in respect of income tax related to previous years,

including income tax penalties and changes in uncertain

INCOME tAX POSITION ...ecviiviiiieic e 766 (15) (6,307)
Deferred tax
Relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences.................. (5,104) (7,946) 15,525
Income tax (expense) benefit reported in the consolidated statement

of profit (loss) and other comprehensive income (10SS) ...........c.cce... (4,893) (8,322) 8,822

In January 2013, the Group created the consolidated group of taxpayers in accordance with the Tax code of the Russian
Federation, under the Federal law of the Russian Federation of November 16, 2011 No. 321-FZ. The existence of the consolidated
group of taxpayers is subject to compliance with several conditions stated in the Tax code of the Russian Federation. The Group
believes that these conditions were met as of December 31, 2016 and 2015. As of January 1, 2013, the consolidated group of
taxpayers consisted of 16 subsidiaries of the Group, together with Mechel PAO, which is the responsible taxpayer under the
agreement. As of January 1, 2014, the number of subsidiaries included in the consolidated group of taxpayers increased to
20 participants and did not change as of December 31, 2015 and 2016.

For subsidiaries which are not included in the consolidated group of taxpayers, income taxes are calculated on an individual
subsidiary basis. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognised in the accompanying consolidated financial statements
in the amount determined by the Group in accordance with IAS 12 Income Taxes.

During 2013-2016, income tax was calculated at 20% of taxable profit in Russia, at 10.8% in Switzerland, at 16% in
Romania, at 15% in Lithuania, at 20% in Kazakhstan and at 18% in Ukraine. The Group’s subsidiaries incorporated in British
Virgin Islands are exempt from profit tax. Amendments in the tax legislation of the United Kingdom resulted in the decrease in
tax rate from 21% since April 1, 2014 to 20% since April 1, 2015.

The reconciliation between the income tax (expense) benefit computed by applying the Russian enacted statutory tax rates
to the income from continuing operations before tax and non-controlling interest, to the income tax (expense) benefit reported in
the financial statements is as follows:

2016 2015 2014

Profit (loss) before tax from continuing operations...........c..ccc.e.uu.... 14,151 (107,128) (131,087)
Income tax (expense) benefit at statutory income tax rate of 20%..... (2,830) 21,426 26,217
Adjustments:
Adjustments in respect of income tax related to previous years,

including income tax penalties and changes in uncertain income tax

POSITION. ..ttt ettt ettt 766 (15) (6,307)
Unrecognized current year tax losses and write-off of previously

recognized asset 0N taX 10SSES ......ccviivirierieieiesise e 513 (19,822) 286
Non-deductible expenses for tax PUIPOSES .......cc.coviviirierierieieieese e (1,317) (4,341) (7,318)
Non-deductible iNnterest eXPeNSe.......c.ccvvevvirieiiisie e (1,055) (2,588) (3,815)
Non-deductible penalties on breach of credit agreements ..............ccccce.. (1,152) (3,025) -
Effect of different tax rates in foreign jurisdictions.............ccccoovvvienenns 182 26 (37)
Effect of the disposal of SUDSIIAMES ..........ccovveeveveieieieeeieee e - 17 (204)
At the effective income tax rate of 34.6% (7.8% in 2015,

B.7%0 N 2014) oot (4,893) (8,322) 8,822
Income tax (expense) benefit reported in the consolidated statement

(4,893) (8,322) 8,822

of profit (loss) and other comprehensive income (10SS) .........c.cccceee.

The deferred tax balances were calculated by applying the currently enacted statutory tax rate in each jurisdiction applicable
to the period in which the temporary differences between the carrying amounts and tax base (both in respective local currencies)
of assets and liabilities are expected to reverse.
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On January 9, 2014, the Group failed to sustain its position in the court with respect to the income tax claims in the amount
of RUB 3,977 million, including penalties and fines. The Group recognized this income tax as income tax expense in the amount
of RUB 3,666 million included in the line Adjustments in respect of current income tax of previous years and penalty in
the amount of RUB 311 million included in line Tax penalties and interest in the income tax reconciliation in 2014. During 2016,
the Group delayed payments and new payment schedule agreed by the tax authorities was signed in December 2016. As of
December 31, 2016, the outstanding amount payable was RUB 2,160 million (not overdue) including long-term part
RUB 540 million.

The amounts reported in the accompanying consolidated financial statements consisted of the following:

Tax benefit
(expense) during
the period
January 1, recognised in Foreign currency December 31,
2014 profit or loss translation effect 2014

Deferred tax assets

Property, plant and equipment.............c..c........ 786 23 11 820
Rehabilitation provision ...........cccccecevveeveninnnnn, 214 9 - 223
INVENTOTY .o 140 (33) 18 125
Accounts receivable...........ccoooiiiiiiinicie 63 125 2 190
Bad debt allowance.............ccocoooeiiiciniicce, 461 250 47 758
L0oans & borrowings........ccoceverereenceecnienenns 9 3,417 2 3,428
Finance lease liabilities...........ccccccovvvvevivireennee. 2,077 (445) 7 1,639
Accounts payable and other liabilities............. 487 547 7 1,041
Net operating loss carry-forwards ................... 4,584 12,094 183 16,861
OtheT . 332 9) 5 328
Deferred tax liabilities

Property, plant and equipment......................... (14,628) (1,493) (359) (16,480)
Mineral liCENSES........ooveeiiieriieiee e (8,341) 321 - (8,020)
Rehabilitation provision ...........ccccccceveenenenn. a7) (10) - (27)
INVENTOTY .o (1,433) 471 (8) (970)
Accounts receivable...........c.coovivivineiiieiea, (89) 15 (35) (109)
Bad debt allowance.............ccccoveveirericrciennann, (229) 54 2) a77)
Loans & borrowings........ccccevvvevienereensrnennn,s (1,129) 527 2) (604)
Accounts payable and other liabilities............. (48) (34) 4 (78)
ONeT...ooovveveeeseees e (197) (304) (62) (563)
Deferred tax assets (liabilities), net .............. (16,958) 15,525 (182) (1,615)
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Deferred tax assets

Property, plant and equipment..............
Rehabilitation provision ............c.c.......
INVENTOTY ..o
Accounts receivable............c.cceeeirennenn
Bad debt allowance............cccooveinnnene.
Loans & borrowings........cccceeveeveriennas
Finance lease liabilities............c.cccoeuee.
Accounts payable and other liabilities..

Deferred tax liabilities

Property, plant and equipment..............
Mineral licenses.........ccccoverveiicennnne.
Rehabilitation provision ..............cc..c....
INVENTOTY v
Accounts receivable...........cc.ccocerennnen
Bad debt allowance.............ccocoeeerennns
Loans & borrowings........ccccceeveerenienas
Accounts payable and other liabilities ..

Deferred tax assets (liabilities), net ...

Deferred tax assets

Property, plant and equipment..............
Rehabilitation provision ..............ccc.c....
INVENTOTY ..o
Accounts receivable............c.ccecvrrennenn
Bad debt allowance.........c..cccccevvreennnne
Loans & borrowings........ccccceeveerenienas
Finance lease liabilities............c.cccoeuee.
Accounts payable and other liabilities..

Deferred tax liabilities

Property, plant and equipment..............
Mineral licenses........cccovevevivieneneaes
Rehabilitation provision ...........c..ccc.e....
INVENTOTY v
Accounts receivable...........ccoovvrrennnns
Bad debt allowance............cccooveinnnene.
Loans & borrowings........cccceeveevveniennas
Accounts payable and other liabilities ..

Deferred tax assets (liabilities), net ...

Tax (expense)

benefit during Foreign
the period currency
January 1, recognised in Disposals of translation December 31,
2015 profit or loss subsidiaries effect 2015
820 265 (30) - 1,055
223 288 - (1) 510
125 (48) - 4) 73
190 79 - (11) 258
758 50 (2) 48 854
3,428 (3,205) - 1 224
1,639 (133) 2 1,508
1,041 (279) - 1 763
16,861 (6,258) 3 5 10,611
328 4) - - 324
(16,480) 308 - (27) (16,199)
(8,020) 319 - - (7,701)
27) 19 - - (8)
(970) 372 - (6) (604)
(109) 62 - - 47)
177) - - - 77)
(604) 151 - (1) (454)
(78) (35) - - (113)
(563) 103 - (15) (475)
(1,615) (7,946) (29) (8) (9,598)
Tax (expense)
benefit during Foreign
the period currency
January 1, recognised in translation December 31,
2016 profit or loss effect 2016
1,055 (378) - 677
510 184 - 694
73 134 (14) 193
258 (94) 4) 160
854 (159) (24) 671
224 (106) - 118
1,508 (389) 2 1,121
763 (70) 7 700
10,611 (5,807) (89) 4,715
324 (264) (1) 59
(16,199) 497 37 (15,665)
(7,701) 485 - (7,216)
(8) 1 - (7
(604) (83) 3 (684)
(47) 41 - (6)
177) 59 - (118)
(454) 350 1 (103)
(113) 74 1 (38)
(475) 421 3 (51)
(9,598) (5,104) (78) (14,780)
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Recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position information

December 31, December 31,
2016 2015
DEFEITEA TAX ASSEES. ....veieiieiieiiitie e et e e ettt e e et e e sttt e s ettt e e sebteesssbeeessssbesssbbesssatesessbesesssabesssabenesasenas 1,502 1,492
DEFEITEA tAX THADTIHIES ¢ cve oo e e e et e e s e e et ee e s e eeeeeeeeeseeseeeneseeeeeeenes (16,282) (11,090)
Deferred tax lHabilitieS, NEL..........cuii it e st sbae e st e e e e (14,780) (9,598)

The Group offsets tax assets and liabilities if and only if it has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets and
current tax liabilities and deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority.

For financial reporting purposes, the Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in the amount of RUB 38,068 million
(2015: RUB 37,747 million) on losses in the amount of RUB 208,748 million (2015: RUB 201,624 million) that are available to
carry forward against future taxable income of the subsidiaries in which the losses arose. Deferred tax assets have not been
recognised in respect of these losses as it is not probable that future taxable profit will be available for utilization of such assets.
Deferred tax assets on net operating loss carry forwards which are considered to be realized in the future, are mostly related to
the Russian subsidiaries.

A deferred tax liability of approximately RUB 288 million and RUB 208 million as of December 31, 2016 and 2015,
respectively, has not been recognised for temporary differences related to the Group’s investment in foreign subsidiaries primarily
as a result of unremitted earnings of consolidated subsidiaries, as it is the Group’s intention, generally, to reinvest such earnings
permanently.

Similarly, a deferred tax liability of nil as of December 31, 2016 (RUB 817 million as of December 31, 2015, respectively)
has not been recognised for temporary difference related to unremitted earnings of consolidated domestic subsidiaries as
management believes the Group has both the ability and intention to effect a tax-free reorganization or merger of major
subsidiaries into Mechel. There are no income tax consequences attached to the payment of dividends by the Group to its
shareholders.

Probable income tax risks of approximately RUB 162 million and RUB 1,136 million as of December 31, 2016 and 2015,
respectively, have been recorded in the Group’s consolidated financial statements. Possible income tax risks of approximately
RUB 1,119 million and RUB 131 million as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively, have not been recognised in the
Group’s consolidated financial statements. Probable tax risks decreased as a result of tax examinations for related periods and a
lapse of the applicable statute of limitations. Increase in possible tax risks occurred due to tax positions taken during the current
period.

21. Trade and other payables

December 31, December 31,

2016 2015
TrAdE PAYADIES. ... .c.vciiiiiitiie et ettt et reere 21,335 26,373
OLhEI PAYADIES ......ceoocveeeeceeeeee et eteeae et erae s et es ettt sten st ena s st s s s en st en s nsenaanssaenans 19,650 28,229
Total trade and Other PAYabIES...........ccciiiiieiiiiee e 40,985 54,602

Other payables include accruals for breach of contracts, payables for property, plant and equipment acquired, salaries
payable, dividends payable and other.

December 31, December 31,
2016 2015

Other payables
Accounts payable fOr fIXEA @SSELS.........c e 2,964 3,593
SAlArIES PAYADIE ...t 1,475 1,483
Accruals for breach of CONraCt tEIMS.........cviiiiii e 745 1,281
Dividends payable, COMMON SNAIES..........c.oiiiiieiiiiere e - 36
(] 1 1Y TP 14,466 21,836
L0 =1 OSSOSO SR PROTPRR 19,650 28,229

The balance of other payables includes payables for the acquisition of DEMP of RUB 8,032 million and RUB 14,799 million as
of December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.
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22. Provisions

Rehabilitation Provisions for Tax Other
provision legal claims provisions provisions Total

At January 1, 2014........cccovninnniennn 4,400 421 548 465 5,834
Avrising during the year...........ccccoovevveeinns 284 1,006 41 68 1,399
UtIlIZed ... - (160) (22) (103) (285)
Revision in estimated cash flow ................ 548 - - - 548
Unused amounts reversed............ccceveurane. - (178) (116) - (294)
Discount rate adjustment and imputed

INEETESE.. . (1,736) - - - (1,736)
Liabilities of disposal group held for

sale/Discontinued operations .................. (297) - - (213) (510)
Exchange rate differences...........coco.vune... - - 169 3 172
At December 31, 2014.......ccccovieeinnnnn. 3,199 1,089 620 220 5128
CUITENE ..ot 201 1,089 620 220 2,130
NON-CUITENt.......coiriiiiiii 2,998 - - - 2,998
Avrising during the year............ccocooeeveninns 403 1,321 361 27 2,112
UtIlIZed ... - (513) (504) (81) (1,098)
Revision in estimated cash flow................ (1,027) - - - (1,027)
Unused amounts reversed............cccceeeeueeee. - (325) (101) - (426)
Discount rate adjustment and imputed

INEEIEST. .. 1,129 - - - 1,129
Exchange rate differences...........coco.vvuee.. - - 104 49 153
At December 31, 2015.......cccccoviecienenn 3,704 1572 480 215 5971
CUITENE ..ot 265 1,572 480 215 2,532
NON-CUITENt.......covriiiiiiii 3,439 - - - 3,439
Avrising during the year............ccccooevveninns 256 533 413 1,678 2,880
UtIlIZed ... (52) (885) (14) (118) (1,069)
Revision in estimated cash flow ................ (511) - - - (511)
Unused amounts reversed............cccceeeeueeee. - (474) (31) - (505)
Discount rate adjustment and imputed

INEErEST. ... 281 - - - 281
Exchange rate differences...........ccc.coe....... - - (88) (43) (231)
At December 31, 2016.......ccccovvreeiennnn 3,678 746 760 1,732 6,916
CUITENE ..ot 258 746 760 1,732 3,496
NON-CUITENt.......ciriiiiiiii 3,420 - - - 3,420

Rehabilitation provision

The Group has numerous site rehabilitation provisions that it is required to perform under law or contract once an asset is
permanently taken out of service. The main part of these obligations is not expected to be paid for many years, and will be funded
from the general Group’s resources at the time of removal. The Group’s rehabilitation provisions primarily relate to its steel and
mining production facilities with related landfills and dump areas and its mines.

Provisions for legal claims

The Group is subject to various lawsuits, claims and proceedings related to matters incidental to the business. Accruals of
probable cash outflows have been made based on an assessment of a combination of litigation and settlement strategies. It is
possible that results of operations in any future period could be materially affected by changes in assumptions or by the
effectiveness of such strategies.
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Tax provisions

Management believes that it has paid or accrued all applicable taxes. Where uncertainty exists, the Group has accrued tax
liabilities based on management’s best estimate of the probable outflow of resources embodying economic benefits, which will
be required to settle these liabilities. In accordance with IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets,
the Group recorded RUB 760 million and RUB 480 million of other tax claims that management believes are probable as of
December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.

The Group does not believe that any other material tax matters exist relating to the Group, including current pending or
future governmental claims and demands, which would require adjustment to the accompanying financial statements in order for
those statements not to be materially misstated or misleading as of December 31, 2016.

23. Pensions and other post-employment benefit plans

In addition to the state pension and social insurance required by the Russian legislation, the Group has a number of defined
benefit occupational pension plans that cover the majority of production employees and some other postretirement benefit plans.

A number of the Group’s companies provide their former employees with old age retirement pensions, which are conditional
to the member qualifying for the state old age pension. Some employees are also eligible for an early retirement in accordance
with the state pension regulations and specific coal industry rules (so-called “territorial treaties”), which also provide for certain
post-retirement benefits in additional to old age pensions. Additionally, the Group voluntarily provides financial support, of
a defined benefit nature, to its old age and disabled pensioners, who did not acquire any pension under the occupational pension
program.

The Group also provides several types of long-term employee benefits such as death-in-service benefit and invalidity
pension of a defined benefit nature. The Group may also provide the former employees with reimbursement of coal and wood
used for heating purposes. In addition, one-time lump sum benefits are paid to employees of a number of the Group’s companies
upon retirement depending on the employment service with the Group and the salary level of an individual employee. All pension
plans are unfunded until the qualifying event occurs.

Before the end of June 2016, the Group’s entities contributed certain amounts of cash to non-state pension fund Mechel
Fund, to invest pensions of its participants. Pursuant to the agreements between the Group and this non-state pension fund, under
certain circumstances, assets from contributions were not effectively restricted from possible withdrawal by the employer. Based
on this fact, these assets were not qualified as “plan assets” under IFRS and these pension plans were considered to be fully
unfunded. On June 22, 2016, Mechel Fund stopped all operations after cancellation by the Russian regulator of its license for the
activity on pension and pension insurance. In the second half of 2016, the Group voluntary started to make settlements to new
coming pensioners until the new pension fund would be selected by the Group.

As of December 31, 2016, there were 50,369 active participants under the defined benefit pension plans and other long-term
benefit plans and 39,551 pensioners receiving monthly pensions or other regular financial support from these plans. As of
December 31, 2015 and January 1, 2015, the related figures were 54,866 and 56,508 of active participants under the defined
benefit pension plans and other long-term benefits and 39,201 and 40,574 pensioners receiving monthly pensions or other regular
financial support from these plans, respectively. The majority of employees at the Group's major subsidiaries belong to the trade
unions.

Actuarial valuation of pension and other post-employment and postretirement benefits for the major subsidiaries was
performed in February 2017, with the measurement date of December 31, 2016. Members’ census data as of that date was
collected for all relevant business units of the Group.

Pension obligations and expenses determined by the Group are supported by an independent qualified actuary in accordance
with the “Projected Unit Credit method” of calculation of actuarial present value of future liabilities.

As of December 31, 2016 the amount of pension obligations includes defined benefit obligations in the amount of
RUB 3,640 million and other long-term benefits obligation in the amount of RUB 805 million (RUB 4,075 million and
791 million as of December 31, 2015, respectively).
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Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligations and other long-term benefits and fair value of plan assets for

2014 were as follows:

Pension Fair value of Benefit

obligation plan assets liability
JANUATY 1, 2014 ...t (4,353) 183 (4,170)
CUITENTE SEIVICE COSE....viviiieenieieeic ettt (148) - (148)
NEt INTErESt EXPENSE. ....veveeeieeieieetc ettt (315) 13 (302)
Curtailment / Settlement 10SS .........coovviriiiniiicc e 58 - 58
PaSE SEIVICE COSL...u.vvurvviverisiiiseiiesisess sttt 96 - 96
Sub-total included in Profit O 10SS...........oc.ovveveeeeeeeeeeeeeeereereeen. (309) 13 (296)
Benefit PAI ......c.ocveiiiiiieec 251 (16) 235
BUSINESS COMDINALIONS ..........ooorvvvecvivceieisessies s 17 - 17
Exchange differenCe ........ccvoveerireierieree e (370) 96 (274)
Actuarial changes arising from changes in demographic assumptions. (285) - (285)
Actuarial changes arising from changes in financial assumptions........ 229 - 229
EXPErience adjUSEMENTS ...............oveevereecereeseeseeeeeeesses s essesesseesessnsens 55 - 55
Sub-total included in OCH........c.ocviviiieeieeiesesise s, (371) 96 (275)
Contributions BY EMPIOYEN ........c.cvvveeieeeieeeeeee s snes - 6 6
December 31, 2014 ..ot (4,799) 282 (4,517)

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligations and other long-term benefits and fair value of plan assets for

2015 were as follows:

Pension Fair value of Benefit
obligation plan assets liability
JANUATY 1, 2015 ... esees s s ese s ananes (4,799) 282 (4,517)
Current service cost (167) - (167)
Net interest expense (418) 5 (413)
Curtailment / settlement gain..........c.ocooeieinieiiie e 142 - 142
PaSE SEIVICE COSL......vuvvvreecreeeaesiessssesssessesse e ssees s essen s e (25) (25)
Sub-total included in Profit or 10SS.........ccc.covvevveeenreresrenrisseenreeneen, (468) 5 (463)
BENEFIt PAIG ....vvoveoeeceeeceeeee st 432 (21) 411
Exchange difference ..o (155) 45 (110)
Actuarial changes arising from changes in demographic assumptions. 116 - 116
Actuarial changes arising from changes in financial assumptions........ (119) - (119)
EXPErience adjUSIMENTS ...........c..rvveereeeesserseeseessssessesseesssessssesssesseensenns (191) - (191)
Sub-total iNCIUAEd N OCH .......cveeeereeeeeeeeeeeeee e (349) 45 (304)
Contributions BY EMPIOYET .......c.ovevveeieeeeeeeeees s - 7 7
December 31, 2015......ccciiiiieerre e (5,184) 318 (4,866)
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Changes in the present value of the pension obligations and other long-term benefits and fair value of plan assets for 2016

were as follows:

Pension Fair value of Benefit
obligation plan assets liability
DeCemMbBEr 31, 2015........oeeeecreeeeeesieeseeesess st (5,184) 318 (4,866)
CUITENTE SEIVICE COSE....viviiieenieieeic ettt (149) - (149)
NEt INTErESt EXPENSE. ....veveeeieeieieetc ettt (381) 13 (368)
Curtailment / settlement gain..........ccceveveiieieiiie s 272 - 272
Remeasurement of pension obligations...........c.ccocvvveviveieieirieinsienens 53 - 53
PASE SEIVICE COSE «.vrvvrrveervereeeeeeeeseeeeeseeseeseeseeeseeseeseeseeeeesesseeeneseeesesee (5) - (5)
Sub-total included in Profit O 10SS...........o..oovveveeeeeeeeeeeeeereereeeen. (210) 13 (197)
BENETIt PRI ... eseee s 357 (16) 341
Exchange differencCe ........ccccovveieiiiiieiccc e 363 (63) 300
Actuarial changes arising from changes in demographic assumptions. 80 - 80
Actuarial changes arising from changes in financial assumptions........ (397) - (397)
EXPErience adjUSEMENTS ...............oveeveveeceeeeseereeseesessessesesssesssessessnsens 294 - 294
Sub-total included iN OCH ..o 340 (63) 277
DECEMDEE 3L, 2016.........oooooeeeeeeeeeeeeevessseeseeessessessssssssssssssssssssesessesnnneees (4,697) 252 (4,445)

Amounts of the pension obligations recognized in the consolidated statement of the financial position were as follows:

December 31,

December 31,

2016 2015
CUITENE TTADTIIEIES ...ttt b e e (944) (1,120)
NON-CUITENT TIADIITIES ...veevseveeee ettt ettt et ee et eee et et e et et eeees et en s et s es st e e s esenenses (3,501) (3,746)
(4,445) (4,866)

Total net PenSioN ODHGATIONS ........ccciiiiiiiieece e are

The plan asset allocation of the investment portfolio was as follows as of December 31, 2016 and 2015:

December 31,

December 31,

2016 2015
DD INSEIUMENTS. ...ttt bbbt b et bbbttt b e 142 179
EQUITY INSIIUMEBNTS ...ttt bbbt re et et sbe b e sa et raeneenas 64 80
Cash and €Cash EQUIVAIENTS .......c.uciciiiieceece e et 23 29
0] 0T | T U TP TR PR PRPP 9 11
ONEE BSSELS ...ttt ettt ettt es st ee ettt e st et e et en s et et et s et en s et s et et et b ene st es et enaes 14 19
252 318

TOLAL PIAN ASSELS. ...ttt sttt ettt e b e e e e s e bt st e sbesbesbenbe e eneereaneas

The investment strategy employed by the Group includes an overall goal to attain a maximum investment return with a
strong focus on limiting the amount of risk taken. The strategy is to invest with a medium- to long-term perspective while
maintaining a level of liquidity through proper allocation of investment assets. Investment policies include rules to avoid
concentrations of investments. The vast majority of plan assets are measured using quoted prices in active markets for identical
assets (Level 1 assets). The investment portfolio is primarily comprised of debt and equity instruments. Real estate and other
alternative investments asset can be included when these have favorable return and risk characteristics. Debt instruments include
investment grade and high yield corporate and government bonds with fixed yield and mostly short- to medium maturities. Equity
instruments include selected investments in equity securities listed on active exchange market. The valuation of debt and equity
securities is determined using a market approach, and is based on an unadjusted quoted prices. The expected return on plan assets
takes into account historical returns and the weighted average of estimated future long-term returns based on capital market

assumptions for each asset category.
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Staff reduction, curtailments and amendments of benefit programs at several entities lead to appropriate curtailment gains
and past service costs in reporting periods. Most of the Group’s entities have a practice of lump-sum financial support to former
employees, so the risk of human longevity is less significant than in the case of life-long benefits. This risk is controlled by using
rather conservative life expectancy tables. The risk of a significant fluctuation in interest rates is offset by rather conservative
actuarial assumptions in respect of discount rates. The Group does not identify the unusual, specific business plan or risk, as well
as any significant risk concentrations. The Group performs sensitivity analysis calculating the whole defined benefit obligation
and other long-term benefits obligation in different actuarial assumptions and comparing the results. There are no changes from
the previous period in the methods and assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analyses. The weighted average duration of
the defined benefit obligation and other long-term benefits obligation is about 6 years at both reporting dates.

The key actuarial assumptions used to determine benefit obligations were as follows as of December 31, 2016 and 2015:

December 31, December 31,
2016 2015
Discount rate
RUSSTAN BNEITIES ....vviveivecte ittt s be b e be et e s be e b e s beenbesbeeaeesbeebesreeseesbeenbesreenns 8.5% 9.70%
GBIMAN BNEITIES. 11t ivviitiitte ettt ettt et e b s be et et e e ebeetb e st e ebe e besbaesbesbeenbessbesbeebeebesasesbesteens 1.50% 1.93%
varying from
UKFRINTAN BNTILY ...ttt bt e e st et e b e e bt st e sbeen e e e s e eneenas 11.10% 9.6% to 8%
AUSETIAN BNEITIES. ...ttt ettt et e e et e e et e e e e te e saeesabeebeeeseeesbeesateeeseeesaeesateenreeeseeas 1.50% 2.0%
Inflation rates
RUSSIAN BNEITIES......ccviicree ettt ettt ettt et eat e et e e te e st e e beeetesenteesaeesaseeenseesaeesnteeressrnens 5.00% 5.80%
UKFRINTAN BNTILY ...ttt bt e e st et e b e e bt st e sbeen e e e s e eneenas 8.60% 7.60%
Expected return on plan assets
AUSETIAN BNEITIES.....cviecveectie ettt ettt e et e e et e e e e e te e saeeeabeebeeeseeesbeessteeeseeesaeessteenbesereeas 4.70% 1.74%
Rate of compensation increase
RUSSIAN BNEITIES......ccviictie ittt ettt et e et e et e e te e st e s beesbesesteesaeesnseeeseeesaeesateebeesreens 6.00% 7.10%
(€1 o TN 0] (TP 4.00% 4.00%
Ukrainian entity 11.60% 10.60%
Austrian entities 2.25% 2.25%

The results of sensitivity analysis of pension benefit obligation for the Russian and Ukrainian entities as of December 31,
2016 and 2015 are presented below:

2016 2015
Discount rate
LD INCIBASE .vviviivreieeteete et et e ste e ebe et et e ebe et e s be e b e s beeabesteesbesbeeabeabeesbesbeenbesbeebeebsenbesbsesbesbeenbenreenns -7.73% -6.98%
X [STod (T L TR 9.13% 6.20%
Inflation rate
T Lo =T TSR 5.93% 3.40%
X [oTod (T L TR -5.00% -4.65%
Rate of compensation increase
1% increase 2.76% 2.18%
1% decrease -2.51% -4.09%
Turnover rate
3% increase -5.20% -4.65%
3% decrease 7.07% 4.27%

The results of sensitivity analysis of pension benefit obligation for Austrian entities as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 are
presented below:

2016 2015
Discount rate
T Lo =T TSR -10.10% -9.90%
X [oTod (T L TR 12.20% 11.90%
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The results of sensitivity analysis of pension benefit obligation for German entities as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 are
presented below:

2016 2015
Discount rate
LD INCIBASE .vviviiveeieeteete et et e ete e ebe et e st e e be et e s be et e s beeabesteesbeebeeabeabsesbesbeenbeabeebeebeeabesbsesbesbeenbesreenns -12.00% -12.00%
LD ABCIBASE .. .evievreiteeteete ettt e ste e ebe et et e et e et e s be et e s beeabesttesbesbeeabesbe e b e sbeenbeabeebeebeenbesbsesbesbeenbenreenns 18.00% 18.00%

The sensitivity analyses above have been determined based on a method that extrapolates the impact on the defined benefit
obligation and other long-term benefits obligation as a result of reasonable changes in key assumptions occurring at the end of
the reporting period. The sensitivity analyses are based on a change in a significant assumption, keeping all other assumptions
constant. The sensitivity analysis may not be representative of an actual change in the defined benefit obligation and other
long-term benefits obligation as it is unlikely that changes in assumptions would occur in isolation of one another. The same
method has been applied for the sensitivity analysis as when calculation the recognised pension liability.

The following payments are expected contributions to the defined benefit plan and other long-term benefits in the future
years:

December 31,

2016
Within the next 12 months (next annual reporting PEriod) ...........ooe it 944
BEIWEEN 2 GNA 5 YBAS ...ttt ettt ettt ettt te e e e sttt e ee et e ebese e b a2 e a e eE e ebeeeeeeem e e neeme e R e eRe e bt eE e b e s e e Rt eReebe bt eReebe e entereaneas 1,413
BEtWEEN 5 @NA L0 YBAIS ....eeeeieeieeiieteete e eet ettt ettt e et s ettt e b e s beseebe e e m e eE e ebeebeseeneeR e e aeeR e e R e ebeeE e b e e e Rt eReebeeeeeEeebennenrereaneas 1,376
BEYONA 10 YEAS .....ovoeee vttt ettt ese st se st ee et et sss st essas et nees et en e e et et ens et et n e e st e et s e st en et et ene et ettt ns 510
TOtAl EXPECTEA PAYMIBIITS .......eeuieteteite ettt ettt sttt e et et e aesbeeeesbe s eaeeseeaeeeese e be e emeebeeheebeeEeebeseeneese e st ebeebenbeneeabeeeneerees 4,243

24. Taxes and similar charges payable (Other than Income Tax)

December 31, December 31,

2016 2015
VAT PAYADIE ...ttt e b ettt reeaearn 4,274 2,364
1Y (0] | I = DSOS SRR 3,029 3,622
0] 0T A D SRS PR PR 920 696
LT o I 1 OSSOSO 342 478
MINEIAl EXEFACTION TAX. ... . teitiitiieeeic ettt sttt sttt e bbb e e e ene e e e neenas 277 172
L. T o 1 -V GO SO 223 557
NI ..o vveet et bbbt 130 145
TOLAL bbbt b et a et et 9,195 8,034

25. Issued capital and reserves

Common shares

The capital stock of Mechel PAO consists of 416,270,745 common shares, each with a nominal value of 10 Russian rubles,
all of which are fully paid, issued and outstanding under the Russian law. The Group is authorized to issue an additional
81,698,341 common shares with a nominal value of 10 Russian rubles each.

Preferred shares

On April 30, 2008 Mechel’s Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting adopted changes to its Charter, authorizing up to
138,756,915 preferred shares with a nominal value of 10 Russian rubles each (representing 25% of the Mechel PAO’s share
capital). Under the Russian law and the Mechel PAQO’s Charter, these stocks are non-cumulative and have no voting rights, except
cases, stipulated by the law, including, dividends are not paid in the year. The dividend yield paid per one preferred share is also
fixed by the Charter and amounts to 20% of the consolidated annual net profit of the Group under IFRS divided to
138,756,915 issued preferred stock.
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Distributions made and proposed

In accordance with applicable legislation, Mechel and its subsidiaries can distribute all profits as dividends or transfer them
to reserves. Dividends may only be declared from accumulated undistributed and unreserved earnings as shown in the statutory
financial statements of both Russian and foreign Group’s subsidiaries. Dividends from Russian companies are generally subject
to a 13% withholding tax for residents (9% for the periods prior to 2015) and 15% for non-residents, which could be reduced or
eliminated if paid to foreign owners under certain applicable double tax treaties.

Effective January 1, 2008, intercompany dividends may be subject to a withholding tax of 0% (if at the date of dividends
declaration, the dividend-recipient Russian company held a controlling (over 50%) interest in the share capital of the company
(Russian or foreign) of the dividend payer for a period over one year and the residence of the dividend distribution foreign
company is not included into the Ministry of Finance offshore list. Herewith 0% tax rate is not applicable to the income received
by foreign entities that are recognized as Russian residents in accordance with the Russian Tax Code.

On June 30, 2016, one of the Group’s subsidiaries declared a dividend of RUB 2,525 thousand and Mechel declared a
dividend of RUB 4,163 thousand to the holders of preferred shares for 2015. The dividends declared for 2015 were partially paid
to the shareholders during the year ended December 31, 2016 in the amount of RUB 4,799 thousand.

OnJune 30, 2015, one of the Group’s subsidiaries declared a dividend of RUB 380 thousand and Mechel declared a dividend
of RUB 4,163 thousand to the holders of preferred shares for 2014. The dividends declared for 2014 were fully paid to the
shareholders during the year ended December 31, 2015.

On June 30, 2014, one of the Group’s subsidiaries declared a dividend of RUB 1,670 thousand and Mechel declared a
dividend of RUB 4,163 thousand to the holders of preferred shares for 2013. The dividends declared for 2013 were partially paid
to the shareholders in the amount of RUB 870 thousand as of December 31, 2014.

Additional-paid-in-capital

In 2015, additional-paid-in-capital was increased by RUB 2,730 million due to the acquisition of hon-controlling interests
of 22.95%, 0.04% and 0.39% in certain Group’s subsidiaries with the carrying value of RUB 2,842 million.

Earnings (loss) per share (EPS)

Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the profit (loss) for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

2016 2015 2014

Net profit (loss) from continuing OPerations...........cc.cceveveveriereeieieannas 9,258 (115,450) (122,265)
Less: net income (loss) from continuing operations attributable to

NON-CONIOIIING INTEIESTS .......vocveece e, 1,771 458 (1,564)
Net income (loss) attributable to ordinary equity holders from

CONEINUING OPEFALIONS ........oveoveeeeieeees e 7,487 (115,908) (120,701)
Net (loss) income from discontinued Operations...........ccccoveevevieieennas (426) 822 (11,702)
Less: net income from discontinued operations attributable to

NON-CONLFONIING INEIESES .......cvvvvresieieee et (65) 7 301
Net profit (loss) attributable to ordinary equity holders

from discontinued OPErations ..........cc..o..eveereeveerererersseessesseesenn, (361) 745 (12,003)
Profit (loss) attributable to ordinary equity holders.............ccc.co..... 7,126 (115,163) (132,704)

There were no dilutive securities issued as of December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014.

2016 2015 2014
Profit (loss) per share total (Russian rubles per share),
INCIUAING: .o 17.12 (276.65) (318.79)
- from continuing operations (Russian rubles per share) ..................... 17.99 (278.44) (289.96)
- from discontinued operations (Russian rubles per share).................. (0.87) 1.79 (28.83)
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26. Other income/expenses

26.1 Administrative and other operating expenses

General, administrative and other operating expenses are comprised of the following:

2016 2015 2014
Wages, salaries and social SECUFity COSES........ccoovrirerereniinenieerenie e 10,267 8,287 7,637
OFfiCE EXPENSES ...ttt et 1,397 1,333 1,274
PENSION COSES w..veuvveiiieiiiete ettt 1,387 1,095 885
DEPIECIALION ...ttt 716 690 1,033
Audit and coNSUILING SEIVICES.......ceieriiieiiieeiese e 569 570 625
Fines and penalties related to business contracts............ccccoeevvierernenen. 487 236 275
SOCIAl BXPENSES. ...ttt e 452 387 444
CONSUMADIES ... e 411 437 432
Banking charges and SEIVICES .........ccoueirerirereieie e 268 168 222
[ 1=1] 259 259 242
Business trips 136 165 154
Write off of accounts receivable...........cocoovvininieniie e 113 247 185
Provision for legal Claims, Net..........cccoveiiiiiiiiiienceee e 59 996 656
Loss from disposal of property, plant and equipment............c..ccccevuenee. 57 806 524
] 131 ST 2,213 1,624 1,727
I ] = LSRR 18,791 17,300 16,315
26.2 Employee benefits expense

Employee benefits expenses are comprised of the following:

2016 2015 2014
Included in cost of sales
Wages and SAIAMIES ........coverieerieierie e 19,806 19,867 20,083
SOCIAl SECUFILY COSES ...vvitieenieieeii ettt 5,909 6,181 6,331
Post-employment BenefitS .........ccoovviiviiivciciecc e 126 157 146
Included in selling and distribution expenses
Wages and SAIAMIES ........ccvevveviieiiiieie e 4,029 3,966 3,928
SOCIAl SECUFILY COSES ...vveeieenieieeic ettt 1,015 1,024 863
Post-employment Denefits ..........coooiiriiiiiiiec e - - 1
Included in administrative and other operating expenses
Wages and SAIAMIES ........covevveiiieiiiiee e 9,510 7,631 6,976
SOCHAl SECUITLY COSES ....evuvvreevereceieeeeeseeee e tes ettt st es st see s 2,144 1,751 1,546
TOLAL s 42,539 40,577 39,874
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26.3 Other operating income

Other operating income is comprised of the following:

2016 2015 2014
Curtailment and remeasurement of pension obligations....................... 392 142 58
Revision in estimated cash flows of rehabilitation provision ............... 375 47 236
Gain on fines and penalties related to business contracts...................... 248 - -
Gain from sales of scrap materials...........ccocooeiieieieneneice e 190 184 20
INSUraNCe COMPENSALION .......cccovriivirereieiiirree s 153 - -
Other OPerating INCOME ........c..crveveeereeeieres e teesee et esesses e 495 - 557
Total 1,853 373 871

Revision in estimated cash flows of rehabilitation provision relates to changes in the discount rate, in the planned volumes

of works, change in costs of rehabilitation expenses and other reasons.

In 2016, the Group recognized curtailment gain on cancellation of the certain pension programs for workers of Yakutugol,
Mechel-Remservice OOO. In 2015, the Group recognised curtailment gain on DEMP pension obligations due to mass layoffs of
employees and decrease in salaries conditioned by the situation in Ukraine. In 2014, the Group recorded effect of defined benefits

plans amendments at BMP and SKCC.
26.4 Finance income

Finance income is comprised of the following:

2016 2015 2014
Waiving of fines and penalties on loans and finance leases ................. 992 - -
Interest income from INVESIMENTS..........cceiriinneiree e 177 134 98
Income from the discounting of financial instruments ........................ 7 49 9
TOLAL 1ottt 1176 183 107

Waiving of fines and penalties on loans and finance leases were recognised due to the debt restructuring primarily with

Sherbank.
26.5 Finance costs

Finance costs are comprised of the following:

2016 2015 2014

Interest on 10ans and BOFTOWINGS........c.ecveviiieiiiesce e (44,164) (38,664) (23,758)
Fines and penalties on overdue loans and borrowing payments

and overdue interest PAYMENTS .........coieieirereiere e (5,538) (18,525) (1,516)
Finance charges payable under finance 1€ases..........c.ccoceeeieiiienennenns (1,500) (1,673) (1,816)
Fines and penalties on overdue finance 1€ases................cocvvevrrerereennn. (475) (642) (313)
Total finance costs related to loans, borrowings and

FINANCE [EASES ....viveveiciec e (51,677) (59,504) (27,403)
Interest expenses under pension liabilities............ccocoveviiriiiiiiniieienn, (368) (400) (297)
Expenses related to discounting of financial instruments..................... (1,956) (175) (154)
Unwinding of diSCOUNt ON ProViSiONS...........c.ovveeeeeeerreereecreeessesseneenn. (239) (373) (256)
TOMAL oo (54,240) (60.452) (28,110)

The interest on loans and borrowings includes fines and penalties on overdue loans and borrowing payments and overdue
interest payments of RUB 5,538 million, RUB 18,525 million and RUB 1,516 million for 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively.
The finance charges payable under finance leases includes fines and penalties on overdue finance lease payments of
RUB 475 million, RUB 642 million and RUB 313 million for 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively. Expenses related to discounting
of financial instruments include changes in the measurement of the non-current obligation related to put-option granted on
non-controlling interests in the amount of RUB 1,898 million (2015: nil) (Note 6 and Note 10.4).
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26.6 Other income and other expenses

Other income is comprised of the following:

2016 2015 2014

Gain on final settlements from subsidiaries’ disposal occurred in

PIEVIOUS YEAIS ...vvvveveteiesiereetestestestestestesaesae e ssestessesseseesesaasassessessens 194 - -
Royalties associated with Bluestone disposal.............ccccceevviiiriiiennnne. 121 - -
Gain on accounts payable with expired legal term ..........ccocooevereneee. 115 222 37
Dividends reCEIVEM .........ceieieiieeii e 3 8 -
Gain on sale of investments in equity SECUTItI€S.........ccooereriirererenenne - - 483
Gain on sales and purchases of foreign currencies ...........cc.ccoeevereene. - - 143
OLNET INCOME ..ot 165 112 1
TOLAL s 598 342 664

Other expenses are comprised of the following:
2016 2015 2014

VEB commissions Write Off ..o (1,411) - -
Provision on non-recoverable advances to pension funds .................... (408) - -
Loss on sales and purchases of foreign currencies ...........ccceeeverveneane. (130) (273) -
Loss on sale of investments in equity SECUTItIES ......ccccvevverviviiesernene. (8) - -
Loss from disposal of subsidiaries...........cccoevvivviieiienisienescicesecee - (19) (89)
Loss on securities repurchase agreement...........cocevevereeeieneeiesenenens - - (1,297)
OhET EXPENSES ... eeee s (46) (55) (100)
TOAl oo (2,003) (847) (1.486)

In 2014, the Group recognised a loss of RUB 1,297 million related to the failure of counterparty to a securities repurchase
agreement to return certain securities to the Group.

Gain (loss) on sale of investments occurred as a result of disposal of investments in equity securities to third parties in
2014-2016. Gain on accounts payable with expired legal term constitutes gain on the write-off of payable amounts that were
written-off due to legal liquidation of the creditors or expiration of the statute of limitation.

27. Segment information

The Group’s operations are presented in three business segments as follows:

e  Steel segment, comprising production and sales of semi-finished steel products, carbon and specialty long products, carbon
and stainless flat products, value-added downstream metal products, including forgings, stampings, hardware, rails, balks
and ferrosilicon;

e  Mining segment, comprising production and sales of coal (coking and steam) and middlings, coke and chemical products,
and iron ore, which supplies raw materials to the Steel and Power segments and also sells substantial amounts of raw
materials to third parties;

e  Power segment, comprising generation and sales of electricity and heat power, which supplies electricity and heat power to
the Steel and Mining segments and also sells a portion of electricity and heat power to third parties.

These segments are combinations of subsidiaries and have separate management teams and offer different products and
services.
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The above three segments meet criteria for reportable segments. No operating segments have been aggregated to form the
above reportable operating segments. Subsidiaries are consolidated by the segment to which they belong based on their products
and by which they are managed. The Group’s management evaluates performance of the segments based on segment revenues,
gross margin and operating income (loss). Transfer prices between operating segments are on an arm’s-length basis in a manner
similar to transactions with third parties. The accounting policies used by the Group in reporting segments internally are the same
as those used for preparation of consolidated financial statement and in the respective quantitative and qualitative notes of the
financial statements therefore no reconciliation between segment information and consolidated assets, liabilities and operating
results is performed.

Adjustments
and

Year ended December 31, 2016 Mining Steel Power eliminations Consolidated
Revenues from external CUStOMErS........ccccocvveenee 89,647 161,639 24,723 - 276,009
INter-segment reVeNUES...........cccoeverereeieeeeieeeaneas 31,907 7,254 15,903 (55,064) -
GroSS Profit...ccccccreeeeeeee e 76,515 42,148 11,578 (554) 129,687
GrosS MArgin, %0 ......cccceeerereeieeicnesese e 62.9 25.0 28,5 - 47.0
Depreciation and depletion............ccccvveveriiriennns (7,912) (5,435) (367) - (13,714)
Loss on write-off of property, plant and

EQUIPMENT . (863) (1,089) (1) - (1,953)
Impairment of goodwill and non-current assets..... (1,336) (3,866) - - (5,202)
Operating Profit..........ccoceeoeieiiiiiie e, 31,012 11,531 701 (554) 42,690
Loss from associates @an - - - a7)
Finance iNCOME.........ocoveeiiiiiiie e 1,082 93 1 - 1,176
Intersegment finance iNCOME.........cccceveieiiinennnne 1,401 2,141 53 (3,595) -
FINANCE COSt....veviiiiiiciieec e (37,615) (16,015) (610) - (54,240)
Intersegment finance cost (1,731) (1,396) (468) 3,595 -
Loss after tax for the year from discontinued

OPErations, NEL......cocvviviviiieeciee e - (406) (20) - (426)
Profit (loss) for the year..........ccooooiiieieicie 2,309 7,455 (378) (554) 8,832
SEOMENT ASSELS....cveeiiieieie e 210,028 104,550 10,887 - 325,465
Segment liabilities ........c.coceereiirrieree e 375,938 191,058 11,057 - 578,053
Investments in assOCIAES.........ccovverereerieerceeeiae 265 - - - 265
GOOUAWIlL.....ooiiiiiic e 14,367 580 3,408 - 18,355
Capital expenditures (3,958) (1,206) (360) - (5,524)
Income tax (expense) benefit.........ccooeveveiiiiiiiennns (5,019) 265 (139) - (4,893)

Adjustments
and

Year ended December 31, 2015 Mining Steel Power eliminations Consolidated
Revenues from external customers............c.cc.o..... 80,632 146,032 26,477 - 253,141
INter-segment reVENUES........ccccveeverierieieeeieeaneas 28,091 6,972 14,990 (50,053) -
GroSS Profit....ccccciciciiiiesceee e 57,442 33,395 11,288 (318) 101,807
GrosS MArgin, %0 ......cccceeerereeieeicnesese e 52.8 21.8 27.2 - 40.2
Depreciation and depletion............ccoccooeieieiniennnne (9,106) (4,651) (328) - (14,085)
Loss on write-off of property, plant and

EQUIPMENT ..o (199) (492) - - (691)
Impairment of goodwill and non-current assets..... - (16) (1,444) - (1,460)
Operating profit..........ccccvveviiiiiiiiie e, 16,004 8,527 39 (318) 24,252
Finance iNCOME.........ccoovieiriieesese s 142 38 3 - 183
Intersegment finance iNCOME.........ccccevvevververiennns 887 307 53 (1,247) -
FINANCE COSt....veviiiiiiciieec e (33,656) (24,767) (2,029) - (60,452)
Intersegment finance COSt ...........cocvreieieieniiennne (225) (878) (144) 1,247 -
Profit (loss) after tax for the year from

discontinued operations, Net...........cccccceveereennnne 764 87 (29) - 822
L 0SS for the Year ..o (71,563) (40,626) (2,121) (318) (114,628)
SEYMENT ASSELS....evvveririieie et 217,393 113,985 10,694 - 342,072
Segment liabilitieS .........coeevveereiiiiice e, 375,153 216,771 12,002 - 603,926
INVeStments in asSOCIALES. ........covrvvererveirieericeias 284 - - - 284
GOOUAWIlL.....ooiiiiiiie e 14,367 3,603 3,408 - 21,378
Capital expenditures.........coceoeeiineneieneseeeee, (4,971) (520) (486) - (5,977)
Income tax (expense) benefit.........ccccoeieiiiiienne (5,630) (2,795) 103 - (8,322)
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Adjustments
and

Year ended December 31, 2014 Mining Steel Power eliminations Consolidated
Revenues from external customers............c.cccou.... 79,509 138,660 25,823 - 243,992
INter-segment reVENUES........ccccveeierierieieeeiaeaneas 21,049 8,207 13,731 (42,987) -
GroSS Profit. ..o cccceeeeeeeeee e 49,123 31,382 10,339 91 90,935
GrosS MArgin, %0 ......cccceverereeieencresese e 48.9 214 26.1 - 37.3
Depreciation and depletion............cccccooeieineiiennne (8,747) (5,391) (291) - (14,429)
Loss on write-off of property, plant and

EQUIPMENT .vvivieirciiciecie e (309) (242) (110) - (661)
Impairment of goodwill and non-current assets..... 19 (8,015) - - (7,996)
Operating profit (I0SS) .......ccccovevviveienirericierieenn 1,718 (1,318) 416 91 907
Income (l0ss) from associates.........ccocevvrererreennns 14 @) - - 7
Finance iNCOME..........cocoveiriiiiese e 74 32 1 - 107
Intersegment finance iNCOME.........cccceveieieniiennnne 704 358 46 (1,108) -
FINANCE COSL....vevinieiiiceieree e (14,852) (12,296) (962) - (28,110)
Intersegment finance CoSt ...........coceveieicieniiinnne (183) (679) (246) 1,108 -
Profit (loss) after tax for the year from

discontinued operations, Net...........ccccccevvereennne (13,141) 1,468 (29) - (11,702)
LSS for the Year........cccccovvveviicieiiiice e (87,758) (45,765) (535) 91 (133,967)
Capital expendituresS.........coevveeiveieneneresereeenns (13,117) (3,089) (300) - (16,506)
Income tax benefit..........ccoevvciiiiiie e, 8,435 374 13 - 8,822

The following table presents the Group’s revenues segregated between domestic and export sales. Domestic represents sales
by a subsidiary in the country in which it is located. This category is further divided between subsidiaries located in Russia and
other countries. Export represents cross-border sales by a subsidiary regardless of its location.

2016 2015 2014
Domestic
RUSSIA ...ttt ettt ettt e e e ert e et e e ere e e te e saeesnreeereas 164,361 146,701 141,096
(01111 SO 22,252 20,817 19,488
TOLAL ..ot bbb araebe e 186,613 167,518 160,584
EXPOI vttt ettt es ettt en et n et st s et en sttt enen s 89,396 85,623 83,408
TOLAl FEVENUE ...ttt ettt sb e sbe e be e e b e 276,009 253,141 243,992

Allocation of total revenue by country is based on the location of the customer. The Group’s total revenues from external
customers by geographic area were as follows:

2016 2015 2014
U - OSSR 164,412 146,754 141,179
N T PSS 54,114 40,119 41,177
U o] oL OSSR 34,126 39,019 34,233
LS 18,630 20,231 21,837
MiIddIE ESE ....voviieiciicii e 1,536 4,222 3,596
US A ittt nne s 707 581 531
OLhEI TEOIONS .....cveeeeceeeeceeeee et s e en s s s snen 2,484 2,215 1,439
o] 72 OO 276,009 253141 243,992

The majority of the Group’s non-current assets are located in Russia. The carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment
pertaining to the Group’s major operations were as follows:

December 31, December 31,
2016 2015

RUSSHA 11t eve ettt ettt et sttt s b e e tb e e be e b e sbe e b e s be e st e e beers e st s enbesasebesbeenbesbeereesbeeneenreeses 238,175 250,868
(C1=] 400 10| T TSRO T TR P TP PRTPPTURPPRPTN 1,415 2,051
F AU (T SRS 581 780
CZECN REPUDIIC. ...ttt b e 206 285
[0 1T g 1T RO 40 266
ORI ettt ettt ettt et ee et et en ettt ettt e e ettt ettt en et en et 35 111
L0 =1 OSSOSO SR PROTPRR 240,452 254,361
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Because of the significant number of customers, there are no individual external customers that generate sales greater than
10% of the Group’s consolidated total revenue.

The following table presents the breakdown of the Group’s revenues from external customers by major products:

2016 2015 2014
Mining segment
Coal and MiIddliNgS........ccccvvvirieiiiiciie e 75,258 64,186 62,385
Coke and chemical ProduCtS...........cccvvirierieieiisiee e 11,330 11,756 10,849
1YON OF& CONCENTIALE .......cvvieieiiieiitest e 126 1,844 4,011
] 131 ST 2,933 2,846 2,264
L S 89,647 80,632 79,509
Steel segment
Long Stel ProAUCES .......coeieieeieieec e 89,575 73,853 71,064
HAIAWATE ... 24,580 23,443 22,396
Flat Steel ProdUCES. .......cviiiiicieicc e 18,230 17,490 14,646
Forgings and StampingS........ccoeviiiiiienerieie e 11,652 12,166 11,843
Semi-finished steel Products...........cccceeiviieieiicicec e 3,434 5,027 2,834
[T (01 | [Telo] TR 3,368 3,528 2,713
SEEEI PIPES ettt 3,286 3,308 3,391
MBI ..ot 7,514 7,217 9,773
L1 161,639 146,032 138,660
Power segment
EIECIICITY oottt 22,527 24,524 23,628
(0] SO 2,196 1,953 2,195
1o 1 OO 24,723 26,477 25,823
TOLAl FEVENUE ...ttt nenn 276,009 253,141 243,992

28. Commitments and contingencies
Commitments

In the course of carrying out its operations and other activities, the Group and its subsidiaries enter into various agreements,
which would require the Group to invest in or provide financing to specific projects or undertakings. In management’s opinion,
these commitments are entered into under standard terms, which are representative of each specific project’s potential and should
not result in an unreasonable loss.

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the total Group’s contractual commitments to acquire property, plant and equipment
amounted to RUB 21,932 million and RUB 23,231 million, respectively. Included in the commitments related to acquisition of
property, plant and equipment are amounts arising from various purchase agreements in respect of railway and related
infrastructure facilities construction for the Elga project. The total amount of remaining commitments under the construction
contracts as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 is equal to RUB 17,783 million and RUB 19,890 million, respectively.

Operating lease commitments

The Group has entered into operating property and land leases with lease terms between 2016 and 2064. Property and land
lease expenses amounted to RUB 1,829 million and RUB 1,792 million for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015,
respectively. Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases as of December 31, 2016 are, as follows:

December 31,

2016
WVIENIN ONE YA ...ttt ettt b et e be et e st e b e e e st et e e b e e be b e e b e s e st e s e e bt et e et e b e s es s eseesseneebesbessebeseenearearens 1,870
After one year but N0t MOTe than FIVE YEAI'S .......cciiiiiiiiicece ettt b e bbb e esseraareas 7,396
IMOTE thaN FIVE YBAS ... .ttt ettt ettt st et e e et ek e b e eb e s e e e b e e e me e b e eb e e bese e b e s e eneebe e st eaesbenbeneeneareanens 54,595
Total rENTAl PAYADIE ..o e ettt e bttt e b e re e b et et eene et e 63,861

The Group does not sublease the property leased under operating lease agreements.
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Finance lease commitments
The Group has finance leases for various items of plant and machinery. The Group’s obligations under finance leases are

not secured. Future minimum lease payments under finance leases together with the present value of the net minimum lease
payments were as follows:

Minimum payments Present value of payments
December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,
2016 2015 2016 2015
Payable iN 1 YEAr ......cccoviiiiiieie et 12,312 17,004 10,175 13,507
Payable iN 2 YEArS........ccucviiiiieieiee e 280 360 225 304
Payable iN 3 YearS.......coiiii e 106 169 74 157
Payable iN 4 Years........ccoci i 83 19 64 19
Payable in 5 years and thereafter .............co.cvvevvrveesreresnerennns 61 1 58 1
Total minimum lease Payment ...........ccocevevvereereieneeese s 12,842 17,553 10,596 13,988
Less amounts representing finance charges...........c..cooouveeune. (2,246) (3,565) - -
Present value of finance lease liabilities...........c.cccovverinnnnn 10,596 13,988 10,596 13,988
Current portion of finance lease liabilities...........c.cccccooenennnn. 10,175 13,507
Non-current portion of finance lease liabilities ........................ 421 481

The discount rate used for the calculation of the present value of minimum lease payments equals the implicit rate for the lessor
and varies on different groups of equipment from 10.4% p.a. to 11.4% p.a. (U.S. dollar-denominated contracts), from 5.7% p.a. to
16.4% p.a. (euro-denominated contracts) and from 6.2% p.a. to 15.3% p.a. (Russian ruble-denominated contracts). Interest expense
charged to the consolidated statements of profit (loss) and other comprehensive income (loss) in 2016 and 2015 amounted to
RUB 1,500 million and RUB 1,673 million, respectively.

The Group’s finance lease contracts contain a number of covenants and restrictions, which include, but are not limited to,
compliance with payment schedule and certain cross-default provisions. As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Group was not
in compliance with all major Group’s restrictive covenants. There was also a breach of restrictive covenants on overdue principal
amount of RUB 417 million and RUB 3,523 million as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively. As a result, the long-term
finance lease liability of RUB 6,903 million and RUB 7,748 million was reclassified to short-term finance lease liabilities due to
covenant violations as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.

The total amount of commitments under the signed lease contracts as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 is equal to
RUB 103 million and nil, respectively.

Contingencies
Legal claim contingency

The Group’s business activities expose it to a variety of lawsuits and claims which are monitored, assessed and contested on
the ongoing basis. Where management believes that a lawsuit or another claim would result in the outflow of the economic benefits
for the Group, a best estimate of such outflow is included in provisions in the consolidated financial statements (Note 22).

As of December 31, 2016, the management assesses the outflow as possible for the claims of Minmetals Engineering Co. Ltd
to the Group. Minmetals Engineering Co. Ltd sued CMP for work performed of $143,023 thousand (RUB 8,675 million at
exchange rate as of December 31, 2016). CMP issued a claim to Minmetals Engineering Co. Ltd in the amount of $57,568 thousand
(RUB 3,492 million at exchange rate as of December 31, 2016) and 4,189 thousand euro (RUB 267 million at exchange rate as of
December 31, 2016). The amount of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits for this claim cannot be measured
reliably.

Guarantees

As of December 31, 2016, the Group guaranteed the fulfillment of obligations to third parties for the total amount of
RUB 56 million. These guarantees are given by the Group under promissory notes, which were transferred by endorsement.

71



MECHEL PAO
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year ended December 31, 2016

(All amounts are in millions of Russian rubles, unless stated otherwise)

Environmental

In the course of the Group’s operations, the Group may be subject to environmental claims and legal proceedings.
The quantification of environmental exposures requires an assessment of many factors, including changing laws and regulations,
improvements in environmental technologies, the quality of information available related to specific sites, the assessment stage
of each site investigation, preliminary findings and the length of time involved in remediation or settlement. Management does
not believe that any pending environmental claims or proceedings will have a material adverse effect on its financial position and
results of operations.

The Group estimated the total amount of capital investments to address environmental concerns at its various subsidiaries
at RUB 647 million and RUB 644 million as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively. These amounts are not accrued in the
consolidated financial statements until actual capital investments are made.

Possible liabilities, which were identified by management as those that can be subject to potential claims from environmental
authorities are not accrued in the consolidated financial statements. The amount of such liabilities was not significant.

Taxation

The Group is subject to taxation to the largest extent in Russia, and secondarily in other jurisdictions. The Russian tax,
currency and customs legislation is subject to varying interpretations, and changes, which can occur frequently. Management’s
interpretation of such legislation as applied to the transactions and activity of the Group may be challenged by the relevant
regional and federal authorities. Recent events within the Russian Federation suggest that tax authorities are taking more assertive
position in its interpretation of the legislation and assessments and as a result, it is possible that transactions and activities that
have not been challenged in the past may be challenged. As such significant additional taxes, penalties and interest may be
assessed. Fiscal periods remain open to review by the authorities in respect of the taxes for three calendar years preceding the
year of review. Under certain circumstances reviews may cover longer periods.

In Russia, generally tax declarations remain open and subject to inspection for a period of three years. The fact that a year
has been reviewed does not close that year, or any tax declaration applicable to that year, from further review during the
three-year period.

In the event that a taxpayer submits a revised tax declaration in which the stated amount of tax is less than the amount
previously declared, tax audit of a taxpayer may be performed, but only with the respect to the changes in the tax declaration.

In other tax jurisdictions where the Group conducts operations or holds shares, taxes are generally charged on the income
arising in that jurisdiction. In some jurisdictions agreements to avoid double taxation are signed between different jurisdictions;
however, the risk of additional taxation exists, especially in respect of certain domiciles where some of the Group entities are
located and which are considered to be tax havens.

The Russian transfer pricing legislation, which came into force on January 1, 2012, allows the Russian tax authority to apply
transfer pricing adjustments and impose additional profits tax liabilities in respect of all “controlled” transactions if the transaction
price differs from the market level of prices. The list of “controlled” transactions includes transactions performed with related parties
and certain types of cross-border transactions. For domestic transactions the transfer pricing rules apply only if the amount of all
transaction with related party exceeds RUB 1,000 million since 2014.

The tax audit on controlled transactions made in 2013 should have been commenced on or before December 31, 2015. In order
to support the level of prices applied for the “controlled” transactions the Group should provide an evidence that prices of “controlled”
transactions are based on market prices and to prepare the reports for submission to the Russian tax authorities. Otherwise, the
Russian tax authorities have the right to challenge the prices determined by the Group for such transactions, and have the right to
charge additional taxes, penalties and fines (tax liabilities).

In cases where the domestic transaction resulted in an accrual of additional tax liabilities for one party, another party could
correspondingly adjust its profit tax liabilities according to the special notification issued by the authorized body in due course.
The current Russian transfer pricing rules have considerably increased the compliance burden for the taxpayers compared to
the transfer pricing rules which were in effect before 2012 due to, inter alia, shifting the burden of proof from the Russian tax
authorities to the taxpayers. These rules are applicable not only to the transactions taking place in 2012 but also to the prior
transactions with related parties if related income and expenses were recognised in 2012. Special transfer pricing rules apply to
transactions with securities and derivatives.
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Due to the uncertainty and absence of current practice of application of the current Russian transfer pricing legislation the
Russian tax authorities may challenge the level of prices applied by the Group under the “controlled” transactions and accrue
additional tax liabilities unless the Group is able to demonstrate the use of market prices with respect to the “controlled” transactions,
and that there has been proper reporting to the Russian tax authorities, supported by appropriate available transfer pricing
documentation.

The Group believes that it uses the market prices in “controlled” transactions and does not expect any claims of tax authorities
related to the prices used in such transactions. However, due to the uncertainty and limited practice of the Russian legislation in the
area of transfer pricing relevant tax claims may be raised which effect is currently impossible to estimate.

In addition, in November 2014, the legislation of the Russian Federation has been significantly revised in order to prevent the
misuse of low-tax jurisdictions for tax avoidance in the Russian Federation. Changes in the legislation set out the rules for the taxation
of income of a foreign organization recognized as a controlled foreign corporation. The foreign organization is recognized as a
controlled foreign corporation, if it is not a tax resident of the Russian Federation and the share of the controlling Russian entities or
individuals in the organization is more than 25%. The transition period provides for a gradual reduction in the amount of non-taxable
income of the controlled corporation RUB 50 million, RUB 30 million and RUB 10 million for 2015, 2016, 2017 and further
respectively. Russian tax law also provides for certain conditions, under which the income of controlled corporations qualifies as tax
exempt. Starting 2016 the taxable income of the controlling party is increased by the undistributed profits of the controlled foreign
corporation earned in the financial year ended prior to the reporting year provided that the financial year started on or after January 1,
2015.

Management believes that it has paid or accrued all taxes that are applicable. Where uncertainty exists, the Group has accrued
tax liabilities based on management’s best estimate of the probable outflow of resources embodying economic benefits, which
will be required to settle these liabilities. In accordance with IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Asser,
the Group recorded RUB 760 million and RUB 480 million of other tax claims that management believes are probable, as of
December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively. In addition, income tax accrual was made under IAS 12 Income Taxes (Note 20).
The Group does not believe that any other material tax matters exist relating to the Group, including current pending or future
governmental claims and demands, which would require adjustment to the accompanying financial statements in order for those
statements not to be materially misstated or misleading as of December 31, 2016.

Possible tax liabilities on taxes other than income tax, which were identified by management as those that can be subject to
different interpretations of the tax law and regulations are not accrued in the consolidated financial statements. The amount of
such liabilities was RUB 976 million and nil as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.

29. Events after the reporting period

The Group evaluated subsequent events for these consolidated financial statements through the date when the financial
statements were issued, April 26, 2017.

Call option agreement for preferred shares of the Group

As a part of the restructuring requirement, in January 2017, the Group signed a call option agreement with
“VTB CAPITAL PLC” (the Buyer) providing the Buyer with an option to acquire a 5% stake (6,937,846 preferred shares) of the
preferred shares of the Group. In accordance with this agreement, the Group is obliged to exercise the option between April 1,
2017 to December 31, 2020 in one of the following ways: sell to the Buyer 5% of preferred shares of the Group at a price of
47.3682 rubles per share or to pay cash to the Buyer in the amount calculated as a difference between the weighted average market
value of preferred shares for the last six months from the date of the call from the Buyer and the price of 47.3682 rubles per share
or combination of these two option. Until the execution of the call option 6,937,846 preferred shares are pledged. In April 2017,
VTB notified that the bank wants to exercise the option, but the Group has requested to extend the start day of the option period
by 1 (one) year till April 1, 2018. Negotiations on amending the terms of the option are ongoing.

Confirmation of restructuring terms with the Russian state banks

In April 2017, the Group’s major lenders — Gazprombank, VTB and Sbherbank — confirmed the restructuring terms under
the relevant credit facilities including an extension of the repayment grace period until 2020 and the final maturity until 2022 and
annual interest rate at the level of the key rate of the Central Bank of Russia plus 1.5% for ruble-denominated credit facilities and
3M LIBOR + 7% for U.S. dollar-denominated credit facilities.
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